This document comprises a Prospectus relating to Burning Rock Biotech Limited prepared in accordance with the
Prospectus Regulation Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) made under Section 73A of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the “FSMA”). This Prospectus has been approved by the
FCA (as competent authority under the UK Prospectus Regulation), and will be made available to the public and
has been filed in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation Rules. The FCA only approves this Prospectus as
meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the UK Prospectus
Regulation, and such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of Burning Rock Biotech Limited (the
“Company”) or the quality of the securities. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of
investing in the Securities.

Application has been made to the FCA for a listing of up to 106,139,986 American depositary shares (“ADSs”)
(such number being equivalent to the total issued share capital of the Company, where one ADS represents one
of the Company’s Class A ordinary shares with par value of US$0.0002) to be issued from time to time pursuant
to a deposit agreement, dated as of 16 June 2020 (the “Deposit Agreement”), with Citibank, N.A., the Company,
and the Holders and Beneficial Owners of ADSs issued thereunder, to be admitted to the standard listing segment
of the Official List of the FCA and to London Stock Exchange for all of the ADSs to be admitted to trading on
the London Stock Exchange’s (“LSE’s”) Main Market by way of a Direct Listing. It is expected that Admission
will become effective, and that dealings in the ADSs will commence, on 1 November 2022. No application is
currently intended to be made for the ADSs to be admitted to listing or dealt with on any other exchange. This
Prospectus is not an offer or invitation to the public to subscribe for or purchase ADSs but is issued solely in
connection with the Admission.

All references to the Deposit Agreement and the ADSs in this Prospectus, including references in the information
incorporated herein, should be read to mean the Deposit Agreement as amended and supplemented by the Letter
Agreement, expected to be dated on or about 1 November 2022, and the ADSs governed by those updated terms.

The Company has an existing listing of its ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market, which commenced trading on 12
June 2020, under the symbol “BNR”. The Company’s ADSs will continue to be listed and traded on the Nasdaq
Global Market. The LSE-listed ADSs will be fully fungible with the ADSs listed on the Nasdaq Global Market
and the Nasdaq Global Market-listed ADSs will be fully fungible with the ADSs listed on the LSE.

The Directors, whose names appear in “Our Team—Our Directors and Senior Management” on page 60 of this
Prospectus, and the Company accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best
of their knowledge, the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and makes no
omission likely to affect its import.

This Prospectus should be read in its entirety, including “Risk Factors”, which contains a discussion of certain

risks relating to the Company, together with its subsidiaries, the VIE (as defined below) and the VIE’s subsidiaries
(the “Group”). The definitions in “Definitions and Glossary” apply throughout this Prospectus.
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MATERIAL INCORPORATED

The pages indicated in the cross-reference table below from (1) the Form 6-K of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on 31 August 2022, which contains unaudited condensed
consolidated financial information as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2022 (annexed hereto as Appendix
I) (the “Q2 2022 Financial Information”), (2) the Form 6-K of the Company filed with the SEC on 31 May 2022,
which contains unaudited condensed consolidated financial information as of and for the three months ended 31
March 2022 (annexed hereto as Appendix IT) (the “Q1 2022 Financial Information”), (3) the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2021, filed with the SEC on 29 April 2022 (annexed hereto
as Appendix I11) (the “2021 Form 20-F”), (4) the audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (the “2020 Financial Statements”) contained on pages F-1 to F-62 of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2020, filed with the SEC on 23 March 2021
(annexed hereto as Appendix 1V) (the “2020 Form 20-F”) and (5) Exhibit 2.4 to the 2021 Form 20-F which
describes the rights attaching to the ADSs (annexed hereto as Appendix V) (the “Description of Rights”), are
incorporated herein, and this Prospectus is supplemented in its entirety by the more detailed information contained
therein. The Q2 2022 Financial Information, Q1 2022 Financial Information, 2021 Form 20-F, Description of
Rights and the 2020 Financial Statements have been filed with the Financial Conduct Authority and will form part
of this Prospectus.

Cross-reference table to the Q2 2022 Financial Information, Q1 2022 Financial Information, 2021 Form 20-
F, 2020 Form 20-F and Description of Rights
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SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as “Elements”. These Elements are numbered in
Sections A-0 (A.1 — 0.2). This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this
type of security and issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the
numbering sequence of the Elements. Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary
because of the type of securities and issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the
Element. In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of “not
applicable”.

SECTION A—INTRODUCTION AND WARNINGS

A.1.1 - Name and international securities identifier number (ISIN) of the securities

Burning Rock Biotech Limited (the “Company”) is listing its American depositary shares (the “ADSs”), each
representing one Class A ordinary share of the Company of par value US$0.0002. The Company’s ADSs have
been listed on the Nasdag Global Market since 12 June 2020 and trade under the symbol “BNR.” When admitted
to trading on the London Stock Exchange, the ADSs will retain the ISIN number US12233L.1070 and will trade
under the symbol “BNR”.

A.1.2 - Identity and contact details of the issuer, including its Legal Entity Identifier
The Company’s registered office is located at the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited at PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal executive offices are

located at No. 5, Xingdao Ring Road North, International Bio Island, Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China.
Our LEI number is 5493006HO04GB8AQ2V43.

A.1.3 - Identity and contact details of the competent authority approving the prospectus

This Prospectus has been approved by the FCA, as competent authority under the UK Prospectus Regulation, with
its head office at 12 Endeavour Square, London E20 1JN, and telephone number: +44 (0) 20 7066 1000.

A.1.4 - Date of approval of the prospectus

This Prospectus was approved on 27 October 2022.

A.1.5 — Warnings

This summary has been prepared in accordance with Article 7 of the UK Prospectus Regulation and should be
read as an introduction to the prospectus (the “Prospectus”). Civil liability attaches only to those persons who are
responsible for the summary including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate
or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the prospectus or it does not provide, when read together
with the other parts of the prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest
in such securities.

SECTION B—KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER

B.1 - Who is the issuer of the securities?

B.1.1 - Domicile, legal form, LEI, jurisdiction of incorporation, the law under which it operates and country
of operation

The Company was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 6 March 2014 as an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands with
the name Burning Rock Biotech Limited and with the registered number 285770. The Company’s LEI number
is 5493006HO04GB8AQ2V43.

B.1.2 - Principal activities



The Company does not conduct any substantive operations on its own but instead conducts its business operations
through its subsidiaries, the variable interest entity (“VVIE”) and subsidiaries of the VIE. The Company, together
with its subsidiaries, the VIE and the VIE’s subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in
developing and providing cancer therapy selection tests in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or
“China”).

The Company’s business focuses on the application of next generation sequencing (“NGS”) technology in the
fields of precision oncology and early cancer detection. The business consists of i) NGS-based therapy selection
testing for late-stage cancer patients, and ii) early cancer detection, which has moved beyond proof-of-concept
research and development into the clinical validation stage. The Company’s cancer therapy selection platform is
built upon advanced proprietary technologies, a comprehensive portfolio of products and a two-pronged market-
driven commercial infrastructure addressing both larger hospitals through an in-hospital model and smaller
hospitals through a central laboratory model. In addition to NGS-based cancer therapy selection tests, the
Company is also investing in the development of early cancer detection tests.

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the Company’s revenue was RMB381.7 million,
RMB429.9 million and RMB507 million, respectively, representing an increase of 12.6% and 18.1%, respectively.
The Company’s gross profit margin was 71.6%, 73.0% and 71.7% in 2019, 2020 and 2021, respectively.

B.1.3 — Major Shareholders

The Company’s major shareholders, as at 31 March 2022 together with any known changes thereafter, are set out
in the table below:

Class A Class B % of
Ordinary Ordinary Beneficial % of Aggregate

Shares Shares Ownership Voting Power
Yusheng Han — 17,324,848 16.5% 54.2%
Quantum Boundary Holdings Limited — 17,324,848 16.5% 54.2%
Feng Deng 11,880,245 — 11.3% 6.2%
Northern Light Venture Capital 111, Ltd 11,880,245 — 11.3% 6.2%
Entities affiliated with LYFE Capital 8,338,381 — 7.9% 4.3%
Investment funds affiliated with CMB 7,017,385 — 6.7% 3.7%
Sequoia Capital China 6,846,567 — 6.5% 3.6%

B.1.4 — Key Managing Directors

The Company’s founder and Chief Executive Officer is Yusheng Han, its Chief Operating Officer is Shaokun
(Shannon) Chuai and its Chief Financial Officer is Leo Li.

B.1.5 — Identity of the auditors

The Company’s auditors for the period covered by the historical financial information set out in this Prospectus
are Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP, whose registered address is No 1 East Chang An Avenue, Dong Cheng
District, Beijing, 100738. Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP is registered to carry out audit work by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board.

B.2 — What is the key financial information regarding the issuer?

The tables below set out the Company’s summary financial information for the periods indicated, as reported in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”). There are no qualifications
to the auditor’s report on the historical financial information. The historical financial information for the Company
as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and for each of the years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and
2019 has been extracted without material adjustment from the Company’s financial information. The financial
information for the six months ended 30 June 2022 is unaudited.



Selected Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss (thousands)

Selected portions of the Issuer’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss, in USD and RMB, are as

follows:
Six months ended 30 June Years ended 31 December

usb RMB usb RMB

2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2020 2019
Total Revenues 39,768 266,370 233,902 79,694 507,862 429,903 381,677
Loss from Operations (78,877) (528,320) (373,891) (125,078) (797,064) (412,405)  (169,092)
Net Loss (78,163) (523,525) (375,076) (125,021) (796,697) (407,235)  (169,156)
Year on Year Revenue Growth (%) 13.9 13.9 34.2 18.1 18.1 12.6 82.7
Loss per Share:
Class A ordinary shares—basic and diluted (0.75) (5.00) (3.60) (1.20) (7.65) (6.88) -

Selected Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (thousands)

Selected portions of the Issuer’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, in USD and RMB, are as

follows:

As of 30 June

As of 31 December

usb RMB usb RMB

2022 2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
Total Assets 277,882 1,861,274 357,562 2,278,587 2,663,028 847,557
Total Liabilities 64,054 429,041 67,993 433,276 242,024 212,018
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ (Deficit) Equity 277,882 1,861,274 357,562 2,278,587 2,663,028 847,557

Selected Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (thousands)

Selected portions of the Issuer’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, in USD and RMB, are as follows:

Six months ended 30 June

Years ended 31 December

Usb RMB usb RMB

2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2020 2019
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and (42,708) (286,062) (41,941) (76,279) (486,094) 1,826,962 2,910
restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of 214,854 1,439,112 1,925,206 302,107 1,925,206 98,244 95,334
period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of 172,146 1,153,050 1,883,265 225,828 1,439,112 1,925,206 98,244
period

B.3 - What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer?

e We are a cancer diagnostics company with a limited operating history, which may make it difficult to evaluate
our current business and predict our future performance.

e We have incurred net losses historically, and may not be able to achieve and maintain profitability.

e We are subject to extensive legal and regulatory requirements in China for our cancer therapy selection
products and services. Any lack of requisite certificates, licenses or permits applicable to our business may
have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

e If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure for operating our businesses in
China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in those operations.



e Recent regulatory developments in China may subject us to additional regulatory review and disclosure
requirements, expose us to government interference, or otherwise restrict or completely hinder our ability to
offer securities and raise capitals outside China, all of which could materially and adversely affect our
business, and cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

e Uncertainties in the interpretation and enforcement of PRC laws and regulations could limit the legal
protections available to you and us.

e Ifthe U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB, is unable to inspect our auditors as
required under the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, the SEC will prohibit the trading of our
ADSs. A trading prohibition for our ADSs, or the threat of a trading prohibition, may materially and adversely
affect the value of your investment. Additionally, the inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our
auditors deprives our investors of the benefits of such inspections.

SECTION C—KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES
C.1 - What are the main features of the securities?
C.1.1- Type, class and ISIN

The Company is listing its ADSs, each representing one Class A ordinary share of the Company of par value
US$0.0002. The Company’s ADSs have been listed on the Nasdaq Global Market since 12 June 2020 and trade
under the symbol “BNR.” When admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange, the ADSs will retain the
ISIN number US12233L1070 and will trade under the symbol “BNR”.

C.1.2 - Currency, denomination, par value, number of securities issued and duration

The currency of the ADSs is United States Dollars. On Admission, there will be 55,388,775 ADSs in issue, each
represented by one Class A ordinary share of US$0.0002 each deposited with the Depositary (in total
55,388,775 Class A ordinary shares, excluding the 414,535 Class A ordinary shares issued to the Depositary for
bulk issuance of ADSs reserved for future issuances upon the exercise or vesting of awards granted under share
incentive plans). Out of this 3,023,138 ADSs are held in treasury by the Company.

C.1.3 - Rights attaching to the securities

The rights attaching to the ADSs will be uniform in all respects and they will form a single class for all purposes,
including with respect to voting and for all dividends and other distributions declared, made or paid on the ordinary
share capital of the Company.

C.1.4 - Rank of securities in the issuer’s capital structure in the event of insolvency

The ADSs do not carry any rights as respects to capital to participate in a distribution in the event of insolvency
other than those that exist as a matter of law.

C.1.5 - Restrictions on transfer

The ADSs are transferable on the books of Citibank N.A. as depositary (the “Depositary”). However, the
Depositary may close its transfer books at any time or from time to time when it deems expedient in connection
with the performance of its duties. In addition, the Depositary may refuse to deliver, transfer or register transfers
of ADSs generally when the Company’s books or the books of the Depositary are closed, or at any time if the
Company or the Depositary deem it advisable to do so because of any requirement of law or of any government
or governmental body, or under any provision of the Deposit Agreement, or for any other reason. All references
to the Deposit Agreement and the ADSs in this Prospectus, including references in the information incorporated
herein, should be read to mean the Deposit Agreement as amended and supplemented by the Letter Agreement,
expected to be dated on or about 1 November 2022, as further described in “Material Contracts”, and the ADSs
governed by those updated terms.

C.1.6 - Dividend or payout policy

The Company currently intends to retain most, if not all, of its available funds and any future earnings to fund the
development and growth of the business. As a result, it does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable



future. Therefore, you should not rely on an investment in the ADSs as a source for any future dividend income.

C.2 - Where will the securities be traded?

Application has been made to the FCA for up to 106,139,986 ADSs to be admitted to the standard listing segment
of the Official List of the FCA and to the London Stock Exchange for up to 106,139,986 ADSs to be admitted to
trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market by way of a Direct Listing. The Company has an existing
listing of its ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market, which commenced trading on 12 June 2020, under the symbol
“BNR”. The Company’s ADSs will continue to be listed and traded on the Nasdag Global Market. The LSE-listed
ADSs will be fully fungible with the ADSs listed on the Nasdag Global Market and the Nasdaq Global Market-
listed ADSs will be fully fungible with the ADSs listed on the LSE.

C.3 - What are the key risks that are specific to the securities?

e The trading price of ADSs has been and may continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses
to investors.

o If we fail to meet the applicable listing requirements, Nasdaqg or the London Stock Exchange may delist our
ADSs from trading on its exchange in which case the liquidity and market price of our ADSs could decline
and our ability to raise additional capital would be adversely affected.

e If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they adversely
change their recommendations regarding the ADSs, the market price for the ADSs and trading volume could
decline.

e The sale or availability for sale of substantial amounts of ADSs could adversely affect their market price.

e Because we do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, you must rely on price appreciation of
the ADSs for return on your investment.

e Our directors, officers and principal shareholders have substantial influence over our company and their
interests may not be aligned with the interests of our other shareholders.

e  Our dual-class share structure with different voting rights will limit your ability to influence corporate matters
and could discourage others from pursuing any change of control transactions that holders of our Class A
ordinary shares and the ADSs may view as beneficial.

e The ADSs will trade on more than one market, and this may result in increased volatility and price variations
between such markets.

SECTION D—KEY INFORMATION ON THE LISTING OF SECURITIES AND THE ADMISSION
TO TRADING ON A REGUALTED MARKET

D.1 - Under which conditions and timetable can | invest in this security?

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer or invitation to any person to subscribe for or purchase any ADSs in
the Company. It is expected that Admission of the ADSs will become effective at 8:00 a.m. (London time) on 1
November 2022, and that dealings in the ADSs will commence on the London Stock Exchange at the same time.

D.2 - Why is this prospectus being produced?

This document has been prepared solely in connection with the application to the FCA for up to 106,139,986
ADSs to be admitted to the standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and to the London Stock
Exchange for such ADSs to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for listed
securities by way of a Direct Listing. There are no conflicting interests which are material in connection with the
Admission.
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RISK FACTORS

We have described the risks and uncertainties that we believe are material below, but these risks and uncertainties
may not be the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties relating to us that are not currently known to
us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

We are a cancer diagnostics company with a limited operating history, which may make it difficult to evaluate
our current business and predict our future performance.

We commercially launched our first cancer therapy selection test in 2014 and started generating revenue in 2014.
Our limited operating history may make it difficult to evaluate our current business and predict our future
performance. Any assessment of our profitability or prediction about our future success or viability is subject to
significant uncertainty.

China’s NGS-based cancer therapy selection market is still in its early stage of development and rapidly evolving,
and companies operating in this industry face a variety of risks. We may not have sufficient experience or
resources to address risks frequently encountered in this industry, which include, among other things, our potential
failure to:

e acquire and retain customers and increase adoption of our cancer therapy selection products and services
by hospitals, physicians, patients, pharmaceutical companies and others in the medical community;

o timely respond to changing market conditions and keep up with evolving industry and technological
standards and regulatory developments;

e obtain and maintain the regulatory approvals required for us to further market and sell our cancer therapy
selection products and services and commercialise our early cancer detection products and services;

e manage our relationships with our suppliers, customers and research partners;

e  protect proprietary technologies and intellectual property rights; and

e  attract, train, motivate and retain research and development and other qualified personnel.

If we are unsuccessful in addressing any one or more of these risks, our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

We have incurred net losses historically, and may not be able to achieve and maintain profitability.

Although our revenue grew rapidly in recent years, we have historically incurred net losses. In 2019, 2020 and
2021, we incurred net loss of RMB169.2 million, RMB407.2 million and RMB796.7 million (US$125.0 million)
respectively. To date, we have financed our operations principally from revenue generated from operations,
proceeds from our initial public offering and concurrent private placement and equity contributions from our
shareholders.

We have invested and expect to continue to invest significantly in the research, development, and sales and
marketing of our products. As such, we may continue to incur losses in the future. We cannot predict the extent
of these future losses, or when we may achieve profitability, if at all. If we are unable to generate sufficient revenue
from our business and control our costs and expenses to achieve and maintain profitability, the value of your
investment in us could be negatively affected.

Failure to maintain significant commercial market acceptance for our cancer therapy selection products and
services, or any future products and services may harm our business and results of operations.

Our cancer therapy selection products and services contributed substantially all of our revenue for 2019, 2020 and
2021. Although we are in the process of developing early cancer detection products, our cancer therapy selection
tests will continue to account for a significant portion of our revenue in the foreseeable future. Our ability to
execute our growth strategy and become profitable will therefore depend upon the continued and further adoption
of our cancer therapy selection products and services by hospitals and patients. Continued adoption and use of
these products and services will depend on several factors, including, among others:

e our ability to demonstrate among the medical community the clinical utility, superiority and the benefits

of our cancer therapy selection products and services;
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e our ability to further validate our cancer therapy selection technologies through clinical research and
accompanying publications;

e the timing and scope of approval by the NMPA for our additional cancer therapy selection products;

e the prices we charge for our cancer therapy selection products and services;

e our ability to maintain our laboratory certification, accreditation and regulatory approvals, including the
NCCL PCR clinical test laboratory certificate, the NCCL NGS laboratory certificate, the CAP
accreditation, the CLIA certification, and complete required inspections; and

o the impact of negative publicity regarding our or our competitors’ tests and technologies resulting from
defects or errors.

We cannot assure you that our cancer therapy selection products and services will continue to maintain or gain
market acceptance, and any failure to do so would harm our business and results of operations.

We may be unable to develop and commercialise our early cancer detection products or new cancer therapy
selection products on a timely basis, or at all.

We are developing early cancer detection products and may develop and commercialise new cancer therapy
selection products from time to time in the future. Developing early cancer detection and new cancer diagnostics
products is a lengthy and complex process. New products may take time to commercialise, and their launch could
be delayed or may not be successful.

Our product development process involves various risks, and we may not be able to develop and commercialise
any early cancer detection products or new cancer therapy selection products on a timely basis, or at all. A product
candidate that appears promising in the early phases of development may fail to reach the market for a number of
reasons. For example:

e our product candidates may fail to demonstrate clinical utility, or the development process may produce
negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us to conduct additional
clinical trials or we may decide to abandon our development programs;

e our employees, or third-party clinical investigators, medical institutions and contract research
organisations, may fail to comply with their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines,
and if the quality, completeness or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain are compromised due to any
failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or for other reasons, our clinical trials may have to be extended,
delayed or terminated,;

¢ we may fail to obtain approvals for our product candidates from relevant regulatory authorities; and

o failure to generate additional data and insights from our existing products to advance the research and
development of new products as quickly, or at all.

In addition, our competitors may develop and commercialise competing products faster than we are able to, in
which case our results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we fail to keep up with industry and technology developments in a timely and cost-effective manner, we
may be unable to compete effectively and our business and prospects could suffer.

China’s NGS-based cancer therapy selection market is characterised by rapid changes, including technological
and scientific breakthroughs, increasing amounts of data, frequent introductions of new tests, constant
emergence of alternative diagnostic methods, and evolving industry standards. If we are not able to keep pace
with these advances and increased customer expectations as a result of these advances and capture new market
opportunities that develop as a result of these advances, our proprietary technologies could be rendered obsolete,
our existing products and services and products and services we are developing could be rendered less clinically
effective, and our future operations and prospects could suffer. To remain competitive, we must continuously
upgrade our existing products and services and launch new products and services, to keep pace with these
developments. We cannot assure you that these efforts will be successful.

In addition, we must expend significant resources in order to continuously upgrade our existing products and
services or launch new ones to keep pace with industry and technological advances. We may never realise a
return on investment on these efforts, especially if the improved or new products and services fail to perform as
expected, in which case our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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If our products or services do not perform as expected, our operating results, reputation and business could
suffer.

Our success depends on the market confidence that we can provide reliable, high-quality cancer therapy selection
products and services, that will provide physicians with real-time clinically actionable diagnostic information.
However, there is no assurance that our current and future products and services, including our early cancer
detection tests currently under development, will consistently perform as expected, if at all. Our tests may fail to
accurately detect gene variants or incompletely or incorrectly identify the significance of genomic alterations, or
contain other errors or mistakes due to a variety of reasons (such as malfunction of our laboratory equipment and
degraded liquid biopsy or tissue samples provided by our delivery service providers), which could either delay
treatments or incur unnecessary medical expenses to people on whom the tests are performed. In addition,
inaccurate results or misunderstandings of, or inappropriate reliance on, the diagnostic information our current
and future tests provide could lead to, or be associated with, side effects or adverse events in patients who use our
tests, including treatment-related death, and could lead to termination of our services or claims against us. Any
such inaccurate diagnostic results, or perception thereof, could further subject us to claims or lawsuits brought by
people taking our tests and their families. Any product defects or other failure of our existing products and
products currently under development may result in adverse or negative publicity, lost revenue, rising insurance
premium, and significant warranty and other expenses and could have a material adverse impact on our operation,
business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

If we were to be sued for product liability or professional liability, we could face substantial liabilities that
exceed our resources.

We could face product liability claims should someone allege that our products or services identified inaccurate
or incomplete information regarding the genomic alteration of the tumour or malignancy analysed, reported
inaccurate or incomplete information concerning the available therapies for a certain type of cancer or otherwise
failed to perform as designed. A claimant could allege that our test results caused unnecessary treatment or other
costs or resulted in the patient missing the best opportunity or timing for treatment. A patient could also allege
other mental or physical injury or that our tests provided inaccurate or misleading information concerning the
diagnosis, prognosis or recurrence of, or available therapies for, his or her cancer. We may also be subject to
liability for errors in, a misunderstanding of or inappropriate reliance upon, the diagnostic information our tests
provided. The tense physician-patient relationship in China could also expose us to an increased risk of potential
liability claims. A product liability or professional liability claim could result in substantial damages and be costly
and time-consuming for us to defend and could divert our management’s attention.

Similar to other Chinese companies, we do not carry product liability or professional liability insurance. As the
insurance industry in China is at a relatively preliminary stage of development compared to more developed
markets such as the United States, insurance companies in China generally offer a limited selection of product
liability and professional liability insurance policies and it is often difficult to secure suitable product liability and
professional liability insurance coverage at reasonable rates in China. Any product liability or professional liability
claim brought against us, with or without merit, could increase our insurance rates or prevent us from securing
insurance coverage. Additionally, any product liability or professional liability lawsuit could damage our
reputation, or cause our business partners to terminate existing agreements with us and seek other business
partners, or cause us to lose our current or potential customers. Any of these developments could adversely impact
our results of operations and business prospects.

If we cannot maintain or develop relationships with hospitals and physicians, our results of operations and
prospects could be adversely affected.

We collaborate with hospitals and physicians across China in many aspects of our business, and our success in
part depends on our ability to maintain our relationships with our existing partner hospitals and physicians and
continue to build new relationships with additional hospitals and physicians.

Central laboratory collaboration. Currently, we primarily collaborate with hospitals and physicians under the
central laboratory model, where the cancer patients’ treating physicians order our tests for the patients during the
diagnostic process, have the patients’ liquid biopsy or tissue samples shipped to our laboratories for testing and
then design treatment plans based on our test results. Since our inception, over 5,420 physicians from 757 hospitals
across China had ordered our tests. To generate demand, we will need to continue to educate physicians at an
increasing number of hospitals on the clinical utility, benefits and value of our tests through clinical trials,
published papers, presentations at scientific conferences and one-on-one education by our in-house sales force.

13



We may need to hire additional sales and marketing, research and development and other personnel to support
this process. If the physicians currently using our tests services stop ordering our tests or order fewer tests from
us for any reason, or if we fail to convince physicians at new hospitals to order our tests, we will likely be unable
to generate demand for our tests in sufficient volume for us to achieve profitability.

In-hospital collaboration. We are also actively expanding our collaboration with hospitals under the in-hospital
model. Under this model, we partner with hospitals to establish in-hospital laboratories so that the partner hospitals
can conduct cancer therapy selection tests on their own using our reagent kits. As of 31 December 2021, we had
partnered with 64 hospitals under the in-hospital model. Any deterioration or termination of our relationships with
these partner hospitals could result in temporary or permanent loss of our revenue.

In addition, we will need to continue to advocate the clinical utility, benefits and value of our tests in order to
enter into collaboration with additional hospitals under the in-hospital model. Even if we have convinced the new
hospitals to partner with us, establishing in-hospital laboratories with hospitals in China involves a lengthy and
costly process, including going through tender procedures, the outcome of which is subject to uncertainties, and
complying with the respective hospitals’ operating protocols. If we fail to enter into collaboration with additional
hospitals under the in-hospital model in a timely and cost-effective manner, or if due to regulatory change or any
other reasons, our current partner hospitals terminate their current collaborations with us, our business and
prospects could be adversely affected.

Furthermore, depending on our partner hospitals’ clinical needs and budgets for cancer therapy selection products
and services, our revenues from in-hospital business have fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate from quarter
to quarter.

Clinical collaboration. We have obtained the NMPA approval for two of our NGS reagent kits and in the future
we may from time to time seek the NMPA approval for additional products. The NMPA approval involves, among
other things, successful completion of clinical trials for these products. We may rely on our partner hospitals to
obtain sufficient data and samples to cost-effectively and timely perform these clinical trials. If we fail to establish
or maintain clinical collaboration with our partner hospitals, our business and results of operations may be harmed.

We require substantial funding for our operations. If we cannot raise sufficient additional capital on acceptable
terms, our business, financial condition and prospects may be adversely affected.

We require substantial capital to fund our existing operations, commercialise new products, expand our business
and pursue strategic investments.

In particular, we require substantial capital to:

e advance our early cancer detection technologies and develop early cancer detection product candidates;
increase our sales and marketing efforts to drive market adoption of our products and services and address
competitive developments;

seek regulatory and marketing approvals for our tests;

maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

hire and retain additional personnel, such as scientists and sales and marketing personnel;

develop, acquire and improve operational, financial and management information systems;

add equipment and physical infrastructure to support our research and development programs;

finance general and administrative expenses; and

operate as a public company.

Based on our current business plan, we believe our cash and cash equivalents, together with our cash generated
from financing activities, our initial public offering and private placement will be sufficient to meet our current
and anticipated needs for general corporate purposes for at least the next 12 months. If our available cash balances
and current and anticipated cash flow from operations are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, in
particular, for the development and commercialisation of our products, we may seek to obtain further funding
through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or other sources.

Further financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital as and when
needed it would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategy.
In addition, if we raise funds by issuing debt securities or incurring additional borrowings, the terms of debt
securities issued or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations, and we may be unable to

14



repay the indebtedness when due. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, your investment in our company
could be diluted.

We depend on third-party suppliers and service providers for different aspects of our business. If these suppliers
and service providers can no longer provide satisfactory products or services to us on commercially reasonable
terms, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend on third parties for different aspects of our business, such as supplying sequencers, reagents and other
laboratory equipment and materials, and collecting and delivering samples for our cancer therapy selection tests.
Selecting, managing and supervising these third-party suppliers and service providers requires significant
resources and expertise. Poor performance by these third parties, including their failure to provide services or
products according to applicable legal and regulatory requirements, the terms of our contracts or otherwise below
standard, could significantly and negatively affect the quality of our cancer therapy selection tests and damage
our reputation. For example, we rely on third-party delivery service providers to transport liquid biopsy and tissue
samples to our laboratory. Disruptions in such delivery services, whether due to labour disruptions, bad weather,
natural disaster, terrorist acts or threats or for other reasons could adversely affect specimen integrity and our
ability to process samples and conduct tests in a timely manner and to service our customers satisfactorily, and
ultimately our reputation and our business. In addition, if we are unable to continue to obtain expedited delivery
services on commercially reasonable terms, our operating results may be adversely affected.

In addition, the service or cooperative agreements we have with third-party suppliers and service providers are
generally not on an exclusive basis. If these third parties do not continue to maintain or expand their cooperation
with us, we would be required to seek new substitutes for these third-party material or service providers, which
could disrupt our operations and adversely affect our results of operations.

If we cannot maintain or develop relationships with our research partners, the market adoption and
endorsement of our products and services could suffer, which could in turn reduce our revenue prospects.

Currently, we have wide academic collaborations with oncology key opinion leaders, who conducted clinical trials
and research studies on cancer targeted therapies and immunotherapies using our products. We believe our
relationships with oncology key opinion leaders, as well as the resulting peer-to-peer interaction they generated,
have been instrumental in raising the awareness of our technology platform, endorsing the high quality of our
cancer therapy selection capabilities and driving adoption of our products. In addition, we collaborate with
pharmaceutical companies who employ cancer therapy selection using our products and services to help develop
new drugs for targeted therapies and immunotherapies on various types of cancers. We believe their rigorous
standards for the consistency and accuracy of cancer therapy selection results provide validation and endorsement
for our technology platform and our products.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to maintain these relationships and to establish new relationships.
Many factors have the potential to impact such collaborations, with both key opinion leaders and pharmaceutical
companies, including the type of biomarker support required and our ability to deliver it, pharmaceutical
companies’ satisfaction with our products or services, and our ability to pass the periodic or random inspections
of our pharmaceutical company partners, and other factors that may be beyond our control. Furthermore, our
research partners may decide to decrease or discontinue their use of our products and services due to changes in
their research focus; pharmaceutical companies may decide to cease or change their new drugs development plans
due to various reasons, such as failures in their clinical trials, financial constraints, or utilisation of internal testing
resources or tests performed by other parties, or other circumstances outside of our control. We cannot assure you
that such existing relationships will continue, or if we establish new relationships with other key opinion leaders
and pharmaceutical companies, the resulting relationship will be successful or that academic research and clinical
studies conducted as part of the collaborations will produce successful outcomes.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for some of our laboratory equipment and supplies and may not be
able to find replacements or immediately transition to alternative suppliers.

We source sequencers, reagents and certain other laboratory supplies used in our laboratory operations from a
limited number of suppliers. Our suppliers are typically trading companies that procure laboratory supplies from
a variety of manufacturers. Our laboratory operations may be interrupted if we encounter delays or difficulties in
securing these supplies, or if we become unable to procure supplies from any of these suppliers due to their lack
of required licenses, permits or certifications. If we cannot timely obtain an acceptable substitute, our business,
financial condition, results of operations and reputation could be adversely affected.
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We believe that there are a number of replacement suppliers that are capable of supplying all of the sequencers,
reagents and other laboratory supplies necessary for our laboratory operations. However, the use of laboratory
equipment and supplies furnished by any replacement suppliers may require us to alter our laboratory operations.
Transitioning to a new supplier may be time consuming and expensive, result in interruptions in our laboratory
operations or require that we revalidate our cancer therapy selection test products and services. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to bring the equipment and supplies supplied by these replacement suppliers online
and revalidate them without experiencing interruptions in our workflow. In addition, there can be no assurance
that replacement suppliers will meet our quality control and performance requirements. If we encounter delays or
difficulties in securing, reconfiguring or revalidating the laboratory equipment and supplies we require for our
laboratory operations, our business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation could be adversely
affected.

If we are unable to support the demand for our current or future products and services, including ensuring
that we have adequate capacity to meet increased demand, our business could suffer.

Since our inception, we have experienced rapid growth, and we anticipate further growth in our business
operations. Our growth could strain our organisational, administrative and operational infrastructure. As the sales
volume of our cancer therapy selection products and services grows, we will face increased demands on our
capacity and efficiency for sample intake, testing results analysis and other laboratory operations, quality control,
customer service, and general workflow management processes.

To maintain the quality and expected turnaround time of our tests and effectively meet increased demand, we
must continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls and hire, train and manage
additional qualified scientists, laboratory personnel and sales and marketing personnel. Failure to do so could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, if we encounter
difficulties in scaling our operations as a result of quality control and quality assurance issues, we will likely
experience reduced sales of our cancer therapy selection tests, increased repair or re-engineering costs and
increased expenses due to switching to alternate suppliers, any of which would adversely affect our results of
operations.

We face risks related to natural disasters, health epidemics, civil and social disruption and other outbreaks,
which could significantly disrupt our operations. In particular, the COVID-19 outbreak in China and
worldwide has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We are vulnerable to social and natural catastrophic events that are beyond our control, such as natural disasters,
health epidemics, and other catastrophes, which may materially and adversely affect our business. Since
December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, or COVID-19, has become widespread in China and around the
world. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 a pandemic, and the COVID-19,
including its variants, has continued to spread across the globe. Since the beginning of 2020 and up to the date of
this Prospectus, China and many other countries have taken various restrictive measures to contain the virus’
spread, such as quarantines, travel restrictions and home office policies. In response to this pandemic, hospitals
and physicians across China focused their efforts on treating COVID-19 patients and prioritised resources toward
containing the virus, resulting in many diagnostic procedures and cancer therapy selection testing being deferred.
As a result, the demand for our products and services under both our central laboratory model and in-hospital
model may decrease and fluctuate accordingly from time to time, which adversely affected our business operations
and financial performance in the first quarter of 2020. Our revenue and gross profit decreased in the first quarter
of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. Since the second quarter of 2020, both our central laboratory and
in-hospital businesses have resumed growth, including the third quarter of 2021 despite the adverse COVID-19
impact in August 2021. In 2021, 28,199 patients took our tests, compared to 25,262 patients in 2020, and our
reagent Kit sales to partner hospitals also increased year over year. Our revenues increased by 18.1% from
RMB429.9 million in 2020 to RMB507.9 million (US$79.7 million) in 2021. Our gross profit increased by 16.0%
from RMB313.9 million in 2020 to RMB364.1 million (US$57.1 million) in 2021.

While the COVID-19 situation has gradually improved in China and our business has resumed growth, the
duration and scope of the COVID-19 outbreak, and the potential downturn brought by the COVID-19 outbreak
are difficult to assess or predict. In addition, the emergence of the more infectious variants, including the delta
and omicron variants, have caused the resurgence in cases in various parts of China and have accordingly led to
the prolonging and re-imposition of restrictive measures. In particular, the emergence of the COVID-19 cases
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caused by the omicron variants in the Yangtze Delta region in early 2022 (especially Shanghai in March and
April) has resulted in severely restrictive measures, including city-wide lock-down. The extent to which the
COVID-19 outbreak impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on many
factors beyond our control, including the extent of future resurgences of the disease and its variants, vaccine
distribution and other actions in response to the virus or to contain its impact, and we are closely monitoring its
impact on us. Our business operations could be disrupted if any of our employees is suspected of contracting
COVID-19, since our employees could be quarantined and/or our offices be shut down for disinfection. Our
business operations may be adversely affected if our suppliers, partner hospitals or other business partners
continue to be affected by COVID-19. Our business, results of operations, financial conditions and prospects
could be materially adversely affected to the extent that COVID-19 harms the Chinese and global economy in
general, and the trading price of our ADSs may be adversely affected. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic and
the outbreak of other health epidemics adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial conditions
and prospects, they may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this section.

If we cannot compete successfully with our competitors, we may be unable to increase or sustain our revenue
or achieve and sustain profitability.

With the development of NGS and cancer genotyping, China’s NGS-based cancer therapy selection market has
become increasingly competitive, and we expect this competition to intensify further in the future. Our principal
competition comes from other NGS-based cancer therapy selection companies in China. Some of our existing and
potential future competitors may have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, more expansive brand
recognition and deeper market penetration, substantially greater financial, technological and research and
development resources and selling and marketing capabilities, and more favourable terms from suppliers. As a
result, they may be able to respond more quickly to changes in customer requirements or preferences, develop
faster, better and more expansive advancements for their technologies and tests, create and implement more
successful strategies for the promotion and sale of their tests, adopt more aggressive pricing policies for their tests,
secure supplies from vendors on more favourable terms or devote substantially more resources to infrastructure
and system development. In addition, competitors may be acquired by, receive investments from or enter into
other commercial relationships with larger, well-established and well-financed companies as the use of cancer
therapy selection increases. In addition, if we expand into international markets in the future, we could face
competition from NGS-based cancer therapy selection companies in these markets.

If we are unable to compete successfully with current and future competitors for these or any other reasons, we
may be unable to increase market acceptance and sales volume of our tests, which could prevent us from
maintaining or increasing our revenue levels or achieving or sustaining profitability or could otherwise negatively
affect our performance.

Failure to manage our growth or execute our strategies effectively may adversely affect our business and
prospects.

We have achieved rapid growth in the past few years. If we are not successful in managing our growth or executing
our strategies effectively, our business, results of operations, financial condition and future growth may be
adversely affected. For example, as part of our growth strategies, we plan to continue our research and
development in early cancer detection, which is technically challenging. In addition, we will continue to
implement the strategy to expand our collaboration with partner hospitals under the in-hospital model. As China
is a large and diverse market, industry trends and clinical demands may vary significantly by regions. Our
experience in collaborations with partner hospitals in major cities under the in-hospital model may not be
applicable in hospitals located in other cities. As a result, we may not be able to leverage our experience to expand
into local or regional hospitals in other parts of China. Any failure to effectively manage our growth or execute
our strategies, including our early cancer detection research and development and our collaboration with hospitals
under the in-hospital model, could have an adverse impact on our business and prospects.

Our future success depends on our ability to promote our brand and protect our reputation. If we are unable
to effectively promote our brand, our business may be adversely affected.

We believe that enhancing and maintaining awareness of our “Burning Rock” brand is critical to achieving
widespread acceptance of our cancer therapy selection products, gaining trust for our testing services and
attracting new customers. Successful promotion of our brand depends largely on the quality of the products and
services we offer and the effectiveness of our branding and marketing efforts. Currently, we rely primarily on our
own sales and marketing team to promote our brand and our cancer therapy selection products and testing services.
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We expect that our branding and marketing efforts will require us to incur significant expenses and devote
substantial resources. We cannot guarantee that our sales and marketing efforts will be successful. Brand
promotion activities may not lead to increased revenue in the near term, and, even if they do, any revenue increases
may not offset the expenses we incur to promote our brand. Our failure to establish and promote our brand and
any damage to our reputation will hinder our growth. In addition, our reputation may be undermined as a result
of the negative publicity about our company or our industry in general. If cancer therapy selection products or
services provided by us or our competitors do not perform to customers’ expectations, it may result in lower
confidence in cancer therapy selection in general, which may in turn impair our operating results and our
reputation.

Failure to attract and retain our senior management and other key employees could adversely affect our
business.

Our future success is significantly dependent upon the continued service of our senior management, such as Mr.
Yusheng Han, our chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer. If we lose their services, we may
not be able to locate suitable or qualified replacements, and we may incur additional expenses to recruit new senior
management team members, which could severely disrupt our business and growth. In addition, if these personnel
join our competitors or form a competing business, our business and prospects could be adversely affected.

Our research and development activities and laboratory operations depend upon our ability to attract and retain
highly skilled scientists and technicians. We are also in strong need of sales and marketing personnel with the
relevant technology background and industry expertise in order to effectively conduct our sales and marketing
activities and increase our hospital network. We face intense competition for qualified individuals from numerous
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, universities, governmental entities and other research institutions.
We may be unable to attract and retain suitably qualified individuals, and our failure to do so could adversely
affect our business.

Misconduct of our employees, consultants or other business partners could engage in misconduct that
adversely affects our business.

Our employees, consultants and other business partners could engage in misconduct that adversely affects our
business. For example, we are subject to a number of obligations and standards arising from our business
relationships with our customers. The violation of these obligations and standards by any of our employees,
consultants and other business partners would adversely affect our relationship with our customers. The
misconduct of our employees, consultants and other business partners, including the improper use or disclosure
of confidential information and improper speech and behaviour in the public domain (especially when they
identify us in such speech or behaviour), could cause harm to our reputation, financial position and current and
future business relationships. Detecting or deterring employee misconduct is not always possible, and the
extensive precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. If our employees,
consultants and other business partners were to engage in misconduct or were to be accused of such misconduct,
our business and our reputation could be adversely affected.

If our central laboratory fails to comply with applicable laboratory licensing requirements, or become damaged
or inoperable, our ability to perform tests may be jeopardised.

We currently derive a substantial majority of our revenue from tests performed at our central laboratory located
in Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China.

Currently, our central laboratory holds an NGS laboratory certificate issued by Guangdong Branch of the NCCL
in May 2018. This certificate is valid for five years and its renewal is conditioned upon additional inspection on
a regular and irregular basis. In May 2021, our central laboratory successfully renewed our clinical PCR testing
laboratory certificate issued by Guangdong Branch of the NCCL, which is valid for five years. If our central
laboratory loses these certificates or fails to renew any certificate in a timely manner, or at all, whether as a result
of revocation, suspension, limitation or any other external factors beyond our control, we would no longer be able
to perform our tests, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, we have voluntarily obtained certification from the CLIA to perform laboratory
examinations and procedures on human specimens and the certification was successfully renewed in October
2020. We had also voluntarily obtained accreditation from the CAP for our central laboratory in February 2019,
which we have successfully renewed in April 2022. As a condition of the CLIA certification and the CAP
accreditation, our central laboratory is subject to survey and inspection every other year, in addition to being
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subject to additional random inspections. There is no assurance that we could maintain or successfully renew the
CLIA certification and the CAP accreditation. Loss of, or failure to renew, our CLIA certificate or CAP
accreditation may have an adverse effect on our business and reputation.

In addition, our laboratory facilities and equipment could be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-
made disasters, including war, fire, earthquake, power loss, communications failure or terrorism, which may
render it difficult or impossible for us to perform tests for some period of time. We do not carry any insurance for
damage to our property and the disruption of our business. Damages to, or interruptions in the operations of, our
laboratory and other facilities could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Furthermore, our laboratory facilities and equipment could be unavailable or costly and time-consuming to repair
or replace. It would be difficult, time-consuming and expensive to rebuild our laboratory facilities, to locate and
qualify a new facility or license or transfer our proprietary technology to a third-party to conduct our tests at their
facilities, particularly in light of licensure and accreditation requirements. Even in the unlikely event we are able
to find a third party with such qualifications to enable us to conduct our tests, we may be unable to negotiate
commercially reasonable terms.

We depend on our information technology systems, and any failure of these systems could harm our business.

We depend on information technology systems for significant elements of our operations. We have also installed
a number of enterprise software systems that affect a broad range of business processes and functional areas,
including for example, systems handling human resources, financial controls and reporting, contract management,
regulatory compliance, and other infrastructure operations. These information technology systems support a
variety of functions, including laboratory operations, test validation, sample tracking, quality control, customer
service support, billing and reimbursement, research and development activities, scientific and medical curation,
and general administrative activities.

Information technology systems are vulnerable to damage from a variety of sources, including
telecommunications or network failures, malicious human acts and natural disasters. Moreover, despite network
security and back-up measures, some of our servers are potentially vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins,
computer viruses, and similar disruptive problems. Despite the precautionary measures we have taken to prevent
unanticipated problems that could affect our information technology and telecommunications systems, failures or
significant downtime of our information technology or telecommunications systems or those used by third-party
service providers could prevent us from conducting our daily operations. Any disruption or loss of information
technology systems on which critical aspects of our operations depend could have an adverse effect on our
business.

Security threats to our information technology infrastructure and unauthorised use of data by third parties
could expose us to liability or damage our reputation and business.

Our information technology systems store and process a variety of sensitive data, including our proprietary
business information, as well as patients’ personal data such as health information and personally identifiable
information.

It is essential that our information technology infrastructure remains secure and is perceived by hospitals, patients
and our research partners to be secure. Despite our security measures, we may face cyber-attacks that attempt to
penetrate our network security, sabotage or otherwise disable our research, tests and services, misappropriate our
proprietary business information or cause interruptions of our internal systems and services. Any cyber-attacks
could negatively affect our reputation, damage our network infrastructure and our ability to deploy our products
and services, harm our relationship with customers and research partners, and expose us to significant financial
liabilities.

Moreover, we may not be able to prevent third parties from illegally obtaining and misappropriating personal data
of the tested patients that we collect. Concerns about data leakage or unauthorised use of data by third parties,
even if unfounded, could damage our reputation and negatively affect our results of operations.

If we are unable to effectively protect our intellectual property, our business and competitive position would be
harmed.
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We rely on patents, software copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights protection
and contractual restrictions to protect our products, services and technologies. We have registered a number of
patents and trademarks in China and have applied for additional patent registrations in China, Hong Kong, the
U.S., the European Union and Japan. However, such protection is limited and may not adequately protect our
rights. For example, some of the trademark applications for the labels we use in our products have been rejected
by the Trademark Office of National Intellectual Property Administration for the reason that they have been pre-
emptively registered by an independent third party. In December 2019, we filed a request for invalidation against
these pre-emptively registered trademarks. The relevant authority ruled in our favour and invalidated the pre-
emptively registered trademarks in November and December 2020 and the independent third party did not appeal,
making the results final. In 2021, we filed requests of review for some of the trademark applications which were
rejected by the trademark office based on pre-emptively registered trademarks or other reasons. However, there
is no guarantee that we can successfully register such trademarks in a timely manner, if at all.

In addition, competitors could purchase our products and attempt to replicate and/or improve some or all of the
competitive advantages we derive from our development efforts, wilfully infringe our intellectual property rights,
and design their devices and tests around our protected technologies or develop their own competitive technologies
that fall outside of our intellectual property rights.

Monitoring unauthorised disclosure and uses of our trade secrets is difficult, and we do not know whether the
steps we have taken to prevent such disclosure and uses are, or will be, adequate. If we resort to litigation to
enforce or protect our intellectual property rights, such litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion
of our managerial and financial resources, while the outcome would be unpredictable and any remedy may be
inadequate. Our contractual agreements may be breached by our counterparties, and there may not be adequate
remedies available to us for any such breach. In addition, our trade secrets may be leaked or otherwise become
available to, or be independently discovered by, our competitors, and we would have no right to prevent others
from using them. Moreover, if a party having an agreement with us has an overlapping or conflicting obligation
to a third party, our rights in and to certain intellectual property could be undermined.

If we fail to effectively protect our intellectual property, our competitive position and prospects could be adversely
affected.

We may be subject to intellectual property infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties, which may
force us to incur substantial legal expenses and, if determined adversely against us, could disrupt our business.

The validity, enforceability and scope of intellectual property rights protection in China are uncertain and still
evolving. We cannot be certain that our products, tests and technologies do not or will not infringe patents,
software copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property rights held by third parties. From time to time, we
may be subject to legal proceedings and claims alleging infringement of patents, trademarks or copyrights, or
misappropriation of creative ideas or formats, or other infringement of proprietary intellectual property rights.
Any such proceedings and claims could result in significant costs to us and divert the time and attention of our
management and technical personnel from the operation of our business. These types of claims could also
potentially adversely impact our reputation and our ability to conduct business and raise capital, even if we are
ultimately absolved of all liability. Moreover, third parties making claims against us may be able to obtain
injunctive relief against us, which could block our ability to offer one or more devices or tests and could result in
a substantial award of damages against us. In addition, since we sometimes indemnify our customers or
collaboration partners, we may have additional liability in connection with any infringement or alleged
infringement of third party intellectual property. Intellectual property litigation can be very expensive, and we
may not have the financial means to defend ourselves or our customers or collaboration partners.

Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be pending applications, some of which are
unknown to us, that may result in issued patents upon which our products, tests or proprietary technologies may
infringe. Moreover, we may fail to identify issued patents of relevance or incorrectly conclude that an issued
patent is invalid or not infringed by our technology or any of our devices or tests. There is a substantial amount
of litigation involving patents and other intellectual property rights in our industry. If a third-party claims that we
infringe upon a third-party’s intellectual property rights, we may have to:

e seek to obtain licenses that may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all;

e abandon any product alleged or held to infringe, or redesign our products or processes to avoid potential

assertion of infringement;
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e pay substantial damages including, in exceptional cases, treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if a court
decides that the device, test or proprietary technology at issue infringes upon or violates the third-party’s
rights;

e pay substantial royalties or fees or grant cross-licenses to our technology; and

e defend litigation or administrative proceedings that may be costly whether we win or lose, and which
could result in a substantial diversion of our financial and management resources.

Ethical, legal and social concerns related to the use of genomic information could reduce demand for our
cancer therapy selection testing products and services.

Cancer therapy selection, especially cancer genotyping, has raised ethical, legal and social issues regarding
privacy and the appropriate uses of the resulting information. Government authorities could, for social or other
purposes, limit or regulate the use of genomic information or prohibit testing for genomic predisposition to certain
conditions, particularly for those that have no known cure. Similarly, these concerns may cause patients to refuse
to use, or physicians to be reluctant to order, cancer therapy selection tests such as ours, even if permissible. These
and other ethical, legal and social concerns may limit market acceptance and adoption of our tests or reduce the
potential markets for our tests, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may be unable to accurately report our results
of operations or prevent fraud, and investor confidence and the market price of our ADSs may be materially
and adversely affected.

We are subject to the reporting obligations under the U.S. and UK securities laws. For example, the SEC, as
required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, has adopted rules requiring a public company to
include a report of management on the effectiveness of such company’s internal control over financial reporting
in its annual report on Form 20-F. In addition, an independent registered public accounting firm for a public
company must issue an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for
the year under review ended 31 December 2021. As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and related rules promulgated by SEC, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of 31 December 2021 using criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
assessment, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 31
December 2021. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm attested the effectiveness of our
internal control and reported that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 31 December
2021. If we fail to maintain an effective internal control environment for our financial reporting, we may not be
able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance
with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We have incurred and will continue to incur additional costs and use
additional management and other resources to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
other requirements going forward. Moreover, effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for
us to produce reliable financial reports. As a result, any failure to maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting could result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which in turn
could negatively impact the trading price of our ADSs in the U.S. or the UK. Additionally, ineffective internal
control over financial reporting could subject us to potential delisting from the Nasdaq Global Market or London
Stock Exchange regulatory investigations, and civil or criminal sanctions.

Past and future grants of share-based awards may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results
of operations and have dilutive impact to your investment.

We adopted share incentive plans in May 2020, October 2021 and September 2022 to grant share-based
compensation awards to employees, directors, consultants and senior management to incentivise their
performance and align their interests with ours. The maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares we are
authorised to issue pursuant to all awards under the 2020 Plan, the 2021 Plan and the 2022 Plan are 4,512,276
ordinary shares, 12,533,016 ordinary shares and 11,775,525, respectively. We have also separately issued share
incentive awards to our directors, officers and employees outside of the 2020 Plan and 2021 Plan. As of 30 June
2022, we had 18,037,031 Class A ordinary shares underlying outstanding share options, restricted shares and
restricted share units. Of this, options representing 10,416,956 Class A ordinary shares that were issued under the
2021 Plan have since been cancelled and replaced by options representing 9,184,923 Class A ordinary shares
issued under the 2022 Plan.
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We believe the granting of share-based awards is of significant importance to our ability to attract and retain key
personnel and employees, and we will continue to grant share-based compensation to employees, directors and
consultants in the future. As a result, our expenses associated with share-based compensation may increase, which
may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We may be subject to litigation and other claims and legal proceedings, and may not always be successful in
defending ourselves against these claims or proceedings.

We may be subject to and involved in lawsuits and other claims in the ordinary course of our business. We may
from time to time be subject to lawsuits and other legal proceedings brought by our customers, competitors,
employees, business partners, investors, other shareholders of the companies we invest, or other entities against
us in the ordinary course of our business. We may also be subject to regulatory proceedings in the ordinary course
of our business. We may not be successful in defending ourselves, and the outcomes of these lawsuits and
proceedings may be unfavourable to us. Lawsuits and regulatory proceedings against us may also generate
negative publicity that significantly harms our reputation, which may adversely affect our customer base, market
position and our relationships with our research partners and other business partners. In addition to the related
costs, managing and defending litigation and other legal proceedings and related indemnity obligations can
significantly divert our management’s attention from operating our business. We may also need to pay damages
or settle lawsuits or other claims with a substantial amount of cash, negatively affecting our liquidity. As a result,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Government Regulations

We are subject to extensive legal and regulatory requirements in China for our cancer therapy selection
products and services. Any lack of requisite certificates, licenses or permits applicable to our business may have
an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are engaged in the purchase, manufacturing, sale and usage of certain imported laboratory equipment, NGS-
based cancer therapy selection products and related software. The laws and regulations regulating NGS-based
cancer therapy selection products are still in a preliminary stage of development in China. In accordance with
current PRC laws and regulations, certain of these equipment, products and software are regulated as medical
devices and are required to obtain and maintain various certificates, licenses and permits, including but not limited
to medical device record-filing certificates, medical device manufacturing licenses, medical device registration
certificates and medical device operation licenses.

Although we obtained China’s first medical device registration certificate for NGS-based cancer therapy selection,
as of the date of this Prospectus, certain of these equipment, products and software have not obtained the required
certificates, licenses or permits. In China, very few NGS-based cancer therapy selection products have obtained
medical device registration certificates issued by the competent Chinese governmental authorities. It is uncertain
whether we can obtain all medical device registration certificates for our NGS-based cancer therapy selection
products and how long it will take to obtain such registration certificates.

In addition, we have obtained the NMPA approval for two of our NGS reagent kits and may seek to obtain such
approvals for our other NGS reagent kits or any other products currently under development, including our early
cancer detection products, from time to time. The NMPA has substantial discretion in the approval process and
may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require additional
pre-clinical, clinical or other studies. The process of obtaining NMPA approvals is inherently uncertain and there
is no guarantee that our existing or future products could successfully obtain NMPA approvals in a timely manner,
if at all. Delays or failure in obtaining NMPA approvals of our products could result in substantial additional costs,
adversely affect our ability to compete with other companies, and negatively affect investors’ confidence in our
financial performance and business prospects. Even if the NMPA approval is ultimately granted, we may not
successfully maintain or renew the approval and the approval may be withdrawn. Any NMPA approval received
may also restrict the intended use and marketing of the product we want to commercialise.

According to the most recently amended Regulations on the Supervision and Administration of Medical Devices
which became effective on 1 June 2021, subject to more detailed administrative measures to be enacted by the
NMPA and the PRC National Health Commission (the “NHC”), qualified medical institutions may, based on
clinical demands, conduct research and development on in vitro diagnostic testing reagents if the same type of
products are not available at market in China, and may also use such in vitro diagnostic testing reagents internally
under the instruction of practicing physicians. According to these provisions, medical institutions may use self-
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developed in vitro diagnostic testing reagents without medical device registration certificate for specific purposes
under specific circumstances. However, since the specific administrative measures are still in the process of being
formulated, there is uncertainty as to the specific requirements we must comply with.

As of the date of this Prospectus, we have not been subject to any penalties from the relevant authorities for the
purchase, manufacture, sale and usage of these equipment, products and software. As advised by our PRC counsel,
Tian Yuan Law Firm, the risk of penalties imposed by the competent authorities is relatively low. However, we
cannot assure you that the competent governmental authorities will not take different views or interpretations from
us or our PRC counsel, or enact new detailed or more restrictive rules and regulations. Failure to comply with
laws or regulations may subject us to penalties, including fines, confiscation of these equipment, products and
software and suspension of business, and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review. There could be a subsequent discovery
of previously unknown problems with our cancer therapy selection products and services. Any government
investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources and could
result in adverse government actions and negative publicity.

Failure to comply with existing or future laws and regulations related to the management of human genetic
resources in China could lead to government enforcement actions, which could include civil or criminal fines
or penalties, private litigation, other liabilities, and/or adverse publicity. Compliance or the failure to comply
with such laws could increase the costs of, limit and cause significant delay in our clinical studies and research
and development activities, and could otherwise materially and adversely affect our operating results, business
and prospects.

Laws and regulations related to the management of human genetic resources in China are rapidly evolving and
the enforcement thereof is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. On June 10, 1998, the Ministry of
Science and Technology, or MOST, and the Ministry of Health jointly established the rules for protecting and
utilising human genetic resources, or HGR, in China. From 2006 to 2016, MOST and other regulatory agencies
in China have been focused on HGR legislation, and proactively sought opinions from the public on draft
regulations. In 2015, MOST issued a Guideline on HGR and reinforced its legislative efforts in HGR
administration. In May 2019, the Regulation on Human Genetic Resources Management, or the HGR Regulation,
was put in place. The State Council promulgated the HGR Regulation on 28 May 2019 and it became effective
on 1 July 2019.

The HGR Regulation prohibits foreign entities or individuals or such entities established or actually controlled
thereby, or “Foreign Persons,” from collecting or preserving China HGR in China, or providing China HGR
abroad, whereas activities of collection and preservation of organs, tissues and cells for purposes of clinical
diagnosis and treatment, service of blood collection and provision, investigation of illegal activities, doping test
and funeral service, are required to be conducted in accordance with other relevant laws and regulations. The HGR
Regulation permits Foreign Persons’ limited use of China HGR “to carry out scientific research activities,” which
must be conducted through collaboration with Chinese scientific research institutions, higher education
institutions, medical institutions, or enterprises, collectively, the “Chinese Entities.” Such activities must be
approved by MOST, and the application for approval must be filed jointly by the Foreign Person and the relevant
Chinese Entity. The only exception to the approval requirement is “international collaboration in clinical trials”
that do not involve the outbound transfer of China HGR materials such as organs, tissues, or cells comprising the
human genome, genes, or other genetic substances, collectively, China HGR Materials. Such clinical trial
collaboration, however, must still be pre-registered with MOST. There remain significant uncertainties as to how
provisions of the HGR Regulation might be interpreted and implemented. A VIE entity actually controlled by a
foreign entity through contractual agreements would be deemed as a Foreign Person under the HGR Regulation.
Short-term storage of samples of laboratory testing by foreign laboratories or foreign-invested laboratories may
also be interpreted as preserving China HGR, thus being subjected to MOST application, approval or pre-
registration processes.

On 17 October 2020, the Standing Committee of the NPC promulgated the Biosecurity Law of the PRC which
became effective on 15 April 2021. The new law, among other things, restates relevant approval or pre-registration
requirements of HGR collection, preservation, utilisation and external provision, as provided in the HGR
Regulation. Moreover, the promulgation of the new law, which takes the form of national law, further
demonstrates the commitments of protecting China HGR and safeguarding state biosecurity by the PRC
government.
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As a company with a VIE structure since our inception, we are deemed as a Foreign Person under the HGR
Regulation. As a result, when conducting or participating in research and clinical studies that involve any of our
products, performing clinical studies for any of our pipeline products that are under development (including our
early detection products), or providing companion diagnostics services to pharmaceutical companies, we are
required to seek approval of or make pre-registration with MOST with respect to our collaborations with Chinese
Entities under the HGR Regulation. These procedures could be lengthy and require additional expenses, and there
is no assurance that we can complete these pre-registrations, or obtain such approvals, in a timely manner, or at
all. As a result, our clinical studies and research and development activities of any of our products or pipeline
products that are under development (including our early detection products), and our companion diagnostics
development services to pharmaceutical companies may suffer significant delay, experience suspension,
rejections, cancellations and other obstacles. As a result, our business, financial conditions, results of operations
and prospects could be materially adversely affected.

As of the date of this Prospectus, we, same as our peer companies in the healthcare industry in China, have
received and may continue receiving notices from the relevant governmental authorities requiring us to share
HGR-related information with competent government agencies from time to time, and have complied with all
such requests. As of the same date, we have not been subject to any penalties from the competent governmental
authorities for our business operations or clinical studies involving the use of China HGR. However, regulatory
agencies in China may change their enforcement practices. Therefore, prior enforcement activity, or lack of
enforcement activity, is not necessarily predictive of future actions. Failure to comply with existing or future HGR
laws and regulations, including the HGR Regulation and the Biosecurity Law, may subject us to penalties,
including fines, suspension of related activities and confiscation of related HGR and gains generated from
conducting these activities.

The evolving government regulations may place additional burdens on our efforts to commercialise our
products and services.

The PRC government has introduced various reforms to the Chinese healthcare system in recent years and may
continue to do so, with an overall objective of expanding basic medical insurance coverage and improve the
quality and reliability of healthcare services. The specific regulatory changes under the reforms still remain
uncertain. The implementing measures to be issued may not be sufficiently effective to achieve the stated goals,
and as a result, we may not be able to benefit from these reforms to the level we expect, if at all. Moreover, the
reforms could give rise to regulatory developments, such as more burdensome administrative procedures, which
may have an adverse effect on our business and prospects.

In addition, laws and regulations in China, including those regulating medical devices and supplies, are rapidly
evolving. On 9 February 2021, the State Council promulgated the amended Regulations on Supervision and
Administration of Medical Devices, which became effective on 1 June 2021. On 26 August 2021, the State
Administration for Market Regulation promulgated the new Administrative Measures for the Registration and
Record-filing of Medical Devices and the Administrative Measures for the Registration and Record-filing of IVD
Reagents, both of which became effective on 1 October 2011. Changes in these areas could impose more stringent
requirements on us and increase our compliance and other operating costs, and we may not be able to achieve or
sustain profitability. Changes in government regulations could also prevent, limit or delay regulatory approvals in
relation to our NGS-based cancer therapy selection products and services. Moreover, regulatory authorities may
conduct periodic or unannounced inspections on pharmaceutical and medical device companies to check if these
companies’ manufacturing, quality control and procurement, among others, are in compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance or pass regulatory inspections, any regulatory
approval that has been obtained may be revoked, and we may be required to recall our current or future products,
or even to partially suspend or totally shut down our production. In addition, regulatory changes may relax certain
requirements that could benefit our competitors or lower market entry barriers and increase competition. Further,
regulatory agencies in China may periodically, and sometimes abruptly, change their enforcement practices. Any
litigation or governmental investigation or enforcement proceedings against us in China may be protracted and
may result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention, negative publicity, damage
to our reputation and decline in the price of our ADSs.

Furthermore, China’s regulatory framework governing genetic testing is also in the preliminary stage and rapidly
evolving. The evolution of government regulations and their interpretation and enforcement involve significant
uncertainties, which may place additional burdens on us or even render it impossible for us to comply with certain
regulations. For example, in February 2014, two government agencies jointly published an announcement
regarding the clinical application of genetic tests, or Circular 25, which halted the provision of genetic tests unless
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the clinical laboratory of genetic testing is included in a designated pilot program. Pursuant to Circular 25, in
March 2014, the PRC government launched the pilot program that granted permits to NGS laboratories. This pilot
program, to our knowledge, has been discontinued. Since no implementing rules for Circular 25 have been
promulgated as of the date of this Prospectus, the provision of genetic testing by biotechnology companies,
including us, which were not included in such pilot program, may be deemed by the competent governmental
authorities to have violated Circular 25. As advised by our PRC counsel, we believe that the risk of us being found
in violation of Circular 25 by providing genetics tests is low given that (i) our central laboratory has obtained the
clinical PCR testing laboratory certificate, and we are one of the first biotechnology companies in China that have
obtained the NGS laboratory certificate, both issued by the NCCL, according to Administrative Regulations for
Clinical Gene Amplification Laboratory of Medical Institutions, and (ii) as of the date of this Prospectus, the
relevant governmental authorities have not imposed any penalties on us, or to our knowledge, on other peer
companies conducting genetic testing, for any violation of Circular 25. However, we cannot assure you that the
governmental authorities will take the same view with us or our PRC counsel. If the governmental authorities
determine that we have violated Circular 25, our business of provision of genetic tests may be halted, which may
adversely affect our business and prospects.

We may be exposed to liabilities under various anti-corruption laws and regulations. Any determination that
we or our employees have violated these laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on our business or
our reputation.

We operate in the healthcare industry in China and are subject to Chinese anti-corruption laws and regulations,
which generally prohibit companies and intermediaries from engaging in any bribery, corruption and fraudulent
activities, including, among other things, improper payments or other form of bribes to hospitals and physicians
in connection with the procurement of products. If we, due to either our own deliberate or inadvertent acts or those
of others, fail to comply with applicable anti-corruption laws, our reputation could be harmed and we could incur
criminal or civil penalties, other sanctions and/or significant expenses, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, including our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

In addition, our procedures and controls to monitor anti-bribery compliance may fail to protect us from reckless
or criminal acts committed by our employees. We could be liable for actions taken by our employees, including
any violations of applicable law in connection with the marketing or sale of our products and services, including
China’s anti-corruption laws and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of the U.S., or the FCPA. In particular, if our
employees make any payments that are forbidden under the FCPA, we could be subject to civil and criminal
penalties imposed by the U.S. government.

Any change in the regulations governing the use of personal data in China, which are still under development,
could adversely affect our business and reputation.

As a cancer therapy selection service provider, we have access to our tested individuals’ personal data, including
their age, gender, disease status and medical records. We use these personal data internally to expand our database
and improve the clinical utility of our analytics and reporting system.

Chinese regulations governing the collection and use of personal data are still under development. On 10 June
2021, the Standing Committee of the NPC promulgated the PRC Data Security Law, which became effective on
1 September 2021. The PRC Data Security Law defines “data” referred to therein as any recording of information
in electronic or other forms and defines “data processing” as including the collection, storage, use, processing,
transmission, provision, disclosure, etc. of data. Any organisation or individual that collects data shall do so in a
lawful and legitimate manner and shall not obtain data by stealing or other illegal means. Where laws and
administrative regulations contain provisions on the purposes and scope of data collection and use, organisations
and individuals shall collect and use data within the purposes and scope prescribed by laws and administrative
regulations. Data processors shall establish and improve a whole-process data security management system,
organise data security education and trainings, and take appropriate technical and other necessary measures to
protect data security. Following the PRC Data Security Law, the long anticipate Personal Information Protection
Law of the PRC was promulgated on 20 August 2021 and became effective on 1 November 2021, which is
considered China’s first comprehensive law in the personal information protection. The Personal Information
Protection Law of the PRC emphasises that the processing of personal information shall have clear and reasonable
purposes and be carried out in a way that has minimal impact on personal rights and interests. The collection of
personal information shall be limited to the smallest scope necessary for achieving the purpose of processing. No
organisation or individual may illegally collect, use, process or transmit the personal data of others, or illegally
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trade, provide or publicly disclose the personal data of others, or engage in personal data processing activities that
endanger national security or public interests.

Although we believe that there is currently no PRC legal restriction on our internal use of our tested individuals’
personal data, any change in the regulatory regime in this regard could potentially subject us to more stringent
data privacy regulations and affect our ability with regard to the collection and use of these personal data, which
in turn could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In the future,
we plan to expand our business internationally and will be subject to relevant regulatory regimes related to data
privacy in those countries, which may be subject us to heightened standards of data protection.

Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure for operating our businesses in
China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in those operations.

In accordance with the Special Administrative Measures on Access of Foreign Investment Negative List (2021
Edition) which was promulgated on 27 December 2021 and became effective on 1 January 2022, foreign investors
are prohibited from investing in businesses related to the research, development, and application of genomic
diagnosis and treatment technology.

We are an exempted company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, and Beijing
Burning Rock Biotech Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary (“WFOE”), is considered a foreign-invested
enterprise. To comply with PRC laws and regulations, we conduct substantially all of our business in the PRC
through Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd., our variable interest company (“VIE”), and its
subsidiaries, based on contractual arrangements entered into among WFOE, the VIE and its shareholders.

We believe that, although we do not have equity ownership of the VIE, our corporate structure and contractual
arrangements enable us to: (i) be the exclusive provider of business support, technical and consulting services in
exchange for a fee; (ii) receive substantially all of the economic benefits and bear the obligation to absorb
substantially all of the losses of the VIE; (iii) have an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase, or to designate
one or more persons to purchase, from the registered shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in the
VIE at any time and from time to time in our absolute discretion to the extent permitted by PRC laws; (iv) have
an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase, or to designate one or more persons to purchase, from the VIE all
or any part of its assets at any time and from time to time in our absolute discretion to the extent permitted by
PRC laws; (v) appoint us, any person authorised by us (except the shareholders of the VIE), as exclusive agent
and attorney to act on behalf of the shareholders of the VIE on all matters concerning the VIE and to exercise all
their rights as a registered shareholder of the VIE in accordance with PRC laws and the articles of the VIE; and
(vi) pledge as first-ranking charge all of the equity interests in the VIE to us as collateral security for any and all
of the guaranteed debt under the contractual arrangements and to secure performance of the obligations under the
contractual arrangements. The contractual arrangements allow the results of operations and assets and liabilities
of the VIE and its subsidiaries to be consolidated into our results of operations and assets and liabilities under
U.S. GAAP as if they were subsidiaries of our Group.

Our PRC counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, is of the opinion that (i) the ownership structure of WFOE and the VIE
does not violate applicable PRC laws and regulations currently in effect, and (ii) the contractual arrangements are
valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with the applicable PRC laws or regulations currently in effect.
However, there can be no assurance that the PRC government authorities will take a view that is not contrary to
or otherwise different from the opinion of our PRC counsel stated above. There is also the possibility that the PRC
government authorities may adopt new laws, regulations and interpretations that may invalidate the contractual
arrangements. If the PRC government determines that we are in violation of PRC laws or regulations or lack the
necessary permits or licenses to operate our business, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the NHC,
would have broad discretion in dealing with such violations or failures, including, but not limited to:

*  revoking our business and operating licenses;

« discontinuing or restricting our operations;

» imposing fines or confiscating any of our income that they deem to have been obtained through illegal
operations;

* imposing conditions or requirements with which we or WFOE and the VIE may not be able to comply;

*  requiring us, WFOE and the VIE to restructure the relevant ownership structure or operations;
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» restricting or prohibiting our use of the proceeds from our initial public offering and the concurrent
private placement or other of our financing activities to finance the business and operations of the VIE
and its subsidiaries; or

« taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful to our business.

Any of these actions could cause significant disruption to our business operations, and may adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Although we believe we, our PRC subsidiaries and the VIE
are not in violation of current PRC laws and regulations, we cannot assure you that the PRC government would
agree that our contractual arrangements comply with PRC licensing, registration or other regulatory requirements,
with existing policies or with requirements or policies that may be adopted in the future. The PRC government
has broad discretion in determining rectifiable or punitive measures for non-compliance with or violations of PRC
laws and regulations. The PRC government could disallow the VIE structure, which would likely result in a
material change in our operations and/or value of our securities, including that it could cause the value of such
securities to significantly decline or become worthless. The VIE agreements have never been tested in a court of
law in China. If the PRC government deems that our contractual arrangements in relation to the VIE do not comply
with PRC regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if these regulations or the
interpretation of existing regulations change or are interpreted differently in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties or lose the ability to assert contractual control over the assets of the VIEs that conduct
substantially all of our operation. If the PRC government determines that we or the VIEs do not comply with
applicable law, it could revoke the VIEs’ business and operating licenses, require the VIEs to discontinue or
restrict the VIEs’ operations, restrict the VIEs’ right to collect revenues, block the VIEs’ online apps and websites,
require the VIEs to restructure our operations, impose additional conditions or requirements with which the VIEs
may not be able to comply, impose restrictions on the VIEs’ business operations, or take other regulatory or
enforcement actions against the VIEs that could be harmful to their business. Any of these or similar occurrences
could significantly disrupt our or the VIEs’ business operations or restrict the VIEs from conducting a substantial
portion of their business operations, which could materially and adversely affect the VIEs’ business, financial
condition and results of operations. If any of these occurrences results in our inability to govern the activities of
any of the VIEs that most significantly impact its economic performance, and/or our failure to receive the
economic benefits from the VIEs, we may not be able to consolidate the VIEs in our consolidated financial
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In addition, our ADSs may decline in value or become worthless if
we are unable to consolidate the VIE’s operations and financial results in our financial statements in accordance
with U.S. GAAP as the primary beneficiary since the VIEs conduct a significant part of our operations.

Our contractual arrangements with the VIE and its shareholders may not be as effective in providing
operational control or enabling us to derive economic benefits as a direct ownership of a controlling equity
interest would be.

The VIE and its subsidiaries are consolidated for accounting purposes only, and we do not own any equity interest
in any of these entities. We have relied and expect to continue to rely on contractual arrangements with the VIE,
its shareholders and subsidiaries to operate our business activities. These contractual arrangements may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing us with control over the VIE and its subsidiaries. For example, the VIE,
its subsidiaries or shareholders may fail to fulfil their contractual obligations with us or take other actions that are
detrimental to our interests.

If we had direct ownership of the VIE, we would be able to exercise our rights as shareholders to effect changes
in their board of directors, which in turn could implement changes, subject to any applicable fiduciary obligations,
at the management and operational level. However, under the current contractual arrangements, we rely on the
performance by the VIE, its subsidiaries and shareholders of their obligations under the contractual

arrangements to exercise control over the VIE and its subsidiaries. As a result, investors in our Company may
never directly control equity interests in the VIE and its subsidiaries. The shareholders of the VIE may not act in
the best interests of our company or may not perform their obligations under these contracts. These risks exist
throughout the period in which we intend to operate our business through the contractual arrangements with the
VIE, its subsidiaries and shareholders. If any of these shareholders is uncooperative or any dispute relating to
these contracts remains unresolved, we will have to enforce our rights under these contracts through the operations
of PRC laws and arbitration, litigation and other legal proceedings, the outcome of which will be subject to
uncertainties in the PRC legal system; we may also incur substantial costs to enforce the terms of the arrangements.
If we are unable to enforce the contractual arrangements or we experience significant delays or other obstacles in
the process of enforcing the contractual arrangements, we may not be able to exert effective control over the VIE
and may lose control over its assets. Therefore, our contractual arrangements with the VIE, its subsidiaries and
shareholders may not be as effective in ensuring our control over the relevant portion of our business operations
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as direct ownership would be.

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by the VIE that are critical to the operation of our business
if the VIE declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The VIE holds certain assets that are critical to the operation of our business. Under the contractual arrangements
entered into by WFOE, the VIE and its shareholders, the VIE may not and its shareholders may not cause it to,
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the legal or beneficial interest in the VIE. They also may
not allow any encumbrance of security interest over such equity interest, except for the equity interest pledge
agreement in the contractual arrangements, without WFOE’s prior written consent. However, if the shareholders
of the VIE or its subsidiaries breach the contractual arrangements and voluntarily liquidate the VIE or its
subsidiaries, or if the VIE or its subsidiaries declares bankruptcy and all or part of their assets become subject to
liens or rights of third-party creditors or are otherwise disposed of without our consent, we may be unable to
continue some or all of our business activities, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, if the VIE or its subsidiaries undergoes an involuntary liquidation proceeding,
third-party creditors may claim rights to some or all of its or their assets, thereby hindering our ability to operate
our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any failure by the VIE, its subsidiaries or shareholders to perform their obligations under our contractual
arrangements with them would have an adverse effect on our business.

Under the contractual arrangements entered into by WFOE, the VIE and its shareholders, these shareholders
covenanted that they will not request the VIE to distribute profit or dividends, raise shareholders’ resolution to
make such a distribution or vote in favour of any such relevant shareholders’ resolution without WFOE’s prior
written consent. If these shareholders receive any income, profit distribution or dividend, except as otherwise
determined by us, they must promptly transfer or pay such income, profit distribution or dividend to us or any
other person designated by us as service fees to the extent permitted under applicable PRC laws. If the shareholders
of the VIE breach the relevant covenants, we may need to resort to legal proceedings to enforce the terms of the
contractual arrangements. Any such legal proceedings may be costly and may divert our management’s time and
attention away from the operation of our business, and the outcome of such legal proceedings is uncertain.

The ultimate beneficial shareholders of the VIE may have conflicts of interest with us, which may adversely
affect our business.

The equity interests in the VIE are ultimately beneficially held by certain of our directors, indirect shareholders
and employees of these indirect shareholders. However, these ultimate beneficial shareholders may have potential
conflicts of interest with us. They may breach, or cause the VIE to breach, the contractual arrangements. We
cannot assure you that when conflicts arise, the ultimate beneficial shareholders of the VIE will act in the best
interests of our company or that conflicts will be resolved in our favour. If we cannot resolve any conflicts of
interest or disputes between us and these shareholders, we would have to rely on legal proceedings, which could
result in the disruption of our business and subject us to substantial uncertainty

as to the outcome of any such legal proceedings.

We conduct our business operations in the PRC through the VIE and its subsidiaries by way of our contractual
arrangements, but certain of the terms of our contractual arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC
laws.

All the agreements that constitute our contractual arrangements with the VIE, its subsidiaries and shareholders
are governed by PRC laws and provide for the resolution of disputes through arbitration in the PRC. Accordingly,
these agreements would be interpreted in accordance with PRC laws, and disputes would be resolved in
accordance with PRC legal procedures. The legal environment in the PRC is not as developed as in other
jurisdictions and uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit our ability to enforce the contractual
arrangements. If we are unable to enforce the contractual arrangements, or if we suffer significant time delays or
other obstacles in the process of enforcing them, it would be very difficult to exert effective control over the VIE
and its subsidiaries, and our ability to conduct our business and our financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

The contractual arrangements provide that (i) in the event of a mandatory liquidation required by PRC laws,
WFOE may act on behalf of the shareholders of the VIE to exercise all such rights associated with their equity

28



interest; and (ii) in such event, where PRC laws permit, any distribution the shareholders of the VIE are entitled
to receive, after deducting their initial capital contribution, will be transferred voluntarily to WFOE. Such
provision may not be enforceable under PRC laws in the event of a mandatory liquidation required by PRC laws
or bankruptcy liquidation.

Therefore, in the event of a breach of any agreements constituting the contractual arrangements by the VIE, its
subsidiaries and/or shareholders, we may not be able to exert effective control over the VIE due to the inability to
enforce the contractual arrangements, which could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business.

If we exercise the option to acquire the equity interest and assets of the VIE, this equity interest or asset transfer
may subject us to certain limitations and substantial costs.

Pursuant to the contractual arrangements, WFOE or its designated person has the irrevocable and exclusive right
to purchase all or any portion of the equity interests in the VIE from the VIE’s shareholders at any time and from
time to time in its absolute discretion to the extent permitted by PRC laws. The consideration WFOE pays for
such purchases will be an amount equal to then registered capital of the VIE multiplied by the percentage of

any equity interest to be purchased in proportion to the total equity interests of the VIE. But if applicable PRC
law contains a compulsory requirement regarding transfer of the equity interest, the WFOE or any third party
designated is entitled to pay the lowest price permitted by the PRC law as the purchase price. In addition, under
the contractual arrangements, WFOE or its designated party has the irrevocable and exclusive right, where
permitted by PRC law, to purchase from the VIE all or any portion of its assets, and the purchase price will be the
higher of (i) the net book value of the assets to be purchased and (ii) the lowest price permitted by applicable PRC
law.

Such transfer of equity or assets may be subject to approvals from, or filings with, competent PRC authorities,
such as the Ministry of Commerce, or MOFCOM, the State Administration for Market Regulation, or the SAMR,
and/or their local competent branches. In addition, the equity transfer price may be subject to review and tax
adjustment by the relevant tax authorities. The assets transfer price to be received by the VIE under the contractual
arrangements may also be subject to enterprise income tax, and these amounts could be substantial.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation of the Foreign Investment
Law and how it may affect the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance and business
operations.

On 15 March 2019, the Foreign Investment Law was formally passed by the thirteenth National People’s Congress
and it became effective on 1 January 2020. The Foreign Investment Law replaced the Law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures, the Law on Sino-Foreign Cooperative Joint Ventures and the Law on Foreign-Capital Enterprises
and became the legal foundation for foreign investment in the PRC. The Foreign Investment Law stipulates certain
forms of foreign investment. However, the Foreign Investment Law does not explicitly stipulate contractual
arrangements such as those we rely on as a form of foreign investment.

Notwithstanding the above, the Foreign Investment Law stipulates that foreign investment includes “foreign
investors investing through any other methods under laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by
the State Council.” Future laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may
possibly regard contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment. If this happens, it is uncertain whether
our contractual arrangements with the VIE, its subsidiaries and shareholders would be recognised as foreign
investment, or whether our contractual arrangements would be deemed to be in violation of the foreign investment
access requirements. As well as the uncertainty on how our contractual arrangements will be handled, there is
substantial uncertainty regarding the interpretation and the implementation of the Foreign Investment Law. The
relevant government authorities have broad discretion in interpreting the law. Therefore, there is no guarantee that
our contractual arrangements, the business of the VIE and our financial condition will not be adversely affected.

Depending on future developments under the new Foreign Investment Law, we could be required to unwind the
contractual arrangements and/or dispose of the VIE, which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial
conditions and result of operations. If our company no longer has a sustainable business after an unwinding or
disposal or when such requirements are not complied with, regulators in the U.S. or UK may take enforcement
actions against us, which may have an adverse effect on the trading of our ADSs or even result in delisting our
Company.

29



There may be a potential adverse impact to our company if our contractual arrangements with the VIE, its
subsidiaries and shareholders are not treated as domestic investment.

If the operation of our businesses conducted through the VIE is subject to any restrictions pursuant to the Negative
List or any successor regulations, and the contractual arrangements are not treated as domestic investment, the
contractual arrangements may be regarded as invalid and illegal. If this were to occur, we would not be able to
operate the relevant businesses through the contractual arrangements and would lose our rights to receive the
economic benefits of the VIE. As a result, we would no longer consolidate the financial results of the VIE into
our financial results and we would have to derecognise their assets and liabilities according to the relevant
accounting standards. If we do not receive any compensation, we would recognise an investment loss as a result
of such derecognition.

Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that we
owe additional taxes could adversely affect our results of operations and reduce the value of your investment.

Under PRC laws and regulations, arrangements and transactions among related parties may be subject to audit or
challenge by the PRC tax authorities within ten years after the taxable year during which arrangements and
transactions were concluded. The Enterprise Income Tax Law, or the EIT Law, requires every enterprise in China
to submit its annual enterprise income tax return, together with a report on transactions with its related

parties, to the relevant tax authorities. The tax authorities may impose reasonable adjustments on taxation if they
have identified any related party transactions that are inconsistent with arm’s-length principles. We may face
adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine that the contractual arrangements among our PRC
subsidiaries and the VIE do not represent an arm’s-length price and adjust the VIE’s income in the form of a
transfer pricing adjustment. A transfer pricing adjustment could, among other things, result in a reduction, for
PRC tax purposes, of expense deductions recorded by the VIE, which could in turn increase their tax liabilities.
In addition, the PRC tax authorities may impose late payment fees and other penalties to our PRC controlled
structured entities for under-paid taxes. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our tax liabilities
increase or if we are found to be subject to late payment fees or other penalties.

If the custodians or authorised users of our controlling non-tangible assets, including chops and seals, fail to
fulfill their responsibilities, or misappropriate or misuse these assets, our business and operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

Under the PRC law, legal documents for corporate transactions, including agreements and contracts such as the
leases and sales contracts that our business relies on, are executed using the chop or seal of the signing entity or
with the signature of a legal representative, whose designation is registered and filed with the relevant local branch
of the market supervision administration. In order to maintain the physical security of our chops and the chops of
our PRC entities, we generally store these items in secured locations accessible only by the authorised personnel
of each of our PRC subsidiary and the VIE. Although we monitor such authorised personnel, we cannot assure
you that such procedures will prevent all instances of abuse or negligence. Accordingly, if any of our authorised
personnel misuses or misappropriates our corporate chops or seals, or our corporate chops or seals are not kept
safely, stolen or otherwise used by unauthorised persons or for unauthorised purposes, we could encounter
difficulties in maintaining control over the relevant entities and experience significant disruption to our operations.
If a designated legal representative obtains control of the chops in an effort to obtain control over any of our PRC
subsidiary or the VIE, we, our PRC subsidiaries or the VIE would need to pass a new shareholder or board
resolution to designate a new legal representative and we would need to take legal action to seek the return of the
chops, apply for new chops with the relevant authorities, or otherwise seek legal redress for the violation of the
representative’s fiduciary duties to us, which could involve significant time and resources and divert management
attention away from our regular business. In addition, the affected entity may not be able to recover corporate
assets that are sold or transferred out of our control in the event of such a misappropriation if a transferee relies
on the apparent authority of the representative and acts in good faith.

Risks Relating to Doing Business in the PRC
Recent regulatory developments in China may subject us to additional regulatory review and disclosure
requirements, expose us to government interference, or otherwise restrict or completely hinder our ability to

offer securities and raise capitals outside China, all of which could materially and adversely affect our business,
and cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.
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As we mainly conduct our business in China, we may be subject to PRC laws relating to, among others, data
security and restrictions over foreign investments in scientific research and technical services and other industry
sectors set out in the Negative List (2021 Edition). Specifically, we may be subject to PRC laws relating to the
collection, use, sharing, retention security, and transfer of confidential and private information, such as personal
information and other data. These PRC laws apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of
information between us and our wholly foreign-owned enterprises in China, and other parties with which we have
commercial relations. These PRC laws and their interpretations and enforcement continue to develop and are
subject to change, and the PRC government may adopt other rules and restrictions in the future.

We are exposed to legal and operational risks associated with our operations in China. The PRC government has
significant authority to exert influence on the ability of a company with operations in China, including us, to
conduct its business. Changes in China’s economic, political or social conditions or government policies could
materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. We are subject to risks due to the uncertainty
of the interpretation and the application of the PRC laws and regulations, including but not limited to the risks of
uncertainty about any future actions of the PRC government on U.S. listed companies. We may also be subject to
sanctions imposed by PRC regulatory agencies, including the China Securities Regulatory Commission (the
“CSRC”), if we fail to comply with their rules and regulations. Any actions by the PRC government to exert more
oversight and control over offerings that are conducted overseas and/or foreign investment in companies having
operations in China, including us, could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to
offer securities to investors, and cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.
These China-related risks could result in a material change in our operations and/or the value of our securities, or
could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer securities to investors in the future and cause the
value of such securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

The PRC government may exert, at any time, substantial intervention and influence over the manner of our
operations. Recently, the PRC government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to regulate
business operations in China with little advance notice, including cracking down on illegal activities in the
securities market, enhancing supervision over China-based companies listed overseas, adopting new measures to
extend the scope of cybersecurity reviews and new laws and regulations related to data security, and expanding
the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement.

On 28 December 2021, the Cyberspace Administration of China (the “CAC”), and 12 other departments jointly
promulgated the newly revised Measures for Cybersecurity Review with effect from 15 February 2022
(“Measures”), which provides that (i) a critical information infrastructure operator (“CI10”) which intends to
purchase network products and services shall prejudge the possible risks to national security that may arise after
the products and services are put into use and where national security will or may be affected, the operator shall
apply with the Cybersecurity Review Office for cybersecurity review, and (ii) a network platform operator
(“NPQO”) that possesses more than one million users’ personal information must apply for cybersecurity review
when listing in a foreign country.

On 14 November 2021, the CAC publicly solicited opinions on the Regulations on the Administration of Cyber
Data Security (Draft for Comments) which expanded the scope of application of cybersecurity review, established
the data classified and graded protection system, and defined the relevant rules for cross-border security
management of data. It provides that data processors carrying out the following activities shall apply for
cybersecurity review: (i) merger, reorganisation or division of Internet platform operators that gather and possess
a large number of data resources having bearing on the national security, economic development or public
interests, which affects or may affect national security; (ii) listing in a foreign country of a data processor that
processes the personal information of more than one million persons; (iii) listing in Hong Kong of a data processor,
which affects or may affect national security; and (iv) other data processing activities that affect or may affect
national security.

According to the above provisions, we will be subject to cybersecurity review if we are identified as a CI10 or
NPO and our business affects or may affect national security, or we have more than one million users’ personal
information and plans to be listed abroad.

We and our PRC legal counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, are of the view that, as of the date of this Prospectus, the
possibility that we become identified as a CIlIO or NPO and accordingly would be subject to the cybersecurity
review pursuant to the relevant regulations and policies that have been issued by the CAC is relatively low, due
to the following reasons:
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i.  we have not received any CIIO identification notice as of the date of this Prospectus, which is required
to be issued in a timely manner by competent departments responsible for the security protection work
of critical information infrastructures after they have organised the CI10O identification in the industry in
accordance with the Regulations on the Security Protection of Critical Information Infrastructures;

ii. NPO is not defined in the Measures and even if a company has been identified as NPO, whether such a
company needs to be subject to cybersecurity review depends on whether it will “affect or may affect
national security.” As of the date of this Prospectus, we have not experienced any major information
security incident in relation to the theft, leakage, damage, illegal use or illegal export of data or personal
information. In addition, all the user data collected by us in business operation are stored in mainland
China; and

iii. we process no more than one million users’ personal information.

However, according to article 16 of the Measures, the member unit of the cybersecurity review work mechanism
(the “Cybersecurity Member Unit”) has the right to initiate review on network products and services and data
processing activities that it deems as “affect or may affect national security” at its own discretion. If the
Cybersecurity Member Unit decides to take a cybersecurity review on us and we fail such review, it could
significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer securities to investors and cause
the value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

Currently, the cybersecurity laws and regulations have not directly affected our business and operations, but in
anticipation of the strengthened implementation of cybersecurity laws and regulations and the expansion of our
business, we face potential risks if we are deemed as a Cl1O under the Cybersecurity Law. In such case, we must
fulfil certain obligations as required under the Cybersecurity Law and other applicable laws, including, among
others, storing personal information and important data collected and produced within the PRC territory during
our operations in China, which we are already doing in our business, and we may be subject to review when
purchasing internet products and services. As the amended Measures of Cybersecurity Review took effect in
February 2022, we may be subject to review when conducting data processing activities, and may face challenges
in addressing its requirements and make necessary changes to our internal policies and practices in data
processing. As of the date of this Prospectus, we have not been involved in any investigations on cybersecurity
review made by the CAC on such basis, and we have not received any inquiry, notice, warning, or sanctions in
such respect. Based on the foregoing, we and our PRC legal counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, do not expect that, as
of the date of this Prospectus, the current applicable PRC laws on cybersecurity would have a material adverse
impact on our business. After consulting with our PRC legal counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, we believe that we
are in compliance with regulations or policies that have been issued by the CAC as of the date of this Prospectus
in all material aspects, on the following bases: (i) we have set up internal cybersecurity regulations, including data
backup and recovery measures and disaster recovery measures; (ii) we have completed the Grade I11 information
security protection filing as required by the relevant regulations and policies issued by relevant authorities; (iii)
we inform our users and obtain their consent before collecting their personal information; (iv) we store relevant
information in our own servers within the PRC; (v) we have not been investigated or received any request from
any CAC authorities as of the date of this Prospectus; (vi) we have not been subject to any administrative penalties
regarding cybersecurity or data security issues as of the date of this Prospectus; and (vii) we have not been a party
to any litigation or arbitration regarding with cybersecurity or data security issues as of the date of this Prospectus.
As advised by Tian Yuan Law Firm, our PRC counsel, as of the date of this Prospectus, our proposed offering is
not subject to any review under the cybersecurity laws and regulations since we process no more than one million
users’ personal information and are not deemed as a CIIO or NPO.

On 1 September 2021, the PRC Data Security Law became effective, which imposes data security and privacy
obligations on entities and individuals conducting data-related activities, and introduces a data classification and
hierarchical protection system based on the importance of data in economic and social development, as well as
the degree of harm it will cause to national security, public interests, or legitimate rights and interests of
individuals or organisations when such data is tampered with, destroyed, leaked, or illegally acquired or used. As
of the date of this Prospectus, we have not been involved in any investigations on data security compliance made
in connection with the PRC Data Security Law, and we have not received any inquiry, notice, warning, or
sanctions in such respect. Based on the foregoing, we do not expect that, as of the date of this Prospectus, the PRC
Data Security Law would have a material adverse impact on our business.

On 6 July 2021, the relevant PRC governmental authorities published the Opinions on Strictly Cracking Down
Illegal Securities Activities in Accordance with the Law. These opinions emphasised the need to strengthen the
administration over illegal securities activities and the supervision on overseas listings by China-based companies
and proposed to take effective measures, such as promoting the construction of relevant regulatory systems to deal
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with the risks and incidents faced by China-based overseas-listed companies. As these opinions were recently
issued, official guidance and related implementation rules have not been issued yet and the interpretation of these
opinions remains unclear at this stage. As of the date of this Prospectus, we have not received any inquiry, notice,
warning, or sanctions from the CSRC or any other PRC government authorities. Based on the foregoing and the
currently effective PRC laws, we and our PRC legal counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, are of the view that, as of the
date of this Prospectus, these opinions do not have a material adverse impact on our business.

On 24 December 2021, the CSRC published the Provisions of the State Council on the Administration of Overseas
Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments), and Administrative Measures for
the Filing of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments)
(collectively, the “Draft Overseas Listing Regulations™), which set out the new regulatory requirements and
filing procedures for Chinese companies seeking direct or indirect listing in overseas markets. The Draft Overseas
Listing Regulations, among others, stipulate that Chinese companies that seek to offer and list securities in
overseas markets shall fulfil the filing procedures with and report relevant information to the CSRC, and that an
initial filing shall be submitted within three working days after the application for an initial public offering in an
overseas market is submitted, and a second filing shall be submitted within three working days after the listing is
completed. Moreover, an overseas offering and listing is prohibited under circumstances if (i) it is prohibited by
PRC laws, (ii) it may constitute a threat to or endanger national security as reviewed and determined by competent
PRC authorities, (iii) it has material ownership disputes over equity, major assets, and core technology, (iv) in
recent three years, the Chinese operating entities and their controlling shareholders and actual controllers have
committed relevant prescribed criminal offenses or are currently under investigations for suspicion of criminal
offenses or major violations, (v) the directors, supervisors, or senior executives have been subject to administrative
punishment for severe violations, or are currently under investigations for suspicion of criminal offenses or major
violations, or (vi) it has other circumstances as prescribed by the State Council. The Draft Overseas Listing
Regulations, among others, stipulate that when determining whether an offering and listing shall be deemed as
“an indirect overseas offering and listing by a Chinese company”, the principle of “substance over form” shall be
followed, and if the issuer meets the following conditions, its offering and listing shall be determined as an
“indirect overseas offering and listing by a Chinese company” and is therefore subject to the filing requirement:
(i) the revenues, profits, total assets or net assets of the Chinese operating entities in the most recent financial year
accounts for more than 50% of the corresponding data in the issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the same period; and (ii) the majority of senior management in charge of business operation are Chinese
citizens or have domicile in PRC, and its principal place of business is located in PRC or main business activities
are conducted in PRC. As advised by our PRC legal counsel, the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations were released
only for soliciting public comment at this stage and their provisions and anticipated adoption or effective date are
subject to changes, and thus their interpretation and implementation remain substantially uncertain. It is uncertain
whether the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations apply to the follow-on offerings or other offerings of the Chinese
companies that have been listed overseas. We cannot predict the impact of the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations
on us at this stage.

Since these statements and regulatory actions are new, it is highly uncertain how soon legislative or administrative
regulation making bodies will respond and what existing or new laws or regulations or detailed implementations
and interpretations will be modified or promulgated, if any, and the potential impact such modified or new laws
and regulations will have on our daily business operation, our ability to accept foreign investments and conduct
follow-on offerings, and listing or continuing listing on a U.S. or other foreign exchanges. In addition, the PRC
government has recently published new policies that significantly affected certain industries such as the education
and internet industries, and we cannot rule out the possibility that it will in the future release regulations or policies
regarding any other industry including the industry in which we operate, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to many of the economic and political risks associated with emerging markets due to our
operation in China. Adverse changes in the Chinese or global economic, political and social conditions as well
as government policies could adversely affect our business and prospects.

The majority of our operations are in China, one of the world’s largest emerging markets. In light of our operations
in an emerging market, we may be subject to risks and uncertainties including fluctuation in GDP, unfavourable
or unpredictable treatment in relation to tax matters, exchange controls, restrictions affecting our ability to make
cross-border transfer of funds, regulatory proceedings, inflation, currency fluctuations or the absence of, or
unexpected changes in, regulations and unforeseeable operational risks. In addition, our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations may be significantly influenced by political, economic and social
conditions in China generally and by continued economic growth in China.
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The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including the
amount of government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation
of resources. Although the PRC government has implemented measures that focus on taking into account market
forces to effect economic reform and aimed at reducing the state ownership of productive assets and establishing
improved corporate governance in business enterprises, a substantial portion of China’s productive assets are still
owned by the government.

In addition, the PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating development through industrial
policies. The PRC government exercises significant control over China’s economic growth through its allocation
of resources, control of payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations, monetary policy, and preferential
treatment for particular industries or companies. The enforcement of laws, the interpretation of rules and
regulations and the direction of government policies can change drastically and quickly with little advance notice
but with material and adverse effects for the relevant industries and companies. The Chinese government may
also intervene or influence over the companies’ operations, including companies that are listed overseas like us,
to a significant extent at any time with little advance notice. It may also exert more control over offerings
conducted overseas or foreign investments in China-based issuers like us, including disallowing he VIE structure.
Any actions by the Chinese government to exert more oversight and control over securities that are listed overseas
by China-based companies, or over foreign investment in China-based issuers, could significantly limit or
completely hinder our ability to continue to offer securities to investors and cause the value of such securities to
significantly decline or be worthless. The occurrence of any of the foregoing can result in a material change in
our business operations and a material and adverse impact on the value of our ADSs.

While the Chinese economy has experienced significant growth over the past decades, growth has been uneven,
both geographically and among various sectors of the economy. The PRC government has implemented various
measures to encourage economic growth and guide the allocation of resources. Some of these measures, which
may benefit the overall Chinese economy, may have a negative effect on us. For example, our financial condition
and results of operations may be adversely affected by government control over capital investments or changes in
tax regulations. In addition, the PRC government has from time to time implemented certain measures, including
interest rate changes, to control the pace of economic growth. These measures may cause decreased economic
activity in China, and, since 2012, the Chinese economy has slowed down. Any prolonged slowdown in the
Chinese economy may reduce the demand for our services and adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Geopolitical tensions have led to a worsening relationship between China and the United States and this
adverse trend may continue to deteriorate, which could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

Recently there have been heightened tensions in the trade and economic relations between the U.S. and China.
The U.S. government has imposed a series of, and proposed to impose additional, new or higher tariffs on products
imported from China to penalise China for what it characterises as unfair trade practices. China has responded by
imposing largely commensurate tariffs on products imported from the U.S. Amid these tensions, the U.S.
government has imposed and may impose additional measures on entities in China, including sanctions. Although
the U.S. and China signed the “Phase One” trade agreement in January 2020, we cannot assure you that a more
comprehensive trade deal will be agreed or that tariffs will not be imposed even if such an agreement is reached.
If any new tariffs, legislation and/or regulations are implemented, or if existing trade agreements are renegotiated
or, in particular, if the U.S. government takes retaliatory trade actions due to the recent U.S.-China trade tension,
and China further retaliates in response to new trade policies, treaties and tariffs implemented by the United States,
or even if there is news and rumours of any such escalation, it could introduce uncertainties to China’s economy
and the global economy, which in turn could affect our business. We currently source some of our reagents and
laboratory equipment from vendors based in the U.S. The U.S. government may prohibit these companies from
doing business with Chinese companies and the Chinese government may implement countermeasures. If this
were to happen, we may be required to seek substitute suppliers, which could adversely affect our operations.
Moreover, the potential increase in tariffs may also increase the costs we incur to purchase imported reagents and
laboratory equipment. In addition, as a biotechnology company with operations primarily based in China, our
international expansion plan to commercialise our products and services in, and export our products and services
to, the U.S. could be adversely affected by these or future trade developments. Our current or future operations in
the U.S. may be adversely affected by relationship between the two countries. In addition, increased protectionism
and the risk of global trade war, which result in weaker global trade and lower levels of economic activity, could
reduce the demand for our tests and adversely affect our business.
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In addition to trade disputes, political tensions between the United States and China have escalated in recent years
due to, among other things, the COVID-19 outbreak, data security and privacy, emerging technologies, “dual-
use” commercial technologies, applications that could be deployed for surveillance or military purposes,
import/export of technology, sanctions imposed by the U.S. Department of Treasury on certain officials of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the central government of the PRC and the executive orders issued
by former U.S. President Donald J. Trump in August 2020 that prohibit certain transactions with certain Chinese
companies and their applications. Throughout 2020 and 2021, the U.S. also imposed sanctions on additional
Chinese entities for their alleged involvement in various matters, including human rights violations in Xinjiang
Uyghur Autonomous Region, Communist Chinese military companies, and Hong Kong. In January 2021,
following a previous executive order issued by former U.S. President Trump, the New York Stock Exchange
further delisted three Chinese companies, after the U.S. Treasury designated them as Chinese “military
companies.” Rising political tensions could reduce levels of trades, investments, technological exchanges and
other economic activities between the two major economies, which would have a material adverse effect on global
economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets. The policies and measures directed at China
and Chinese companies could also discourage U.S. persons and organisations to work for, provide services to or
cooperate with Chinese companies, which could hinder our ability to hire or retain qualified personnel and find
suitable partners for our business. Furthermore, the adoption by the U.S. government of these policies and
measures against Chinese companies could negatively affect certain investors’ sentiment towards our ADSs and
their willingness to invest in or hold our ADSs, which may in turn have a negative impact on the trading price of
our ADSs in both the U.S. and UK. We cannot assure you that the current export controls or economic, trade or
other sanctions regulations will not have a negative impact on our business operations, or that the related trend
will not further deteriorate in the future. If any such deliberations or policies were to materialise, the resulting
legislation may have material and adverse impact on the stock performance of China-based issuers listed in the
United States or United Kingdom. Furthermore, policies of the United States tend to be followed by certain other
countries, and these countries may adopt similar policies regarding their relationships with China or against
Chinese companies and restricting their operations.

Uncertainties in the interpretation and enforcement of PRC laws and regulations could limit the legal
protections available to you and us.

The PRC legal system is a civil law system based on written statutes. Unlike common law systems, it is a system
in which prior court decisions have limited value as precedents. Our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs are subject to
various PRC laws and regulations generally applicable to companies in China. However, since these laws and
regulations are relatively new and the PRC legal system continues to rapidly evolve, their interpretation is not
always consistent and their enforcement involves uncertainties.

In particular, PRC laws and regulations concerning the cancer genotyping industry are developing and evolving.
Although we have taken measures to comply with the laws and regulations applicable to our business operations
and to avoid conducting any non-compliant activities under these laws and regulations, the PRC governmental
authorities may promulgate new laws and regulations regulating cancer genotyping industries, some of which may
have a retroactive effect. We cannot assure you that our business operations would not be deemed to violate any
such new PRC laws or regulations. Moreover, developments in the cancer genotyping industry may lead to
changes in PRC laws, regulations and policies or in the interpretation and application of existing laws, regulations
and policies, which in turn may limit or restrict us, and could adversely affect our business and operations.

From time to time, we may have to rely on administrative and court proceedings to enforce our legal rights.
However, since the PRC administrative and court authorities have significant discretion in interpreting and
implementing statutory and contractual terms, it may be more difficult to evaluate the outcome of administrative
and court proceedings and the level of legal protection we enjoy than in more developed legal systems.
Furthermore, the PRC legal system is based in part on government policies and internal rules (some of which are
not published in a timely manner or at all) that may have a retroactive effect. As a result, we may not be aware of
our violation of these policies and rules until sometime after the violation. These types of uncertainties, including
uncertainty over the scope and effect of our contractual, property (including intellectual property) and procedural
rights, and any failure to respond to changes in the regulatory environment in China, could adversely affect our
business and impede our ability to continue our operations, and may further affect the legal remedies and
protections available to investors, which may, in turn, adversely affect the value of your investment.

We may be classified as a “PRC resident enterprise” for PRC enterprise income tax purposes, which could
result in unfavourable tax consequences to us and our non-PRC shareholders or ADS holders.
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Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation rules, an enterprise established outside of the
PRC with a “de facto management body” within the PRC is considered a resident enterprise and will be subject
to enterprise income tax on its global income at the rate of 25%. The related implementation rules define the term
“de facto management body” as the body that exercises full and substantial control over, and overall management
of, the business, productions, personnel, accounts and properties of an enterprise. In April 2009, the State
Administration of Taxation, or the SAT, issued a circular, known as Circular 82, which provides certain specific
criteria for determining whether the “de facto management body” of a PRC-controlled enterprise that is
incorporated offshore is located in China. Although Circular 82 only applies to offshore enterprises controlled by
PRC enterprises or PRC enterprise groups, not those controlled by PRC individuals or foreigners, the criteria set
forth in Circular 82 may reflect the SAT’s general position on how the “de facto management body” test should
be applied in determining the tax resident status of all offshore enterprises. According to Circular 82, an offshore-
incorporated enterprise controlled by a PRC enterprise or a PRC enterprise group will be regarded as a PRC tax
resident by virtue of having its “de facto management body” in China. It will be subject to PRC enterprise income
tax on its global income only if all of the following conditions are met: (i) the primary location of the day-to-day
operational management is in the PRC; (ii) decisions relating to the enterprise’s financial and human resource
matters are made or are subject to approval by organisations or personnel in the PRC; (iii) the enterprise’s primary
assets, accounting books and records, company seals, and board and shareholder resolutions are located or
maintained in the PRC; and (iv) at least 50% of voting board members or senior executives habitually reside in
the PRC.

We believe none of our entities outside of China is a PRC resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes. However, the
tax resident status of an enterprise is subject to determination by the PRC tax authorities and uncertainties remain
with respect to the interpretation of the term “de facto management body.” As substantially all of our management
members are based in China, it remains unclear how the tax residency rule would apply in our case. If the PRC
tax authorities determine that we or any of our subsidiaries outside of China is a PRC resident enterprise for PRC
enterprise income tax purposes, then we or such subsidiary could be subject to PRC tax at a rate of 25% on its
worldwide income, which could reduce our net income. In addition, we would also be subject to PRC enterprise
income tax reporting obligations. Furthermore, if the PRC tax authorities determine that we are a PRC resident
enterprise for enterprise income tax purposes, dividends paid by us and gains realised on the sale or other
disposition of our ordinary shares or ADSs may be subject to PRC tax, at a rate of 10% in the case of non-PRC
enterprises or 20% in the case of non-PRC individuals (in each case, subject to the provisions of any applicable
tax treaty), if such dividends and gains are deemed to be from PRC sources. It is unclear whether non-PRC
shareholders of our company, including the holders of our ADSs, would be able to claim the benefits of any tax
treaties between their country of tax residence and the PRC in the event that we are treated as a PRC resident
enterprise. Any such tax may reduce the returns on your investment in our ADSs.

We may rely on dividends and other distributions from our subsidiaries in China to fund our cash and
financing requirements, and any limitation on the ability of our subsidiaries to make payments to us could
adversely affect our ability to conduct our business.

As a holding company, we conduct most of our business through our subsidiaries incorporated in China. We may
rely on dividends paid by these PRC subsidiaries for our cash needs, including the funds necessary to pay any
dividends and other cash distributions to our shareholders, to service any debt we may incur and to pay our
operating expenses. The payment of dividends by entities established in China is subject to limitations.

Regulations in China currently permit payment of dividends only out of accumulated profits as determined in
accordance with accounting standards and regulations in China. As a result, our PRC subsidiaries are restricted in
their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to us in the form of dividends. In addition, if any of our PRC
subsidiaries incurs debt on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict its ability
to pay dividends or make other distributions to us. Any limitations on the ability of our PRC subsidiaries to transfer
funds to us could adversely limit our ability to grow, make investments or acquisitions that could be beneficial to
our business, pay dividends and otherwise fund and conduct our business.

Our PRC subsidiaries generate primarily all of their revenue in Renminbi, which is not freely convertible into
other currencies. As a result, any restriction on currency exchange may limit the ability of our PRC subsidiaries
to use their Renminbi revenues to pay dividends to us.

Historically, in response to the persistent capital outflow and the Renminbi’s depreciation against the U.S. dollar

in 2016, the People’s Bank of China, or the PBOC, and the State Administration of Foreign Exchange, or
(“SAFE”), have implemented a series of capital control measures, including stricter vetting procedures for China-
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based companies to remit foreign currency for overseas acquisitions, dividend payments and shareholder loan
repayments. The PRC government may continue to strengthen its capital controls and our PRC subsidiary’s
dividends and other distributions may be subjected to tighter scrutiny. Any limitation on the ability of our PRC
subsidiary to pay dividends or make other distributions to us could adversely limit our ability to grow, make
investments or acquisitions that could be beneficial to our business, pay dividends, or otherwise fund and conduct
our business.

In addition, the EIT Law and its implementation rules provide that a withholding tax rate of up to 10% will be
applicable to dividends payable by Chinese companies to non-PRC resident enterprises unless otherwise exempted
or reduced according to treaties or arrangements between the PRC central government and governments of other
countries or regions where the non-PRC resident enterprises are incorporated.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and the value of your
investment.

The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies, including U.S. dollars, is based on rates set by the People’s Bank
of China. The RMB has fluctuated against the U.S. dollar, at times significantly and unpredictably. The value of
RMB against the U.S. dollar and other currencies is affected by changes in China’s political and economic
conditions and by China’s foreign exchange policies, among other things. We cannot assure you that RMB will
not appreciate or depreciate significantly in value against the U.S. dollar in the future. It is difficult to predict how
market forces or PRC or U.S. government policy may impact the exchange rate between RMB and the U.S. dollar
in the future.

Substantially all of our revenue and costs are denominated in Renminbi. We are a holding company and we rely
on dividends paid by our operating subsidiaries in China for our cash needs. Any significant appreciation or
depreciation of RMB may materially and adversely affect our revenues, earnings and financial position, and the
value of, and any dividends payable on, our ADSs in U.S. dollars. For example, to the extent that we need to
convert U.S. dollars we receive into RMB to pay our operating expenses, appreciation of RMB against the U.S.
dollar would have an adverse effect on the RMB amount we would receive from the conversion. Conversely, a
significant depreciation of RMB against the U.S. dollar may significantly reduce the U.S. dollar equivalent of our
earnings, which in turn could adversely affect the price of our ADSs.

Very limited hedging options are available in China to reduce our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. To date,
we have not entered into any hedging transactions in an effort to reduce our exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk. While we may decide to enter into hedging transactions in the future, the availability and effectiveness of
these hedges may be limited and we may not be able to adequately hedge our exposure or at all. In addition, our
currency exchange losses may be magnified by PRC exchange control regulations that restrict our ability to
convert RMB into foreign currency. As a result, fluctuations in exchange rates may have a material adverse effect
on your investment.

The PRC government’s control of foreign currency conversion may limit our foreign exchange transactions,
including dividend payments on our ordinary shares.

The PRC government imposes controls on the convertibility of the Renminbi into foreign currencies and, in certain
cases, the remittance of currency out of China. We receive substantially all of our revenues in Renminbi. Under
our current corporate structure, our company in the Cayman Islands relies on dividend payments indirectly from
our PRC subsidiaries to fund any cash and financing requirements we may have. Under existing PRC foreign
exchange regulations, payments of current account items, such as profit distributions and trade and service-related
foreign exchange transactions, can be made in foreign currencies without prior approval from SAFE, by
complying with certain procedural requirements. Therefore, our PRC subsidiaries are able to pay dividends in
foreign currencies to us without prior approval from SAFE, subject to the condition that the remittance of such
dividends outside of the PRC complies with certain procedures under PRC foreign exchange regulation. However,
approval from or registration with appropriate governmental authorities or commercial banks authorised by such
authorities is required where Renminbi is to be converted into foreign currency and remitted out of China to pay
capital expenses, such as the repayment of loans denominated in foreign currencies.

In light of strong capital outflows from China in 2016, the PRC government has imposed more restrictive foreign
exchange policies and stepped up its scrutiny of major outbound capital movements. More restrictions and
substantial vetting processes have been put in place by SAFE to regulate cross-border capital account transactions.
The PRC government may at its discretion further restrict access to foreign currencies in the future for current
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account transactions. If the foreign exchange control system prevents us from obtaining sufficient foreign
currencies to satisfy our foreign currency demands, we may not be able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to
our shareholders.

Furthermore, as the interpretation and implementation of these foreign exchange regulations has been constantly
evolving, it is unclear how these regulations, and any future regulations concerning offshore or cross-border
transactions, will be interpreted, amended and implemented by the relevant government authorities. For example,
we may be subject to a more stringent review and approval process with respect to our foreign exchange activities,
such as remittance of dividends and foreign-currency-denominated borrowings, which may adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if we decide to acquire a PRC domestic company, we
cannot assure you that we or the owners of such company will be able to obtain the necessary approvals or
complete the necessary filings and registrations required by the foreign exchange regulations. This may restrict
our ability to implement our acquisition strategy and could adversely affect our business and prospects.

Inflation in the PRC could negatively affect our profitability and growth.

The economy of China has experienced significant growth, which has from time to time lead to significant
inflation. China’s overall economy is expected to continue to grow. Future increases in China’s inflation may
adversely affect our profitability and results of operations.

PRC regulation of loans to and direct investments in PRC entities by offshore holding companies may delay or
prevent us from making loans or additional capital contributions to our subsidiaries, which could adversely
affect our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business.

We are an offshore holding company conducting our operations in China through our PRC subsidiaries. We may
make loans to our PRC subsidiaries or we may make additional capital contributions to our wholly foreign-owned
subsidiaries in China. Any loans by us to our wholly foreign-owned subsidiaries in China to finance their activities
cannot exceed statutory limits and must be registered with the local counterpart of the PRC State Administration
of Foreign Exchange, or the SAFE. In addition, a foreign invested enterprise shall use its capital pursuant to the
principle of authenticity and self-use within its business scope.

In March 2015, the SAFE promulgated the Circular on Reforming the Administration Measures on Conversion
of Foreign Exchange Registered Capital of Foreign-invested Enterprises, or SAFE Circular 19, which took effect
and replaced certain previous SAFE regulations from June 1, 2015. The SAFE further promulgated the Circular
of the SAFE on Reforming and Regulating Policies on the Control over Foreign Exchange Settlement of Capital
Accounts, or SAFE Circular 16, which took effective on 9 June 2016 and, among other things, amended certain
provisions of SAFE Circular 19. According to SAFE Circular 19 and SAFE Circular 16, the flow and use of the
Renminbi capital converted from foreign currency-denominated registered capital of a foreign-invested company
is regulated such that Renminbi capital may not be used for business beyond its business scope, or to provide
loans to persons other than affiliates, unless otherwise permitted under its business scope. SAFE Circular 19 and
SAFE Circular 16 may limit our ability to transfer the net proceeds from our initial public offering and the
concurrent private placement to our PRC subsidiaries and convert the net proceeds into RMB.

In light of the various requirements imposed by PRC regulations on loans to and direct investment in PRC entities
by offshore holding companies, we cannot assure you that we will be able to complete the necessary government
registrations or obtain the necessary government approvals on a timely basis, if at all, with respect to future loans
to our PRC subsidiaries or future capital contributions by us to our wholly foreign-owned subsidiaries in China.
As a result, uncertainties exist as to our ability to provide prompt financial support to our PRC subsidiaries when
needed. If we fail to complete such registrations or obtain such approvals, our ability to use the proceeds we
received from our initial public offering and the concurrent private placement and to capitalise or otherwise fund
our PRC operations may be negatively affected, which could adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to fund
and expand our business.

The M&A Rules and certain other PRC regulations establish complex procedures for some acquisitions of
Chinese companies by foreign investors, which could make it more difficult for us to pursue growth through
acquisitions in China.

The M&A Rules and some other regulations and rules concerning mergers and acquisitions, have established

complex procedures and requirements that restrict merger and acquisition activities by foreign investors. For
example, when a foreign investor takes control of a PRC enterprise, it must notify MOFCOM in advance of such
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change-of-control transaction. Moreover, the Anti-Monopoly Law requires that the anti-trust governmental
authority be notified in advance of any concentration of undertaking if certain thresholds are triggered. The
security review rules issued by MOFCOM, which became effective in September 2011, specify that certain
mergers and acquisitions by foreign investors, for example those that raise “national defense and security”
concerns or through which foreign investors may acquire de facto control over domestic enterprises and therefore
raise “national security” concerns, are subject to its review. Those rules prohibit any activities attempting to bypass
security review, for example by structuring a transaction through a proxy or contractual control arrangements. We
may grow our business by acquiring other companies operating in our industry. Complying with the requirements
of the regulations described above and other relevant rules to complete these transactions could be time-
consuming, and any required approval processes, including obtaining approval from MOFCOM or its local
counterparts, may delay or inhibit our ability to complete these transactions, which could affect our ability to
expand our business or maintain our market share. Furthermore, according to the M&A Rules, if a PRC entity or
individual plans to merger or acquire its related PRC entity through an overseas company legitimately
incorporated or controlled by such entity or individual, such a merger and acquisition will be subject to
examination and approval by MOFCOM. The application and interpretations of M&A Rules are still uncertain,
and there is possibility that the relevant PRC regulators may promulgate new rules or explanations requiring that
we obtain approval of MOFCOM for our completed or ongoing mergers and acquisitions. There is no assurance
that we can obtain MOFCOM approval for our mergers and acquisitions, and if we fail to obtain those approvals,
we may be required to suspend our acquisition and be subject to penalties. Any uncertainties regarding such
governmental approval requirements could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
corporate structure.

The heightened scrutiny over acquisition transactions by the PRC tax authorities may have a negative impact
on our business operations, our acquisition or restructuring strategy or the value of your investment in us.

Pursuant to the Notice on Strengthening Administration of Enterprise Income Tax for Share Transfers by Non-
PRC Resident Enterprises, or Circular 698, issued by the SAT, which became effective retroactively as of January
1, 2008, if a non-resident enterprise investor transfers equity interest in a PRC resident enterprise indirectly by
way of disposing of equity interest in an overseas holding company, the non-resident enterprise investor, being
the transferor, may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax, if the indirect transfer is considered to be an abusive
use of company structure without reasonable commercial purposes. As a result, gains derived from such indirect
transfers may be subject to PRC withholding tax at a rate of up to 10%. In addition, the relevant PRC resident
enterprise may be required to provide necessary assistance to support the enforcement of Circular 698.

On February 3, 2015, the SAT issued a Public Notice Regarding Certain Corporate Income Tax Matters on Indirect
Transfer of Properties by Non-Tax Resident Enterprises, or Public Notice 7. Public Notice 7 introduces a new tax
regime that is significantly different from Circular 698. Public Notice 7 extends tax jurisdiction to not only indirect
transfers set forth under Circular 698 but also to transactions involving the transfer of other taxable assets made
through the offshore transfer of a foreign intermediate holding company. In addition, Public Notice 7 provides
clearer criteria than Circular 698 on how to assess reasonable commercial purposes and has introduced safe
harbors for internal group restructurings and the purchase and sale of equity through a public securities market.
Public Notice 7 has new requirements for both foreign transferors and the transferees (or other person who is
obligated to pay for the transfer) of the taxable assets. If a non-resident enterprise conducts an “indirect transfer”
by transferring the taxable assets indirectly by disposing of the equity interest of an overseas holding company,
then the non-resident enterprise, as the transferor, or the transferee or the PRC entity, which directly owned the
taxable assets, must report to the relevant tax authority such indirect transfer. As a result, gains derived from such
indirect transfer may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax, and the transferee or other person who is obligated
to pay for the transfer is obligated to withhold the applicable taxes, currently at a rate of up to 10% for the transfer
of equity interest in a PRC resident enterprise. Both the transferor and the transferee may be subject to penalties
under PRC tax laws if the transferee fails to withhold the taxes and the transferor fails to pay the taxes.

On 17 October 2017, the SAT issued a Public Notice on Issues Concerning the Withholding of Non-resident
Enterprise Income Tax at Source, or Public Notice 37, which, among others, repealed the Circular 698 on 1
December 2017. Public Notice 37 further details and clarifies the tax withholding methods in respect of income
of non-resident enterprises under Circular 698. And certain rules stipulated in Public Notice 7 are replaced by
Public Notice 37. Where the non-resident enterprise fails to declare the tax payable pursuant to Article 39 of the
Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax authority may order it to pay the tax due within required time limits, and the
non-resident enterprise is required to declare and pay the tax payable within such time limits specified by the tax
authority; however, if the non-resident enterprise voluntarily declares and pays the tax payable before the tax
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authority orders it to do so within required time limits, it will be deemed that such enterprise has paid the tax in
time.

We face uncertainties as to the reporting and other implications of certain past and future transactions where PRC
taxable assets are involved, such as offshore restructuring, sale of the shares in our offshore subsidiaries and
investments. We may be subject to filing obligations or taxed if we are the transferor in such transactions, and we
may be subject to withholding obligations if we are the transferee in such transactions, under Public Notice 7 and
Public Notice 37. For transfer of shares in our company by investors who are non-PRC resident enterprises, our
PRC subsidiary may be requested to assist in the filing under Public Notice 7 and Public Notice 37. As a result,
we may be required to expend valuable resources to comply with Public Notice 7 and Public Notice 37 or to
request the relevant transferors from whom we purchase taxable assets to comply with these notices, or to establish
that our company should not be taxed under these notices, which may have an adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

You may be subject to PRC income tax on dividends from us or on any gain realised on the transfer of our
ADSs.

Under the EIT Law and its implementation rules, PRC withholding tax at the rate of 10% is generally applicable
to dividends from PRC sources paid to investors that are resident enterprises outside of China and that do not have
an establishment or place of business in China, or that have an establishment or place of business in China but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business. Any gain realised on the
transfer of shares by such investors is subject to 10% PRC income tax if this gain is regarded as income derived
from sources within China. Under the PRC Individual Income Tax Law and its implementation rules, dividends
from sources within China paid to foreign individual investors who are not PRC residents are generally subject to
a PRC withholding tax at a rate of 20% and gains from PRC sources realised by these investors on the transfer of
shares are generally subject to 20% PRC income tax. Any such PRC tax liability may be reduced by the provisions
of an applicable tax treaty.

Although substantially all of our business operations are in China, it is unclear whether the dividends we pay with
respect to our shares or ADSs, or the gains realised from the transfer of our shares or ADSs, would be treated as
income derived from sources within China and as a result be subject to PRC income tax if we are considered a
PRC resident enterprise. If PRC income tax is imposed on gains realised through the transfer of our ADSs or on
dividends paid to our non-resident investors, the value of your investment in our ADSs may be adversely affected.
Furthermore, our shareholders whose jurisdictions of residence have tax treaties or arrangements with China may
not qualify for benefits under these tax treaties or arrangements.

In addition, pursuant to the Double Tax Avoidance Arrangement between Hong Kong and China, or the Double
Tax Avoidance Treaty, and the Notice on Certain Issues with Respect to the Enforcement of Dividend Provisions
in Tax Treaties, or the Notice on Tax Treaties, issued on February 20, 2009 by the SAT, if a Hong Kong resident
enterprise owns more than 25% of the equity interest of a PRC company at all times during the twelve-month
period immediately prior to obtaining a dividend from such company, the 10% withholding tax on such dividend
is reduced to 5%, provided that certain other conditions and requirements under the Double Tax Avoidance Treaty
and other applicable PRC laws are satisfied at the discretion of the relevant PRC tax authority. However, based
on the Notice on Tax Treaties, if the relevant PRC tax authorities determine, in their discretion, that a company
benefits from such reduced income tax rate due to a structure or arrangement that is primarily tax-driven, the PRC
tax authorities may adjust the preferential tax treatment. Based on the Notice on Issues concerning Beneficial
Owner in Tax Treaties, or Circular 9, issued on 3 February 2018 by the SAT and effective on 1 April 2018, when
determining the applicant’s status as a “beneficial owner” for purpose of tax treatments in connection with
dividends, interests or royalties in the tax treaties, several factors will be taken into account, and it will be analysed
according to the actual circumstances of the specific cases. If our Hong Kong subsidiary is determined by PRC
government authorities as receiving benefits from reduced income tax rates due to a structure or arrangement that
is primarily tax-driven, the dividends paid by our PRC subsidiaries to our Hong Kong subsidiary will be taxed at
a higher rate, which will have an adverse effect on our financial and operational conditions.

We may be subject to penalties, including restrictions on our ability to inject capital into our PRC subsidiaries
and on our PRC subsidiaries’ ability to distribute profits to us, if our PRC resident shareholders or beneficial

owners fail to comply with relevant PRC foreign exchange regulations.

SAFE has promulgated several regulations that require PRC residents and PRC corporate entities to register with
and obtain approval from local branches of SAFE in connection with their direct or indirect offshore investment
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activities. The Circular on Relevant Issues Relating to Domestic Resident’s Investment and Financing and
Roundtrip Investment through Special Purpose Vehicles, or SAFE Circular 37, was promulgated by SAFE in July
2014. SAFE Circular 37 requires PRC residents or entities to register with SAFE or its local branch in connection
with their establishment, or control of an offshore entity established, for the purpose of overseas investment or
financing. According to the Circular of Further Simplifying and Improving the Policies of Foreign Exchange
Administration Applicable to Direct Investment released in February 2015 by SAFE, local banks will examine
and handle foreign exchange registration for overseas direct investment, including the initial foreign exchange
registration and amendment registration, under SAFE Circular 37 from June 2015. These regulations apply to our
shareholders who are PRC residents and may also apply to any offshore acquisitions or investments that we make
in the future.

Under these foreign exchange regulations, PRC residents who make, or have previously made, prior to the
implementation of these foreign exchange regulations, direct or indirect investments in offshore companies are
required to register those investments. In addition, any PRC resident who is a direct or indirect shareholder of an
offshore company is required to update its previously filed SAFE registration, to reflect any material change
involving its round-trip investment. If any PRC shareholder fails to make the required registration or update the
previously filed registration, the PRC subsidiary of that offshore parent company may be restricted from
distributing their profits and the proceeds from any reduction in capital, share transfer or liquidation to their
offshore parent company, and the offshore parent company may also be restricted from injecting additional capital
into its PRC subsidiary. Moreover, failure to comply with the various foreign exchange registration requirements
described above could result in liability under PRC laws for evasion of applicable foreign exchange restrictions,
including (i) the requirement by SAFE to return the foreign exchange remitted overseas or into the PRC within a
period of time specified by SAFE, with a fine of up to 30% of the total amount of foreign exchange remitted
overseas or into PRC and deemed to have been evasive or illegal and (ii) in circumstances involving serious
violations, a fine of no less than 30% of and up to the total amount of remitted foreigh exchange deemed evasive
or illegal.

We are committed to complying with and to ensuring that our shareholders who are subject to these regulations
will comply with the relevant SAFE rules and regulations. However, due to the inherent uncertainty in the
implementation of the regulatory requirements by the PRC authorities, such registration might not be always
practically available in all circumstances as prescribed in those regulations. In addition, we may not always be
able to compel them to comply with SAFE Circular 37 or other related regulations. We cannot assure you that
SAFE or its local branches will not release explicit requirements or interpret the relevant PRC laws and regulations
otherwise. In addition, we may not be fully informed of the identities of all our shareholders or beneficial owners
who are PRC residents, and we cannot provide any assurance that all of our shareholders and beneficial owners
who are PRC residents will comply with our request to make, obtain or update any applicable registrations or
comply with other requirements under SAFE Circular 37 or other related rules in a timely manner.

Because there is uncertainty concerning the reconciliation of these foreign exchange regulations with other
approval requirements, it is unclear how these regulations, and any future regulation concerning offshore or cross-
border transactions, will be interpreted, amended and implemented by the relevant governmental authorities. We
cannot predict how these regulations will affect our business operations or future strategy. For example, we may
be subject to a more stringent review and approval process with respect to our foreign exchange activities, such
as remittance of dividends and foreign-currency-denominated borrowings, which may adversely affect our results
of operations and financial condition. This may restrict our ability to implement our acquisition strategy and could
adversely affect our business and prospects.

Any failure to comply with PRC regulations regarding our employee share incentive plans or share option
plans may subject plan participants, who are PRC residents, or us to fines and other legal or administrative
sanctions.

In February 2012, SAFE promulgated the Notices on Issues Concerning the Foreign Exchange Administration for
Domestic Individuals Participating in Stock Incentive Plans of Overseas Publicly-Listed Companies, or SAFE
Circular 7. SAFE Circular 7 and other relevant rules and regulations require PRC residents who participate in a
stock incentive plan in an overseas publicly tradeable company to register with SAFE or its local branches or the
banks and complete certain other procedures. Participants in a stock incentive plan who are PRC residents must
retain a qualified PRC agent to conduct the SAFE registration and other procedures with respect to the stock
incentive plan on behalf of its participants. Such participants must also retain an overseas entrusted institution to
handle matters in connection with their exercise of stock options, the purchase and sale of corresponding stocks
or interests and fund transfers. In addition, the PRC agent must amend the SAFE registration with respect to the
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plan within three months if there is any material change to the stock incentive plan, the PRC agent, or the overseas
entrusted institution, or if there are any other material changes in the plan. In addition, SAFE Circular 37 and other
relevant rules and regulations stipulate that PRC residents who participate in a share incentive plan of an overseas
non-publicly tradeable special purpose company must register with SAFE or its local branches or the banks before
they exercise the share options. We and our PRC employees who have been granted share options and restricted
shares are subject to these regulations. We have applied for such registration. Failure of our PRC share option
holders or restricted shareholders to complete their SAFE registrations may subject them to fines and legal
sanctions, and may also limit our ability to contribute additional capital into our PRC subsidiary, limit our PRC
subsidiary’s ability to distribute dividends to us, or otherwise adversely affect our business.

The SAT has also issued rules and regulations concerning employee share incentives. Under these rules and
regulations, our employees working in the PRC will be subject to PRC individual income tax upon exercise of the
share options and/or grant of the restricted shares. Our PRC subsidiaries have obligations to file documents with
respect to the granted share options and/or restricted shares with relevant tax authorities and to withhold individual
income taxes for their employees upon exercise of the share options and/or grant of the restricted shares. If our
employees fail to pay or we fail to withhold their individual income taxes according to relevant rules and
regulations, we may face sanctions imposed by the competent governmental authorities.

Our leased property interests may be defective and our right to lease the properties affected by defects may be
challenged, which could cause disruption to our business.

As of the date of this Prospectus, we leased properties for our offices and branch offices in China. Under PRC
laws, all lease agreements must be registered with the local housing authorities. As of the date of this Prospectus,
none of the premises we lease have completed the registration of our leases with the local housing authorities.
Failure to complete these registrations may expose us to potential monetary fines up to RMB10,000 per unit
leasehold.

We may be subject to penalties under relevant PRC laws and regulations due to failure to be in full compliance
with social insurance and housing provident fund regulation.

According to the Social Insurance Law of the PRC promulgated in 2010 and most recently amended in 2018 and
the Regulations on Management of Housing Provident Funds promulgated in 1999 and most recently amended in
2019, within a prescribed time limit, we need to register with the relevant social security authority and housing
provident fund management centre, and to open the relevant accounts and make full contributions for social
insurance and housing funds for our employees, and this obligation cannot be delegated to any third party.

Our contributions for some of our employees to the social insurance and housing funds may not have been in
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations. Some of our subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities
engaged third-party human resources agencies to pay social insurance and housing funds for some of their
employees. As of the date of this Prospectus, none of these subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities had
received any notice from the local authorities or any claim or request from these employees in this regard. Under
the agreements entered into between the third-party human resources agencies and our relevant subsidiaries or
consolidated affiliated entities, the third-party human resources agencies have the obligations to pay social
insurance premium and housing provident funds for our relevant employees. However, if the human resource
agencies fail to pay the social insurance or housing fund contributions for and on behalf of our employees as
required under applicable PRC laws and regulations, we may be subject to penalties imposed by the local social
insurance authorities and the local housing fund management centres for failing to discharge our obligations in
relation to payment of social insurance and housing funds as an employer.

On 20 July 2018, the General Office of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the General
Office of the State Council of the PRC issued the Reform Plan of the State Tax and Local Tax Collection
Administration System, or the Tax Reform Plan. Under the Tax Reform Plan, commencing from 1 January 2019,
tax authorities are responsible for the collection of social insurance contributions in the PRC. The effect of the
Tax Reform Plan is still uncertain. We cannot assure that we will not be required to pay any deemed shortfalls or
be subject to penalties or fines regarding social security insurance and housing provident funds contributions, any
of which may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

You may experience difficulties in effecting service of legal process, enforcing foreign judgments or bringing

actions in China against us, our directors or our management named in this Prospectus based on foreign laws,
and the ability of U.S. authorities to bring actions in China may also be limited.
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We are an exempted company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, and we
conduct substantially all of our operations in China and substantially all of our assets are located in China. In
addition, most of our directors and senior executive officers are nationals or residents in China. As a result, it may
be difficult for you to effect service of process upon us or those persons in China. It may also be difficult for you
to enforce in the U.S. courts or courts of many other jurisdictions judgments obtained in the U.S. courts or courts
of many other jurisdictions based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or the
comparable laws of many other jurisdictions against us and our directors and officers who reside and whose assets
are located in China. There is also uncertainty as to whether the courts of the Cayman Islands or the PRC would
recognise or enforce judgments of the U.S. courts or courts of

many other jurisdictions against us or such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities
laws of the U.S. or any state or comparable laws of many other jurisdictions.

The recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments are provided for under the PRC Civil Procedures Law.
PRC courts may recognise and enforce foreign judgments in accordance with the requirements of the PRC Civil
Procedures Law and other applicable laws, regulations and interpretations based either on treaties between China
and the country where the judgment is made or on principles of reciprocity between jurisdictions. China does not
have any treaties or other forms of reciprocity with the U.S. and many other jurisdictions that provide for the
reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments from the U.S. and many other jurisdictions. In addition,
according to the PRC Civil Procedures Law, the PRC courts will not enforce a foreign judgment against us or our
directors and officers if they decide that the judgment violates the basic principles of PRC laws or national
sovereignty, security or public interest. As a result, it is uncertain whether and on what basis a PRC court would
enforce a judgment rendered by a court in the U.S and many other jurisdictions. In addition, the SEC, the U.S.
Department of Justice and other U.S. authorities and the comparable authorities from many other jurisdictions
may also have difficulties in bringing and enforcing actions against us or our directors or officers in the PRC.

Recent litigation and negative publicity surrounding China-based companies listed in the U.S. may result in
increased regulatory scrutiny of us and negatively impact the trading price of the ADSs and could have an
adverse effect upon our business, including our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and
prospects.

We believe that litigation and negative publicity surrounding companies with operations in China that are listed
in the U.S. have negatively impacted stock prices for these companies. Various equity-based research
organisations have published reports on China-based companies after examining their corporate governance
practices, related party transactions, sales practices and financial statements, and these reports have led to special
investigations and listing suspensions on U.S. national exchanges. Any similar scrutiny of us, regardless of its
lack of merit, could result in a diversion of management resources and energy, potential costs to defend ourselves
against rumours, decreases and volatility in the ADS trading price, and increased directors and officers insurance
premiums and could have an adverse effect upon our business, including our results of operations, financial
condition, cash flows and prospects.

If the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB, is unable to inspect our auditors as
required under the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, the SEC will prohibit the trading of our
ADSs. A trading prohibition for our ADSs, or the threat of a trading prohibition, may materially and adversely
affect the value of your investment. Additionally, the inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our
auditors deprives our investors of the benefits of such inspections.

The U.S. Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCA Act, was enacted into law on 18 December
2020. Under the HFCA Act, if the SEC determines that we have filed audit reports issued by a registered public
accounting firm that has not been subject to inspection by the PCAOB for three consecutive years (beginning with
those we are to file in 2022), the SEC will prohibit our securities, including our ADSs, from being traded on a
U.S. national securities exchange, including the Nasdaq Global Market, or in the over-the-counter trading market
in the U.S. The process for implementing trading prohibitions pursuant to the HFCA Act will be based on a list
of registered public accounting firms that the PCAOB has been unable to inspect and investigate completely as a
result of a position taken by a non-U.S. government, or the Cayman Islands or the PRC (each, a “Relevant
Jurisdiction”). The first such list was included in a release by the PCAOB on 16 December 2021, or the PCAOB
December 2021 Release, and our auditor was included on that list. The SEC will review annual reports filed with
it in 2022 to determine if the auditor used for such reports was so identified by the PCAOB, and such issuers will
be designated as “Commission Identified Issuers” on a list to be published by the SEC. If an issuer is a Commission
Identified Issuer for three consecutive years (which will be determined after the third such annual report), the SEC
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will issue an order that will implement the trading prohibitions described above. In March 2022, the SEC issued
its first “Conclusive list of issuers identified under the HFCAA” indicating that those companies are now formally
subject to the delisting provisions if they remain on the list for three consecutive years. We were provisionally
identified by the SEC on 4 May 2022 under the HFCA Act and were conclusively identified on 25 May 2022. See
https://www.sec.gov/hfcaa.

Unless we are able to retain a PCAOB-registered auditor subject to PCAOB inspection and investigation, we
would expect that a trading prohibition for our ADSs could be issued shortly after the filing of our annual report
on Form 20-F for 2023, which would be due on 30 April 2024. Given that all PCAOB-registered firms in China
were included on the list in the PCAOB December 2021 Release, our ability to retain an auditor subject to PCAOB
inspection and investigation will depend on the relevant U.S. and PRC regulators reaching an agreement to permit
these inspections and investigations. The PCAOB entered into a Memorandum of Understanding on Enforcement
Cooperation with the CSRC and the PRC Ministry of Finance, which established a cooperative framework
between the parties for the production and exchange of audit documents relevant to investigations undertaken by
the PCAOB in the PRC or by the CSRC or the PRC Ministry of Finance in the United States. The PCAOB
continues to be in discussions with the CSRC and the PRC Ministry of Finance to permit joint inspections of the
PCAOB-registered audit firms that audit Chinese companies that trade on U.S. exchanges. However, in the
PCAOB December 2021 Release, the PCAOB identified problems in implementing these agreements and a lack
of cooperation. Accordingly, we can offer no assurance that we will be able to retain an auditor that would allow
us to avoid a trading prohibition for our securities under the HFCA Act.

In June 2021, the United States Senate passed a bill that would amend the HFCA Act to accelerate the imposition
of trading prohibitions once an issuer is identified from three years to two years, and a companion bill was
introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives on 14 December 2021. If this bill amending the HFCA Act is
approved by both houses of Congress and signed by the President, our securities could be subject to a trading
prohibition following our filing of our annual report on Form 20-F for 2022, which will be due on 1 May 2023.

On 4 February 2022, the U.S. House of Representatives passed the America Competes Act of 2022 which includes
the exact same amendments as the bill passed by the Senate. The America Competes Act however includes a
broader range of legislation not related to the HFCA Act in response to the U.S. Innovation and Competition Act
passed by the Senate in 2021. The U.S. House of Representatives and U.S. Senate will need to agree on
amendments to these respective bills to align the legislation and pass their amended bills before the U.S. President
can sign into law. Itis unclear when the U.S. Senate and U.S. House of Representatives will resolve the differences
in the U.S. Innovation and Competition Act and the America Competes Act of 2022 bills currently passed, or
when the U.S. President will sign on the bill to make the amendment into law, or at all. On August 26, 2022, the
PCAOB signed a Statement of Protocol with the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the Ministry of
Finance of the People’s Republic of China, taking the first step toward opening access for the PCAOB to inspect
and investigate registered public accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong. Pursuant to
the Statement of Protocol, the PCAOB is granted complete access in three ways with respect to its inspection and
investigation of registered public accounting firms in mainland China and Hong Kong:

e The PCAOB has sole discretion to select the firms, audit engagements and potential violations it inspects
and investigates—without consultation with, nor input from, Chinese authorities.

e  Procedures are in place for PCAOB inspectors and investigators to view complete audit work papers with
all information included and for the PCAOB to retain information as needed.

e The PCAOB has direct access to interview and take testimony from all personnel associated with the
audits the PCAOB inspects or investigates.

Having made the determinations in 2021 that the positions taken by PRC authorities prevented the PCAOB from
inspecting and investigating in mainland China and Hong Kong completely, the PCAOB is now required to
reassess its determinations with regard to inspecting and investigating in mainland China and Hong Kong by the
end of 2022. We have noted the positive progress and will closely follow the development under the Statement
Protocol. Despite the complete access granted by the Statement of Protocol on paper, however, there is no
assurance that PCAOB may in reality have sufficiently unobstructed access to the registered public accounting
firms in mainland China and Hong Kong, if at all, due to factors beyond our control, including the political tension
between China and the U.S and uncertainties with respect to regulatory cooperation between the PCAOB and the
Chinese regulators. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the PCAOB may revise or alter its determinations
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made in 2021, or that we will no longer be subject to risks from a trading prohibition for our ADSs pursuant to
the HFCA Act.

If we are designated as “Commission Identified Issuers” on the list published by the SEC, or if our ADSs are
subject to a trading prohibition under the HFCA Act, the price of our ADSs may be adversely affected, and the
threat of such a trading prohibition would also adversely affect their price. If we are unable to be listed on another
securities exchange that provides sufficient liquidity, such a trading prohibition may substantially impair your
ability to sell or purchase our ADSs when you wish to do so. Furthermore, if we are able to maintain a listing of
our ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, the London Stock Exchange or another non-U.S.
exchange, investors owning our ADSs may have to take additional steps to engage in transactions on that
exchange, including converting ADSs into ordinary shares and establishing non-U.S. brokerage accounts. In
March 2022, the SEC issued its first “Conclusive list of issuers identified under the HFCAA” indicating that those
companies are now formally subject to the delisting provisions if they remain on the list for three consecutive
years. We were provisionally identified by the SEC on 4 May 2022 under the HFCA Act and were conclusively
identified on 25 May 2022. See https://www.sec.gov/hfcaa.

The HFCA Act also imposes additional certification and disclosure requirements for Commission Identified
Issuers, and these requirements will apply beginning with annual reports on Form 20-F to be filed in 2023 for
Commission Identified Issuers named in the prior year. Because our auditor was included in the list in the PCAOB
December 2021 Release, we expect to have to comply with these disclosure requirements in our annual report on
Form 20-F for 2022 to be filed in 2023. The additional requirements include a certification that the issuer is not
owned or controlled by a governmental entity in the Relevant Jurisdiction, and the additional requirements for
annual reports include disclosure that the issuer’s financials were audited by a firm not subject to PCAOB
inspection, disclosure on governmental entities in the Relevant Jurisdiction’s ownership in and controlling
financial interest in the issuer, the names of Chinese Communist Party, or CCP, members on the board of the
issuer or its operating entities, and whether the issuer’s article’s include a charter of the CCP, including the text
of such charter.

In addition to the issues under the HFCA discussed above, the PCAOB’s inability to conduct inspections in China
and Hong Kong prevents it from fully evaluating the audits and quality control procedures of our independent
registered public accounting firm. As a result, we and investors in our ADSs and ordinary shares are deprived of
the benefits of such PCAOB inspections. The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of auditors in China
makes it more difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of our independent registered public accounting firm’s audit
procedures or quality control procedures as compared to auditors outside of China that are subject to the PCAOB
inspections, which could cause investors and potential investors in our stock to lose confidence in our audit
procedures and reported financial information and the quality of our financial statements.

Proceedings instituted by the SEC against the Big Four PRC-based accounting firms, including our
independent registered public accounting firm, could result in financial statements being determined to not be
in compliance with the requirements of the Exchange Act.

In December 2012, the SEC instituted administrative proceedings against the Big Four PRC-based accounting
firms in China, including our independent PCAOB-registered public accounting firm, alleging that these firms
had violated U.S. securities laws and the SEC’s rules and regulations thereunder by failing to provide to the SEC
the firms’ audit work papers with respect to certain other PRC-based companies that are publicly traded in the
United States.

On 22 January 2014, the initial administrative law judge presiding over the matter rendered an initial decision that
each of the firms had violated the SEC’s rules of practice by failing to produce audit papers and other documents
to the SEC. The initial decision censured each of the firms and barred them from practicing before the SEC for a
period of six months.

On 6 February 2015, each of the four PRC-based accounting firms agreed to a censure and to pay a fine to the
SEC to settle the dispute and avoid suspension of their ability to practice before the SEC and to audit US-listed
companies. The settlement required the firms to follow detailed procedures and to seek to provide the SEC with
access to Chinese firms’ audit documents via the CSRC. Under the terms of the settlement, the underlying
proceeding against the four PRC-based accounting firms was deemed dismissed with prejudice four years after
entry of the settlement. The four-year mark occurred on 6 February 2019. While we cannot predict if the SEC will
further challenge the four PRC-based accounting firms’ compliance with U.S. law in connection with U.S.
regulatory requests for audit work papers or if the results of such a challenge would result in the SEC imposing
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penalties such as suspensions, if the accounting firms are subject to additional remedial measures, our ability to
file our financial statements in compliance with SEC requirements could be affected. A determination that we
have not timely filed financial statements in compliance with SEC requirements could ultimately lead to our
delisting from the Nasdaqg Global Market, deregistration from the SEC, or both, which would substantially reduce
or effectively terminate the trading of our ADSs in the United States.

In the event that the SEC restarts the administrative proceedings described above, depending upon the final
outcome, listed companies in the United States with major China-based operations may find it difficult or
impossible to retain auditors in respect of their operations in China, which could result in financial statements
being determined not to be in compliance with the requirements of the Exchange Act, including possible delisting.
Moreover, any negative news about any such future proceedings against these audit firms may cause investor
uncertainty regarding China-based, U.S.-listed companies and the market price of our ADSs may be adversely
affected.

If our independent registered public accounting firm was denied, even temporarily, the ability to practice before
the SEC and we were unable to timely find another registered public accounting firm to audit and issue an opinion
on our financial statements, our financial statements could be determined to be not in compliance with the
requirements of the Exchange Act. Such a determination could ultimately lead to the delisting of the ADSs from
the Nasdaq Global Market or deregistration from the SEC, or both, which would substantially reduce or effectively
terminate the trading of the ADSs in the United States.

Risks Relating to Hong Kong
You may have difficulty enforcing judgments in Hong Kong.

BR Hong Kong Limited, one of our subsidiaries incorporate in Hong Kong, wholly owns Beijing Burning Rock
Biotech Limited, our WFOE. You may have difficulties in enforcing court judgments obtained in United States
courts against our Hong Kong subsidiary, including judgments relating to the federal securities laws of the United
States. There is also doubt as to whether courts in Hong Kong will enforce judgments of United States courts
based only upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States, or the securities
laws of any state of the United States.

There may be political risks associated with having business connection with Hong Kong.

Hong Kong is a Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China, with its own executive, judicial
and legislative branches. Hong Kong enjoys a high degree of autonomy from China under the principle of “one
country, two systems.” As a result of this political structure, we enjoy certain benefits, including tax benefits when
we hold our WFOE through BR Hong Kong Limited, one of our subsidiaries incorporate in Hong Kong. However,
we can give no assurance that Hong Kong will continue to enjoy the same level of autonomy from China. For
example, if our Hong Kong subsidiary is deemed as a PRC company when the PRC government no longer treats
Hong Kong as “offshore”, we may not be able to enjoy the double tax treaty reached between Hong Kong and
mainland China and our Hong Kong company may be subject to the supervision of SAFE, which will lead
uncertainty to cross-border capital flows. In particular, China could determine to treat any cash located in Hong
Kong as subject to the same distribution rules as mainland China and our cash located in Hong Kong could
therefore be subject to the same risks as that located in mainland China. Any intervention by the government of
China in the affairs of Hong Kong, in breach of the “one country, two systems” principle, may adversely affect
our business and ability to raise capital.

Recent unrest in Hong Kong may affect our business.

Hong Kong is a special administrative region of the PRC with its own government. Hong Kong enjoys a high
degree of autonomy from the PRC under the principle of “one country, two systems.” However, there can be no
assurance that our corporate structure, business operation, financial condition and results of operations will not be
adversely affected as a consequence of the exercise of PRC sovereignty over Hong Kong. For example, a series
of large demonstrations in Hong Kong in 2019 has adversely affected the local economy and resulted in the
enactment of Hong Kong national security law in 2020. On July 14, 2020, the President of U.S. signed an
executive order to end the special status enjoyed by Hong Kong under the United States-Hong Kong Policy Act
of 1992. Hong Kong’s position and reputation as an international financial and trade center may be further
damaged, and our business may be materially and adversely affected.

46



Risks Relating to The ADSs

The proposed standard listing of our ADSs will afford ADS holders a lower level of regulatory protection than
a premium listing.

Application will be made for our ADSs to be admitted to the standard listing segment of the Official List of the
FCA. A standard listing will afford ADS holders a lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded to
investors in companies listed on the premium listing segment of the Official List of the FCA, where companies
are subject to additional obligations under the Listing Rules. In particular, as a company with a standard listing,
we will not be required to comply with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code, following
Admission. The Company will not be required to give ADS holders the opportunity to vote on any future
acquisitions, even if ADSs are being issued as consideration for such acquisitions, save to the extent holder
approval is required pursuant to any legal or regulatory requirements to issue such ADSs. Further, as a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands we are permitted to adopt certain home country practices in relation to
corporate governance matters that differ significantly from the Nasdaq corporate governance requirements; these
practices may afford less protection to shareholders than they otherwise would under rules and regulations
applicable to U.S. domestic issuers.

The ADSs will trade on more than one market, and this may result in increased volatility and price variations
between such markets

It is expected that on or about the date of Admission the ADSs will be able to be traded on both the London Stock
Exchange and the Nasdaq Global Market. Trading in the ADSs on these markets could be made at different times
(due to different time zones, trading days and public holidays in the United Kingdom and United States). The
trading prices of the ADSs on these two markets may differ due to this and other factors. The liquidity of trading
in the ADSs on the London Stock Exchange may initially be limited. Trading of a small number of ADSs on one
market could adversely impact the price of the ADSs on that market significantly and could, in turn, impact the
price on the other market. The ADSs will be fully fungible between both markets. Any decrease in the trading
price of the ADSs on one of these markets could cause a decrease in the trading price of the ADSs on the other
market. Additionally, as there is no direct trading or settlement between the two stock markets, the time required
to move the ADSs from one market to another may vary, and there is no certainty of when ADSs that are moved
will be available for trading or settlement.

The trading price of ADSs has been and may continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to
investors.

Since our ADSs became listed on Nasdaq Global Market on 12 June 2020, the trading price of our ADSs has
ranged from US$1.74 to US$39.75 per ADS. Following Admission, the trading price of our ADSs may continue
to be volatile and could fluctuate widely due to factors beyond our control. This may happen because of broad
market and industry factors, like the performance and fluctuation of the market prices of other companies with
business operations located mainly in China that have listed their securities in the U.S. or UK. A number of
Chinese companies have listed or are in the process of listing their securities on U.S. stock markets. The securities
of some of these companies have experienced significant volatility, including price declines in connection with
their initial public offerings. The trading performances of these Chinese companies’ securities after their offerings
may affect the attitudes of investors toward Chinese companies listed in the U.S. in general and consequently may
impact the trading performance of the ADSs in the U.S. or UK, regardless of our actual operating performance.

In addition to market and industry factors, the price and trading volume for the ADSs may be highly volatile for
factors specific to our own operations, including the following:

e variations in our revenues, earnings and cash flow;

announcements of new investments, acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures by us or our
competitors;

announcements of new services and expansions by us or our competitors;

failure on our part to realise monetisation opportunities as expected:;

changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;

detrimental adverse publicity about us, our services or our industry;

additions or departures of key personnel;

release of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on our outstanding equity securities or sales of additional
equity securities;
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o regulatory developments affecting us or our industry; and
e potential litigation or regulatory investigations.

Any of these factors may result in large and sudden changes in the volume and price at which our ADSs will trade
in the U.S. or UK.

Shareholders of public companies have often brought securities class action suits against those companies
following periods of instability in the market price of their securities. If we were involved in such a class action
suit, it could divert a significant amount of our management’s attention and other resources from our business and
operations and require us to incur significant expenses to defend the suit, which could harm our results of
operations. Any such class action suit, whether or not successful, could harm our reputation and restrict our ability
to raise capital in the future. In addition, if a claim is successfully made against us, we may be required to pay
significant damages, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to meet the applicable listing requirements, Nasdaq or the London Stock Exchange may delist our
ADSs from trading on its exchange in which case the liquidity and market price of our ADSs could decline and
our ability to raise additional capital would be adversely affected.

In certain circumstances, the ADSs may be delisted from the London Stock Exchange or Nasdaq Global Market.
Delisting could have a material and adverse effect on the liquidity of the ADSs and on investors’ ability to sell
the ADSs at a satisfactory price.

Nasdaqg Global Market

There are a number of requirements that must be met in order for our ADSs to remain listed on the Nasdaq Global
Market, including but not limited to the minimum bid price of at least US$1.00 per ADS, and the failure to meet
any of these listing standards could result in the delisting of our ADSs from the Nasdaq Global Market. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to comply with all Nasdaq Listing Rules at all times in the future or regain
compliance in a timely manner in case of a default and avoid any subsequent adverse action taken by Nasdag
Global Market, including delisting. Any potential delisting of our ADSs from the Nasdaq Global Market may
result in decreased liquidity, limited availability of market quotations for our ADSs, limited availability of news
and analyst coverage on us and decrease in our ability to issue additional securities. In particular, if the PCAOB
cannot inspect our auditors as required by the HFCA Act, the SEC may prohibit the trading of our ADSs. For
details, see “—Risks Relating to Doing Business in the PRC—If the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board, or the PCAOB, is unable to inspect our auditors as required under the Holding Foreign Companies
Accountable Act, the SEC will prohibit the trading of our ADSs. A trading prohibition for our ADSs, or the threat
of a trading prohibition, may materially and adversely affect the value of your investment. Additionally, the
inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our auditors deprives our investors of the benefits of such
inspections.”

London Stock Exchange

The FCA may cancel the listing of the ADSs on the standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA if
satisfied that there are special circumstances precluding normal and regular dealings in the ADSs. The listing of
the ADSs on the Official List may also be cancelled at the request of the Company, subject to the Company giving
at least 20 business days’ notice of the proposed cancellation of the listing. Because the ADSs will be listed on
the standard listing segment of the Official List, it would not be required to seek shareholder approval before
seeking the cancellation of the listing of the ADSs on the Official List.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they adversely
change their recommendations regarding the ADSs, the market price for the ADSs and trading volume could
decline.

The trading market for the ADSs in the UK and U.S. will be influenced by research or reports that industry or
securities analysts publish about our business. If one or more analysts who cover us downgrade the ADSs, the
market price for the ADSs would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover us or fail to
regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the
market price or trading volume for the ADSs in the UK or U.S. to decline.

The sale or availability for sale of substantial amounts of ADSs could adversely affect their market price.
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Sales of substantial amounts of ADSs in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could
adversely affect the market price of ADSs in the UK or U.S. and could impair our ability to raise capital through
equity offerings in the future. As of the date of this Prospectus, we had 105,725,451 ordinary shares issued and
outstanding, comprising (i) 88,400,603 Class A ordinary shares (excluding 414,535 Class A ordinary shares issued
to our depositary bank for bulk issuance of ADSs reserved for future issuances upon the exercise or vesting of
awards granted under our share incentive plans), and (ii) 17,324,848 Class B ordinary shares. Among these shares,
55,388,775 Class A ordinary shares are in the form ADSs, which are freely transferable without restriction or
additional registration under Securities Act. The remaining outstanding ordinary shares may also be sold in public
market, subject to volume and other restrictions as applicable under Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act
and the applicable lock-up agreements, if any. To the extent shares are released before the expiration of the
applicable lock-up period and sold into the market, the market price of the ADSs in the UK or U.S. could decline.

If a large number of our ordinary shares or securities convertible into our ordinary shares are sold in the public
market after they become eligible for sale, the sales could adversely affect the trading price of the ADSs in the
UK or U.S. and impede our ability to raise future capital. In addition, any ordinary shares that we issue under our
share incentive plan or pursuant to any award agreements would dilute the percentage ownership held by ADS
holders.

Because we do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, you must rely on price appreciation of the
ADSs for return on your investment.

We currently intend to retain most, if not all, of our available funds and any future earnings to fund the
development and growth of our business. As a result, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Therefore, you should not rely on an investment in the ADSs as a source for any future dividend income.

Our board of directors has complete discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject to our memorandum
and articles of association and certain requirements of Cayman Islands law. Even if our board of directors decides
to declare and pay dividends, the timing, amount and form of future dividends, if any, will depend on, among
other things, our future results of operations and cash flow, our capital requirements and surplus, the amount of
distributions, if any, received by us from our subsidiary, our financial condition, contractual restrictions and other
factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. Accordingly, the return on your investment in the ADSs will
likely depend entirely upon any future price appreciation of the ADSs. You may not realise a return on your
investment in our ADSs and you may even lose your entire investment in the ADSs.

Our directors, officers and principal shareholders have substantial influence over our Company and their
interests may not be aligned with the interests of our other shareholders.

As of 30 June 2022, our directors and officers collectively own an aggregate of 61.7% of the total voting power
of our outstanding ordinary shares. As a result, they have substantial influence over our business, including
significant corporate actions such as change of directors, mergers, change of control transactions and other
significant corporate actions.

Our directors, offices, and principal shareholders may take actions that are not in the best interest of us or our
other shareholders. The concentration of ownership may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our
Company, which could deprive our shareholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their shares as part
of a sale of our Company and may reduce the price of the ADSs in the UK or U.S. These actions may be taken
even if they are opposed by shareholders, including ADS holders. In addition, the significant concentration of
share ownership may adversely affect the trading price of the ADSs in the UK or U.S. due to investors’ perception
that conflicts of interest may exist or arise.

There can be no assurance that we will not be a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes for any taxable year, which could result in adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences
to U.S. Holders of ADSs or Class A ordinary shares.

A non-U.S. corporation will be a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, for any taxable year if either (i)
at least 75% of its gross income for such year consists of certain types of “passive” income; or (ii) at least 50% of
the value of its assets (generally based on a quarterly average) during such year is attributable to assets that produce
passive income or are held for the production of passive income (the “asset test™). For this purpose, passive income
generally includes dividends, interest, gains from certain commodities transactions, rents, royalties and the excess
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of gains over losses from the disposition of assets that produce passive income. Goodwill is treated as an active
asset under the PFIC rules to the extent attributable to activities that produce active income. Cash generally is a
passive asset for these purposes.

Based on our financial statements, the manner in which we conduct our business, the trading price of our Class A
ordinary shares or ADSs, the value and nature of our assets, and the sources and nature of our income, we do not
believe we were a PFIC for our prior taxable year. Because the value of our assets generally is determined by
reference to the price of our stock, the recent decline in the price of our stock has significantly increased the risk
that we might be treated as a PFIC for our current taxable year. The final determination of whether we may be
classified a PFIC for the current taxable year, however, will not be able to be made until after the end of the year
and will depend on all of the relevant facts and circumstances available at that time, some of which may be beyond
our control, such as the trading price of our shares and the valuation of our assets, including goodwill and other
intangible assets. Additionally, the composition of our income and assets may also be affected by how, and how
quickly, we use our cash and other liquid assets.

If we were to be or become a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder (meaning a beneficial owner
of Class A ordinary shares or ADSs that is a citizen or resident of the U.S. or a U.S. domestic corporation or that
otherwise is subject to U.S. federal income taxation on a net income basis in respect of such Class A ordinary
shares or ADSs) holds the ADSs or ordinary shares, certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences could
apply to such U.S. Holder.

U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the possible application of the PFIC rules. See
the discussion in “Additional Information—11. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations—Passive
Foreign Investment Company Rules.”

Our memorandum and articles of association contain anti-takeover provisions that could have an adverse effect
on the rights of holders of our ordinary shares and the ADSs.

Our memorandum and articles of association contain provisions to limit the ability of others to acquire control of
our Company or cause us to engage in change-of-control transactions. These provisions could have the effect of
depriving our shareholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices by
discouraging third parties from seeking to obtain control of our Company in a tender offer or similar transaction.
Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by our shareholders, to issue preferred shares in
one or more series and to fix their designations, powers, preferences, privileges, and relative participating, optional
or special rights and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions, including dividend rights, conversion rights,
voting rights, terms of redemption and liquidation preferences, any or all of which may be greater than the rights
associated with our ordinary shares. Preferred shares could be issued quickly with terms calculated to delay or
prevent a change in control of our Company or make removal of management more difficult. If our board of
directors decides to issue preferred shares, the price of the ADSs in the UK or U.S. may fall and the voting and
other rights of the holders of our ordinary shares and the ADSs may be adversely affected.

You may face difficulties in protecting your interests, and your ability to protect your rights through U.S. courts
and English courts may be limited, because we are incorporated under Cayman Islands law.

We are an exempted company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Our corporate
affairs are governed by our memorandum and articles of association, the Companies Act (As Revised) of the
Cayman Islands and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take action against the
directors, actions by minority shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors to us under Cayman
Islands law are to a large extent governed by the common law of the Cayman Islands. The common law of the
Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as
from the common law of England, the decisions of whose courts are of persuasive authority, but are not binding,
on a court in the Cayman Islands.

The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands law are
not as clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedent in the UK or U.S. In particular, the
Cayman Islands has a less developed body of securities laws than the UK and U.S. In addition, Cayman Islands
companies may not have standing to initiate a shareholder derivative action in a federal court of the U.S. or the
courts of England and Wales.
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Shareholders of Cayman Islands exempted companies like us have no general rights under Cayman Islands law
to inspect corporate records or to obtain copies of lists of shareholders of these companies (other than copies of
our memorandum and articles of association, our register of mortgages and charges, and any special resolutions
passed by our shareholders). Under Cayman Islands law, the names of our current directors can be obtained from
a search conducted at the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands. Our directors have discretion under our
memorandum and articles of association to determine whether or not, and under what conditions, our corporate
records may be inspected by our shareholders, but are not obliged to make them available to our shareholders.
This may make it more difficult for you to obtain the information needed to establish any facts necessary for a
shareholder motion or to solicit proxies from other shareholders in connection with a proxy contest.

As a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we are permitted to adopt certain home country practices in
relation to corporate governance matters that differ significantly from the Nasdaq corporate governance
requirements and the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2018;
these practices may afford less protection to shareholders than they otherwise would under rules and regulations
applicable to U.S. or UK domestic issuers.

As a result of all of the above, our public shareholders may have more difficulties in protecting their interests in
the face of actions taken by management, members of the board of directors or controlling shareholders than they
would as public shareholders of a company incorporated in the U.S. or the UK.

We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under the Exchange Act, and as such we are
exempt from certain provisions applicable to U.S. domestic public companies.

Because we are a foreign private issuer under the Exchange Act, we are exempt from certain provisions of the
securities rules and regulations in the U.S. that are applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, including:

o the rules under the Exchange Act requiring the filing of quarterly reports on Form 10-Q or current reports
on Form 8-K with the SEC;

e the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of proxies, consents, or authorisations in
respect of a security registered under the Exchange Act;

e the sections of the Exchange Act requiring insiders to file public reports of their stock ownership and
trading activities and liability for insiders who profit from trades made in a short period of time; and

o the selective disclosure rules by issuers of material non-public information under Regulation FD.

We are required to file an annual report on Form 20-F within four months of the end of each fiscal year. In addition,
we publish our results on a quarterly basis through press releases, distributed pursuant to the rules and regulations
of the Nasdaq Global Market. Press releases relating to financial results and material events will also be furnished
to the SEC on Form 6-K. However, the information we are required to file with or furnish to the SEC will be less
extensive and less timely than that required to be filed with the SEC by U.S. domestic issuers. As a result, you
may not be afforded the same protections or information that would be made available to you were you investing
in a U.S. domestic issuer, and it may be more difficult for overseas regulators to conduct investigation or collect
evidence within China.

The voting rights of holders of ADSs are limited by the terms of the Deposit Agreement, and you may not be
able to exercise your right to direct the voting of the underlying Class A ordinary shares which are represented
by your ADSs.

As a holder of ADSs, you will not have any direct right to attend general meetings of our shareholders or to cast
any votes at such meetings. You will only be able to exercise the voting rights which attach to the underlying
Class A ordinary shares which are represented by your ADSs indirectly by giving voting instructions to the
Depositary in accordance with the provisions of the Deposit Agreement. Under the Deposit Agreement, you may
vote only by giving voting instructions to the Depositary, as the holder of the underlying Class A ordinary shares
which are represented by your ADSs. Upon receipt of your voting instructions, if voting is by poll, the Depositary
will try, as far as is practicable, to vote the Class A ordinary shares underlying your ADSs in accordance with
your instructions, if such instructions are timely received by the Depositary. If voting is by show of hands, the
Depositary will vote all ordinary shares held on deposit at that time in accordance with the voting instructions
received from a majority of holders of ADSs who provide timely instructions. You will not be able to directly
exercise any right to vote with respect to the underlying Class A ordinary shares unless you cancel your ADSs,
withdraw the shares and become the registered holder of such shares prior to the record date for the general
meeting. Under our memorandum and articles of association, the minimum notice period required to be given by
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our Company to our registered shareholders for convening a general meeting is seven (7) calendar days. When a
general meeting is convened, you may not receive sufficient advance notice to enable you to cancel your ADSs
and withdraw the underlying Class A ordinary shares which are represented by your ADSs and become the
registered holder of such shares prior to the record date for the general meeting to allow you to attend the general
meeting or to vote directly with respect to any specific matter or resolution which is to be considered and voted
upon at the general meeting. In addition, under our memorandum and articles of association for the purposes of
determining those shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at any general meeting, our directors may close
our register of members and/or fix in advance a record date for such meeting, and such closure of our register of
members or the setting of such a record date may prevent you from withdrawing the underlying Class A ordinary
shares which are represented by your ADSs and becoming the registered holder of such shares prior to the record
date, so that you would not be able to attend the general meeting or to vote directly. Where any matter is to be put
to a vote at a general meeting, the Depositary will, if we request, and subject to the terms of the Deposit
Agreement, endeavour to notify you of the upcoming vote and to deliver our voting materials to you. We cannot
assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the Depositary to vote
the underlying Class A ordinary shares which are represented by your ADSs. In addition, the Depositary and its
agents are not responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for their manner of carrying out your
voting instructions. This means that you may not be able to exercise your right to direct the voting of the
underlying Class A ordinary shares which are represented by your ADSs, and you may have no legal remedy if
the underlying Class A ordinary shares are not voted as you requested.

You may not receive dividends or other distributions on our shares and you may not receive any value for them,
if it is illegal or impractical to make them available to you.

The Depositary has agreed to pay you any cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on
shares or other deposited securities underlying your ADSs, after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive
these distributions in proportion to the number of shares your ADSs represent. However, the Depositary is not
responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to any holders of ADSs.
For example, it would be unlawful to make a distribution to a holder of ADSs if it consists of securities that require
registration under the Securities Act but that are not properly registered or distributed under an applicable
exemption from registration. The Depositary may also determine that it is not feasible to distribute certain property
through the mail. Additionally, the value of certain distributions may be less than the cost of mailing them. In
these cases, the Depositary may determine not to distribute such property. We have no obligation to register under
U.S. securities laws or any other regulation any ADSs, ordinary shares, rights or other securities received through
such distributions. We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the distribution of ADSs, ordinary
shares, rights or anything else to holders of ADSs. This means that you may not receive distributions we make on
our ordinary shares or any value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them available to you. These
restrictions may cause a material decline in the value of the ADSs in the UK or U.S.

Your right to participate in any future rights offerings may be limited, which may cause dilution to your
holdings.

Shareholders do not have pre-emptive rights and we may, without shareholder consent, issue additional ordinary
shares, ADSs, warrants, rights, units and debt securities for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited
to, working capital, capital expenditures, investments, acquisitions and repayment or refinancing of borrowings.
We also issue ordinary shares to our executive officers, employees and independent directors as part of their
compensation. This may have the effect of diluting the interests of your holding Additionally, to the extent that
pre-emptive rights are granted, shareholders in certain jurisdictions may experience difficulties or may be unable
to exercise their pre-emptive rights. For example,, we cannot make such rights available to holders in the U.S.
unless we register both the rights and the securities to which the rights relate under the Securities Act or an
exemption from the registration requirements is available. Under the Deposit Agreement, the Depositary will not
make rights available unless both the rights and the underlying securities to be distributed to ADS holders are
either registered under the Securities Act or exempt from registration under the Securities Act. We are under no
obligation to file a registration statement with respect to any such rights or securities or to endeavour to cause
such a registration statement to be declared effective and we may not be able to establish a necessary exemption
from registration under the Securities Act. Accordingly, you may be unable to participate in our rights offerings
in the future and may experience dilution in your holdings.

You may be subject to limitations on transfer of your ADSs.
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Your ADSs are transferable on the books of the Depositary. However, the Depositary may close its transfer books
at any time or from time to time when it deems expedient in connection with the performance of its duties. In
addition, the Depositary may refuse to deliver, transfer or register transfers of ADSs generally when our books or
the books of the Depositary are closed, or at any time if we or the Depositary deems it advisable to do so because
of any requirement of law or of any government or governmental body, or under any provision of the Deposit
Agreement, or for any other reason.

Our dual-class share structure with different voting rights will limit your ability to influence corporate matters
and could discourage others from pursuing any change of control transactions that holders of our Class A
ordinary shares and the ADSs may view as beneficial.

We have a dual-class share structure such that our ordinary shares consist of Class A ordinary shares and Class B
ordinary shares. In respect of matters requiring the votes of shareholders, holders of Class A ordinary shares are
entitled to one vote per share, while holders of Class B ordinary shares are entitled to six votes per share based on
our dual-class share structure. Each Class B ordinary share is convertible into one Class A ordinary share at any
time by the holder thereof, while Class A ordinary shares are not convertible into Class B ordinary shares under
any circumstances. Upon any transfer of Class B ordinary shares by a holder thereof to any person or entity which
is not an affiliate of such holder and under certain other circumstances, such Class B ordinary shares shall be
automatically and immediately converted into the equal number of Class A ordinary shares. If any of such Class
B ordinary shares are converted into Class A ordinary shares or cancelled for any reasons, our board of directors
will have the authority without further action by our shareholders to issue additional Class B ordinary shares,
which will be dilutive to our Class A ordinary shareholders and ADS holders.

As of 30 June 2022, our founder, chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer, Mr. Yusheng
Han, beneficially owns all of our issued Class B ordinary shares. The Class B ordinary shares constitute 16.4% of
our total issued and outstanding share capital and 54.1% of the aggregate voting power of our issued and
outstanding share capital due to the disparate voting powers associated with our dual-class share structure. As a
result of the dual-class share structure and the concentration of ownership, our founder and chief executive officer,
Mr. Yusheng Han, has considerable influence over matters such as decisions regarding change of directors,
mergers, change of control transactions and other significant corporate actions. He may take actions that are not
in the best interest of us or our other shareholders. This concentration of ownership may discourage, delay or
prevent a change in control of our Company, which could have the effect of depriving our other shareholders of
the opportunity to receive a premium for their shares as part of a sale of our Company and may reduce the price
of the ADSs in the UK or U.S.. This concentrated control will limit your ability to influence corporate matters and
could discourage others from pursuing any potential merger, takeover or other change of control transactions that
holders of Class A ordinary shares and ADSs may view as beneficial.

The dual-class structure of our ordinary shares may adversely affect the trading market for and the trading
price of the ADSs in the UK and U.S..

Certain shareholder advisory firms have announced changes to their eligibility criteria for inclusion of shares of
public companies on certain indices, including the S&P 500, to exclude companies with multiple classes of shares
and companies whose public shareholders hold no more than 5% of total voting power from being added to such
indices. In addition, several shareholder advisory firms have announced their opposition to the use of multiple
class structures. As a result, the dual class structure of our ordinary shares may prevent the inclusion of the ADSs
representing Class A ordinary shares in such indices and may cause shareholder advisory firms to publish negative
commentary about our corporate governance practices or otherwise seek to cause us to change our capital
structure. Any such exclusion from indices could result in a less active trading market for the ADSs in either the
U.S. or UK. Any actions or publications by shareholder advisory firms critical of our corporate governance
practices or capital structure could also adversely affect the value of the ADSs.

ADSs holders may not be entitled to a jury trial in the U.S. with respect to claims arising under the Deposit
Agreement, which could result in less favourable outcomes to the plaintiffs in any such action.

The Deposit Agreement governing the ADSs representing our shares provides that, to the fullest extent permitted
by law, ADS holders waive the right to a jury trial of any claim they may have against us or the depositary arising
out of or relating to our shares, the ADSs or the Deposit Agreement, including any claim under the U.S. federal
securities laws.
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If we or the depositary opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, the court would determine whether the
waiver was enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with the applicable state
and federal law. To our knowledge, the enforceability of a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver in connection
with claims arising under the federal securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by the United States Supreme
Court. However, we believe that a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision is generally enforceable,
including under the laws of the State of New York, which govern the Deposit Agreement, by a federal or state
court in the City of New York, which has nonexclusive jurisdiction over matters arising under the Deposit
Agreement. In determining whether to enforce a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision, courts will
generally consider whether a party knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived the right to a jury trial. We
believe that this is the case with respect to the Deposit Agreement and the ADSs. It is advisable that you consult
legal counsel regarding the jury waiver provision before entering into the Deposit Agreement.

If you or any other holders or beneficial owners of ADSs bring a claim against us or the depositary in connection
with matters arising under the Deposit Agreement or the ADSs, including claims under federal securities laws,
you or such other holder or beneficial owner may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to such claims, which
may have the effect of limiting and discouraging lawsuits against us and the depositary. If a lawsuit is brought
against either or both of us and the depositary under the Deposit Agreement, it may be heard only by a judge or
justice of the applicable trial court, which would be conducted according to different civil procedures and may
result in different outcomes than a trial by jury would have, including results that could be less favourable to the
plaintiffs in any such action.

Nevertheless, if this jury trial waiver provision is not permitted by applicable law, an action could proceed under
the terms of the Deposit Agreement with a jury trial. No condition, stipulation or provision of the Deposit
Agreement or ADSs serves as a waiver by any holder or beneficial owner of ADSs or by us or the depositary of
compliance with any substantive provision of the U.S. federal securities laws and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.

Certain judgments obtained against us by our shareholders may not be enforceable.

We are an exempted company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. We conduct
substantially all of our operations in China and substantially all of our assets are located in China. In addition, a
majority of our directors and executive officers reside within China, and most of the assets of these persons are
located within China. As a result, it may be difficult or impossible for you to effect service of process within the
U.S. or the United Kingdom or elsewhere outside of China upon these individuals, or to bring an action against
us or against these individuals in the U.S. or the United Kingdom or elsewhere outside of China in the event that
you believe your rights have been infringed under the U.S. federal securities laws or any securities law in the
United Kingdom or otherwise. Even if you are successful in bringing an action of this kind, the laws of the Cayman
Islands and of the PRC may render you unable to enforce a judgment against our assets or the assets of our
directors and officers.

There is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the federal or state courts of
the United States (and the Cayman Islands are not a party to any treaties for the reciprocal enforcement or
recognition of such judgments), the courts of the Cayman Islands will, at common law, recognise and enforce a
foreign monetary judgment of a foreign court of competent jurisdiction without any re-examination of the merits
of the underlying dispute based on the principle that a judgment of a competent foreign court imposes upon the
judgment debtor an obligation to pay the liquidated sum for which such judgment has been given, provided such
judgment (a) is given by a foreign court of competent jurisdiction, (b) imposes on the judgment debtor a liability
to pay a liquidated sum for which the judgment has been given, (c) is final, (d) is not in respect of taxes, a fine or
a penalty, and (e) was not obtained in a manner and is not of a kind the enforcement of which is contrary to natural
justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands. However, the Cayman Islands courts are unlikely to enforce a
judgment obtained from the U.S. courts under civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities law if such
judgment is determined by the courts of the Cayman Islands to give rise to obligations to make payments that are
penal or punitive in nature. A Cayman Islands court may stay enforcement proceedings if concurrent proceedings
are being brought elsewhere.

The recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments are provided for under the PRC Civil Procedures Law.
PRC courts may recognise and enforce foreign judgments in accordance with the requirements of the PRC Civil
Procedures Law based either on treaties between China and the country where the judgment is made or on
principles of reciprocity between jurisdictions, as well as public policy considerations and conditions set forth in
applicable provisions of other PRC laws relating to the enforcement of civil liability. China does not have treaties
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providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of court judgments with many countries, including the
United Kingdom, the United States and most other Western countries.

In addition, according to the PRC Civil Procedures Law, the PRC courts will not enforce a foreign judgment
against us or our director and officers if they decide that the judgment violates the basic principles of PRC laws
or national sovereignty, security or public interest. As a result, it is uncertain whether and on what basis a PRC
court would enforce a judgment rendered by a court in the United States, the United Kingdom or the Cayman
Islands. These limitations may deprive you of effective legal recourse for claims related to your investment in the
ADSs.

In terms of actions brought by securities regulatory authorities of the United Kingdom or other countries, there
are also significant legal obstacles to obtaining requisite information. In particular, pursuant to Article 177 of the
PRC Securities Law which became effective in March 2020, no overseas securities regulator is allowed to directly
conduct investigation or evidence collection activities within China. Accordingly, without the consent of the
competent PRC securities regulators and relevant authorities, no organisation or individual may provide the
documents and materials relating to securities business activities to overseas parties.

See also “—Risks Relating to The ADSs—You may face difficulties in protecting your interests, and your ability
to protect your rights through U.S. courts or English courts may be limited, because we are incorporated under
Cayman Islands law” for risks associated with investing in us as a Cayman Islands company.

ABOUT THE COMPANY

We commenced our operation in January 2014 through Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd., a PRC
company. In March 2014, we incorporated Burning Rock Biotech Limited in the Cayman Islands as our offshore
holding company in order to facilitate foreign investment in our company. Subsequently, we established BR Hong
Kong Limited as our intermediate holding company in April 2014, which in turn established a wholly-owned PRC
subsidiary, Beijing Burning Rock Biotech Limited, our WFOE, in June 2014. In the same month, our WFOE
entered into a series of contractual arrangements with Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotech Limited and its then
shareholders, and Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. became our variable interest entity, or VIE.
These contractual arrangements were amended and restated in October 2019. For information on these contractual
arrangements, see “ltem 4. Information on the Company—C. Organizational Structure—Contractual
Arrangements” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-92 to A3-95 of the Prospectus).

As a holding company with no material operations of its own, we conduct operations primarily through our
subsidiaries and through the aforementioned contractual arrangements with the VIE and its subsidiaries. While
we do not have the equity ownership of the VIE, these contractual arrangements enable the Company to receive
the economic benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE in consideration for the services provided
by its subsidiaries, and hold an exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in and assets of the
VIE when and to the extent permitted by PRC law. For further information on the Company’s corporate structure,
see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure” on page 26 of the Prospectus.

We currently do not have cash management policies that dictate how funds are transferred between us, our
subsidiaries and the VIEs. In practice, we estimate and allocate funds to our WFOE and the VIEs based on their
respective available cash balances and forecasted cash requirements. The cash flows that have occurred between
the Company, our subsidiaries and the VIEs are summarised as the follows:

The VIE, Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotechnology Co. Ltd., generates and retains cash generated from operating
activities and re-invests it in the business activities conducted by the VIE and its subsidiaries. Our WFOE, Beijing
Burning Rock Biotech Limited, charges service fee to the VIEs for certain operating expenses that it bears on
behalf of the VIEs for the VIEs’ business operations. The service fee is determined at an amount subject to mutual
negotiation and agreement between the WFOE and the VIEs. Our WFOE charged service fees of RMB26.4
million, RMB64.9 million and RMB72.7 million (US$11.4 million) to the VIEs and received RMB42.2 million,
RMB25.3 million and RMB88.7 million (US$13.9 million) of service fees from the VIEs in 2019, 2020 and 2021,
respectively. We transferred nil, RMB68.9 million and nil of financing proceeds to our WFOE, which was then
transferred to the VIEs as advance payments during the same periods. Additionally, we transferred RMB33.8
million, nil and RMB315.0 million (US$49.4 million) of financing proceeds to our WFOE and our Hong Kong
subsidiary, which was then transferred to the VIEs, in 2019, 2020 and 2021, respectively. We may transfer cash
proceeds raised from future overseas financing activities through our holding company, to our WFOE through

55



capital contributions and shareholder loans. Our WFOE is expected to then transfer funds to the VIE and its
subsidiaries to meet their capital needs.

We conduct our NGS-based cancer therapy selection business primarily through the wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the VIE, Guangzhou Burning Rock Dx Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Burning Rock Medical Equipment Co., Ltd.,
which were established in March 2014 and January 2015, respectively.

On 12 June 2020, our American depositary shares, each of which represents one Class A ordinary share of the
Company (“ADSs”), commenced trading on Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “BNR.” We raised from
our initial public offering US$234.9 million net proceeds, after the underwriters exercised in full their option to
purchase additional ADSs. Concurrently with our initial public offering, we raised US$25 million from Lake Bleu
Prime Healthcare Master, in a private placement.

On 8 December 2020, we completed a registered follow-on public offering by certain selling shareholders of
2,243,000 ADSs at a public offering price of US$25.75 per ADS. We did not receive any proceeds from the
follow-on public offering.

We are an exempted company with limited liability incorporated under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The Companies Act of the Cayman Islands distinguishes between ordinary resident companies
and exempted companies. Any company that is registered in the Cayman Islands but conducts business mainly
outside of the Cayman Islands may apply to be registered as an exempted company.

Investors should submit any inquiries to the address and telephone number of our principal executive offices. Our
main website is http://www.brbiotech.com. The information contained on our website, or the contents of any
website accessible from hyperlinks on our website, is not a part of this Prospectus, unless that information is
expressly incorporated herein.
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THE DIRECT LISTING, THE DUAL LISTING AND THE AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES
Direct Listing

The Company is listing its ADSs, each representing one Class A ordinary share of the Company of par value
US$0.0002. Admission is expected to take place at 8:00 a.m. on 1 November 2022. At Admission, the ADSs will
be admitted to trading by way of a Direct Listing on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market under the symbol
“BNR”. The ADSs will be registered with ISIN number US12233L.1070 and SEDOL number BMD5LR9.

The Company’s ADSs have been listed on the Nasdag Global Market since 12 June 2020 and trade under the
symbol “BNR.” The Company’s ADSs will continue to be listed and traded on the Nasdaq Global Market. The
LSE-listed ADSs will be fully fungible with the ADSs listed on the Nasdaq Global Market and the Nasdag Global
Market-listed ADSs will be fully fungible with the ADSs listed on the LSE. Custodial and depositary links have
been established between Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC to facilitate the cross-market transfers of the ADSs
associated with secondary market trading.

Expected timetable of principal events

Event Time and Date®
Publication of Prospectus 27 October 2022
Admission and commencement of dealings 8:00 a.m. on 1 November 2022

(@ References are to London times. Each of the times and dates is subject to change without further notice.

Description of the ADSs

For a description of the ADSs and the Company’s ordinary shares underlying the ADSs, see “Description of
American Depositary Shares (Items 12.D.1 and 12.D.2 of Form 20-F)” and “Description of Ordinary Shares
(Items 9.A.3, 9.A5, 9.A.6, 10.B.3, 10.B.4, 10.B.6, 10.B.7, 10.B.8, 10.B.9 and 10.B.10 of Form 20-F)” in the
Description of Rights (pages A5-7 to A5-17 and A5-1 to A5-7, respectively, of the Prospectus).

For further information on the Company’s ADSs, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the ADSs” on page 47 of
the Prospectus.

For information on taxation relating to the ADSs, see “Item 10. Additional Information—E. Taxation” of the 2021
Form 20-F (pages A3-136 to A3-142 of the Prospectus) and “Additional Information—UK Taxation” “~Certain
U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations” of the Prospectus.

Consequences of a Standard Listing

Application will be made for up to 106,139,986 ADSs to be admitted to listing on the Official List of the FCA
pursuant to Chapters 14 and 20 of the UK Listing Rules, which set out the requirements for standard listings. The
Company will comply with the Listing Principles set out in Listing Rule 7.2.1.

A standard listing affords subscribers and purchasers of ADSs a lower level of regulatory protection than that
afforded to investors in companies whose securities are admitted to the premium listing segment of the Official
List of the FCA, which are subject to additional obligations under the Listing Rules.

In addition, while the Company has a Standard Listing, it is not required to comply with the provisions of, among
other things:

e Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules containing additional requirements for the listing of equity securities,
which are only applicable for companies with a premium listing;

e Chapter 8 of the UK Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a listing sponsor to guide the Company
in understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the UK Listing Rules in connection with certain
matters. The Company has not and does not intend to appoint such a sponsor in connection with the
Listing;
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e Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules containing provisions relating to transactions, including, amongst other
things, requirements relating to future issues of shares, the ability to issue shares at a discount in excess
of 10% of market value, notifications and contents of financial information;

Chapter 10 of the UK Listing Rules relating to significant transactions;

Chapter 11 of the UK Listing Rules regarding related party transactions;

Chapter 12 of the UK Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Shares; and

Chapter 13 of the UK Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to Shareholders.

A company with a standard listing is not currently eligible for inclusion in any of the FTSE indices, including the
FTSE 100, FTSE 250, FTSE 350 and FTSE All-Share, among others. This may mean that certain institutional
investors are unable to invest in the ADSs.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

For information on the Company’s business, see “Item 4. Information On The Company—B. Business Overview”
and “—C. Organizational Structure” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-57 to A3-91 and pages A3-92 to A3-95,
respectively, of the Prospectus).

For information on activities in the field of research and development, see “ltem 4. Information On The
Company—B. Business Overview—Research and Development” in the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-75 of the
Prospectus).

For a breakdown of total revenues by operating segment, see the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
in the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-F-41 of the Prospectus).

For information on significant new products and services, please see “Operating and Financial Review —Recent
Developments”.
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OUR TEAM

All information in the 2021 Form 20-F, including “—E. Share Ownership” (pages A3-123 to A3-125 of the
Prospectus), is supplemented by the following: (i) on 24 June 2022, Mr. Jing Rong resigned as Director of the
Company and Dr. Licen Lisa Xu was appointed as an independent Director of the Company and received 45,436
Class A ordinary shares of the Company, (ii) on 17 June 2022, Dr. Min-Jui Richard Shen received an additional
2,549 Class A ordinary shares of the Company, and (iii) on 8 September 2022, the Company’s 2022 annual general
meeting re-elected Mr. Feng Deng, Mr. Leo Li and Dr. Licen Lisa Xu as directors of the Company. Dr. Licen Lisa
Xu and Dr. Min-Jui Richard Shen, respectively, hold less than 1% of the Company’s total outstanding ordinary
shares. All references in this Prospectus to section “—E. Share Ownership” of the 2021 Form 20-F refer to that
section as supplemented by the information in this Prospectus.

Our Employees

For information on our employees, see “ltem 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—D. Employees”
of the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-123 of the Prospectus).

For information regarding arrangements for involving employees in the capital of the Company, see “Additional
Information—>5. Share Incentive Awards” (pages 72 to 73 of this Prospectus) and “Item 6. Directors, Senior
Management and Employees—B. Compensation—Share Incentive Awards” and “—E. Share Ownership” of the
2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-120 to A3-121 and A3-123 to A3-125, respectively, of the Prospectus).

Our Directors and Senior Management

Directors and Senior Management Age Position/ Title

Wendy Hayes 52 Independent Director

Min-Jui Richard Shen 58 Independent Director

Licen Lisa Xu 56 Independent Director

Yusheng Han 44 Director (Chairman), Founder, Chief Executive Officer
Shaokun (Shannon) Chuai 43 Director, Chief Operating Officer

Leo Li 37 Director, Chief Financial Officer

Gang Lu 50 Director

Feng Deng 59 Director

Zhihong (Joe) Zhang 46 Chief Technology Officer

Ms. Wendy Hayes has served as our independent director since June 2020. Ms. Hayes has served as an
independent director of Tuanche Limited (NASDAQ: TC) since November 2018, iHuman Inc. (NYSE: IH) since
October 2020, Gracell Biotechnologies Inc. (NASDAQ: GRCL) since January 2021, and SciClone
Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited (HKEX: 6600) since March 2021. Between May 2013 and September 2018,
Ms. Hayes served as the inspections leader at the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in the United
States. Prior to that, Ms. Hayes was an audit partner at Deloitte (China). Ms. Hayes received her bachelor’s degree
in international finance from University of International Business and Economics in 1991, and her executive MBA
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2012. Ms. Hayes is currently a Senior Fellow of ALI at
Harvard University. Ms. Hayes is a certified public accountant in the United States (California) and China.

Dr. Min-Jui Richard Shen has served as our independent director since June 2020. Dr. Shen is the senior vice
president of research and development at Pacific Biosciences of California, Inc., a leading provider of high-
quality, highly accurate sequencing platforms. Dr. Shen was President of Omniome, a privately held start-up
acquired by Pacific Biosciences in 2021. He is the managing director of RS Technology Ventures, LLC, a strategic
advisory and investment company which he founded in 2016. From 2000 to 2016, Dr. Shen worked at Illumina,
Inc., a provider of life sciences tools company, where he served many roles, the last of which was vice president
for oncology research and development. Prior to Illumina Inc., Dr. Shen worked at Myriad Genetics, Inc., a
molecular diagnostics company, from 1998 to 2000. Dr. Shen received his bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from
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University of California, Los Angeles and his Ph.D. degree in biochemistry and molecular biology from Louisiana
State University Medical Center. Additionally, Dr. Shen is a member of the External Advisory Board of the Parker
H. Petit Institute for Bioengineering and Bioscience at the Georgia Institute of Technology.

Dr. Licen Lisa Xu has served as our independent director since June 2022. Dr. Xu has over 15 years of experience
in driving the productisation and lifecycle for life science and biomedical products, from conceptualisation and
research to development and commercialisation. She is the chief commercial officer of FlashDx Inc., a molecular
diagnostics point-of-care solution company, and an independent board member of Ribbon Biolab, a company
specialised in the production of synthetic DNAs. Dr. Xu served as a vice president on strategic product
management and lifecycle management at Roche Diagnostics, a subsidiary of Roche Holding AG for the
development of diagnostic tests, instruments and digital solutions, and a vice president on strategic marketing and
product management at lllumina Inc. Dr. Xu has a Ph.D. degree in molecular biology from University of Zurich
and a master of science degree in biophysics from Tsinghua University, and completed the business executive
education program from Wharton Business School, University of Pennsylvania.

Mr. Yusheng Han is our founder, chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer. Mr. Han has 17
years of experience in life science. From June 2011 to November 2013, he was an associate in Northern Light
Venture Capital where he focused on investment in the healthcare industry and helped the firm invest in successful
companies. From July 2005 to May 2009, Mr. Han worked at BioTek Instruments, Inc. as its general manager in
China. During his term with BioTek Instruments China, he built and led teams across marketing, sales and post-
sale. From September 2003 to May 2005, he served as the product specialist of Gene Company Limited. Mr. Han
received a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from Jilin University in July 2000, and a master’s degree in cell
biology in Peking Union Medical College in June 2003. He obtained a Master of Business Administration degree
from Columbia Business School in May 2011.

Dr. Shaokun (Shannon) Chuai has served as our director since August 2016. Dr. Chuai joined us as chief
technology officer in May 2014 and she was appointed the chief operating officer in March 2016. Prior to joining
us, she worked at China Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research (CNIBR), responsible for the bioinformatics
and translational research platform, and Novartis Oncology as the principal statistician for phase 111 clinical trials
of targeted drugs. From June 2003 to June 2005, she worked at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center as
research statistician, responsible for omics data mining and clinical trial design. Dr. Chuai holds a bachelor’s
degree from Nankai University, a master’s degree in statistics and applied mathematics from Texas A&M
University, and a Ph.D. degree in biostatistics from the University of Pennsylvania.

Mr. Leo Li has served as our chief financial officer since the third quarter of 2019 and our director since the first
quarter of 2020. Prior to joining us, Mr. Li served as the chief financial officer of Weidai Ltd., a NYSE-listed
leading auto-backed financing solution provider in China. Prior to Weidai Ltd., Mr. Li served as an investment
director and later an executive director of Vision Knight Capital, or VKC, a private equity fund focusing on
China’s internet-driven sectors. Prior to VKC, Mr. Li worked at Morgan Stanley Asia Ltd. Mr. Li attended
University of Oxford from 2004 to 2008 and received a four-year Master of Physics degree. Mr. Li is a Chartered
Financial Analyst.

Mr. Gang Lu has served as our director since June 2014. In 2009, Mr. Lu joined Legend Star, a venture capital
headquartered in Beijing, and he is now a partner of Legend Star and leads investment in healthcare, specialised
in the fields of innovative medicine, biological and genetic technology, and innovative medical service. Mr. Lu
holds a bachelor’s degree in electromagnetic engineering from Xidian University and a Master of Business
Administration degree from Tsinghua University.

Mr. Feng Deng has served as our director since August 2016. Mr. Deng has over 20 years of experience in venture
capital, computer science and telecommunication industry. He founded Northern Light Venture Capital in January
2006 and served as its managing director, focusing on investment in technology, media and telecom, or TMT,
clean technology, healthcare and consumer sectors. From February 2004 to February 2005, he served as the vice
president in strategy in Juniper Networks. From October 1997 to February 2004, Mr. Deng served as the vice
president in engineering, chief strategy officer and a director of NetScreen Technologies Inc. Prior to NetScreen,
he worked at Intel Corporation as a systems architect from July 1993 to October 1997. He holds a bachelor’s and
a master’s degree in electronic engineering from Tsinghua University, a master’s degree in computer engineering
from the University of Southern California, and a Master of Business Administration degree from the Wharton
Business School of the University of Pennsylvania.
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Dr. Zhihong (Joe) Zhang served as our chief technology officer since March 2016. Prior to joining us, Dr. Zhang
was a staff scientist of Illumina, Inc., and a senior fellow of Howard Hughes Medical Institute and University of
Washington. He obtained a bachelor’s and master’s degree in biochemistry and molecular biology from Fudan
University in 1997 and 2000, and a Ph.D. degree in molecular genetics and microbiology from Duke University
in 2005.

The business address of each of our directors and executive officers is: No. 5, Xingdao Ring Road North,
International Bio Island, Guangzhou, China.

For further information on our Directors and senior management, including their shareholdings and stock options
in the Company, see “ltem 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—E. Share Ownership” of the 2021
Form 20-F (pages A3-123 to A3-125 of the Prospectus).

For information regarding the service contracts of our Directors and Senior Management, including their terms of
appointment, see “ltem 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—B. Compensation—Employment
Agreements and Indemnification Agreements” and “—C. Board Practice—Terms of Directors and Officers” of
the 2021 20-F (pages A3-118 to A3-119 and page A3-123, respectively, of the Prospectus).

Board Committees and Corporate Governance

For information on our Audit Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, see “ltem 6.
Directors, Senior Management and Employees—C. Board Practice—Committees of the Board of Directors—
Audit Committee” and “—Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee” of the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-
121 and A3-122, respectively, of the Prospectus).

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Mr. Yusheng Han, Mr. Feng Deng and Dr. Xu. Mr. Yusheng Han is the
chairman of our compensation committee. The compensation committee assists the board in reviewing and
approving the compensation structure, including all forms of compensation, relating to our directors and executive
officers. Our chief executive officer may not be present at any committee meeting during which his compensation
is deliberated. The compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:

e reviewing and approving, or recommending to the board for its approval, the compensation for our chief
executive officer and other executive officers;

e reviewing and recommending to the board for determination with respect to the compensation of our
non-employee directors;

e reviewing periodically and approving any incentive compensation or equity plans, programs or similar
arrangements; and

e selecting compensation consultant, legal counsel or other adviser only after taking into consideration all
factors relevant to that person’s independence from management.

The Company is subject to the corporate governance standards of the Cayman Islands. Further, as a Cayman
Islands company listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, we are subject to the Nasdaq Global Market corporate
governance listing standards.

Compensation and Remuneration

For information on remuneration paid to our Directors and senior management, see “ltem 6. Directors, Senior
Management and Employees—B. Compensation” of the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-118 to A3-121 of the
Prospectus).

Conflicts

There are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties owed by our Directors or senior management and
their private interests or other duties.
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No Director or senior manager has or has had any interest in any transactions which are or were unusual in their
nature or conditions or are or were significant to the business of the Group or any of its subsidiary undertakings
and which were effected by the Group or any of its subsidiaries during the current or immediately preceding
financial year or during an earlier financial year and which remain in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

There are no outstanding loans or guarantees granted or provided by any member of the Group to or for the benefit
of any of the Directors or senior managers.

There are no family relationships between any of the Directors and/or the senior managers.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
1. Financial Condition and Operating Results
Three months ended 30 June 2022 and 2021

For information on the Company’s financial condition for the period indicated above, please see “Second Quarter
2022 Financial Results” in the Q2 2022 Financial Information (page Al-1 of the Prospectus).

Three months ended 31 March 2022 and 2021

For information on the Company’s financial condition for the period indicated above, please see “First Quarter
2022 Financial Results” in the Q1 2022 Financial Information (page A2-1 of the Prospectus).

Years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019

For information on the Company’s financial condition, including trend information and significant factors
affecting the Company’s operating results, please see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects —
A. Operating Results” and “—D. Trend Information” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-95 to A3-112 and A3-115
of the Prospectus).

2. Liquidity and Capital Resources

For information on the Company’s liquidity and capital resources, including trend information and significant
factors affecting the Company’s performance, please see “ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects—B. Liquidity and Capital resources” of the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-112 to A3-115 of the
Prospectus).

For a description of the Company’s material investments, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects—B. Liquidity and Capital resources—Investing Activities” of the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-113 to
A3-114 of the Prospectus).

3. Recent Developments

For information regarding business updates which took place at the Group during the three months ended 30 June
2022, see “Recent Business Updates” in the Q2 2022 Financial Information (page Al-1 of the Prospectus).

For information regarding business updates which took place at the Group during the three months ended 31
March 2022, see “Recent Business Updates” in the Q1 2022 Financial Information (page A2-1 of the Prospectus).

In addition, on 8 September 2022, the shareholders approved, confirmed, and ratified the adoption of the 2022
Long-term Equity Incentive Plan and the grant of options thereunder. For a description of the 2022 Long-term
Equity Incentive Plan, see “Additional Information—Item 5. Share Incentive Awards (pages 72 and 73 of the
Prospectus).
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OUR CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Capitalisation and Indebtedness
For information on Company’s consolidated capitalisation as at 31 December 2021, see “Item 5. Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects—B. Liquidity and Capital resources” of the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-112 to
A3-115 of the Prospectus).

The following tables set out the Company’s consolidated capitalisation and unaudited indebtedness as at 31
August 2022 (USD, thousands).

As at 31 August 2022

($ thousands)

(unaudited)

Total Current Debt 21,099
Guaranteed -

Secured -
Unguaranteed/ unsecured 21,099

Total Non-Current Debt 4,004
Guaranteed -

Secured -
Unguaranteed/ unsecured 4,004
Shareholders’ equity 223,199
Share Capital 21

Legal reserve(s) -

Other reserves 223,178

Total capitalisation 248,302

There has been no material change in the capitalisation of the Group since 31 August 2022.

The following tables set out the Group’s net indebtedness as at 31 August 2022 (USD, thousands).

As at 31 August 2022
($ thousands)
(unaudited)
A. Cash 155,562
B. Cash equivalents -
C. Other current financial assets 21,882
D. Liquidity (A) + (B) + (C) 177,444
E. Current financial debt (including debt instruments, but 21,099
excluding current portion of non-current financial debt)
F. Current portion of non-current debt -
G. Current financial indebtedness (E) + (F) 21,099
H. Net current financial indebtedness (G) — (D) (156,345)
I. Non-current financial debt (excluding current portion and 4,004
debt instruments)
J. Debt instruments -
K. Non-current trade and other payables -
L. Non-current financial indebtedness (1) + (J) + (K) 4,004
M. Total financial indebtedness (H) + (L) (152,341)

There are no contingent or indirect liabilities.
Further Updates

There has been no material change in the Group’s indebtedness since 31 August 2022.
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Historical Financial Information

This section of the Prospectus includes the historical financial information for the Group as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019, as well as the Auditors Reports thereon prepared by Ernst & Young
Hua Ming LLP.

Please see “Consolidated Financial Statements—Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”
(pages A3-F-2 to A3-F-5 of the Prospectus), “Consolidated Financial Statements” (pages A3-F-6 to A3-F-16 of
the Prospectus) and “Consolidated Financial Statements—Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements) (pages
A3-F-17 to A3-F-65 of the Prospectus) of the 2021 Form 20-F.

In addition, please see “Consolidated Financial Statements—Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm” (page A4-1 of the Prospectus), “Consolidated Financial Statements” (pages A4-2 to A4-11 of the
Prospectus) and “Consolidated Financial Statements—Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements) (pages
A4-12 to A4-62 of the Prospectus) of the 2020 Form 20-F.

Interim Financial Information

For the unaudited condensed consolidated financial information for the Group as of and for the six months ended
30 June 2022, please see the sections headed: “Unaudited Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss”,
“Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets” and “Unaudited Condensed Statement of Cash Flows” in
the Q2 2022 Financial Information (pages A1-6 to A1-10 of the Prospectus). This information has not been audited
or reviewed.

Non-GAAP Measures

In evaluating the business, the Company considers and uses non-GAAP measures, such as non-GAAP gross profit
and non-GAAP gross margin, as supplemental measures to review and assess operating performance. The
presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. The Company defines non-GAAP gross profit as gross profit excluding
depreciation and amortisation. The Company defines non-GAAP gross margin as gross margin excluding
depreciation and amortisation.

For a reconciliation of U.S. GAAP and non-GAAP financial information incorporated into this Prospectus, please
see the section headed: “Reconciliations of GAAP and Non-GAAP Measures” in the Q2 2022 Financial
Information (page Al-11 of the Prospectus).

The Company presents these non-GAAP financial measures because they are used by management to evaluate
operating performance and formulate business plans. We believe non-GAAP gross profit and non-GAAP gross
margin excluding non-cash impact of depreciation and amortisation reflect our ongoing business operations in a
manner that allows more meaningful period-to-period comparisons.
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REGULATORY INFORMATION

For information on the Company’s regulatory environment, please see “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus and “Item
4. Information on the Company—B. Business Overview—Regulation” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-77 to A3-
91 of the Prospectus).
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SETTLEMENT AND TRANSFER
Euroclear and Clearstream

Euroclear and Clearstream each hold securities for participating organisations and facilitate the clearance and
settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants through electronic book entry changes
in accounts of such participants. Euroclear and Clearstream provide to their respective participants, amongst other
things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and
securities lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream participants are financial institutions throughout the
world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and
certain other organisations.

Euroclear and Clearstream have established an electronic bridge between their two systems across which their
respective customers may settle trades with each other. Indirect access to Euroclear or Clearstream is also available
to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies which clear through or maintain a custodial
relationship with a Euroclear or Clearstream participant, either directly or indirectly. Distributions of dividends
and other payments with respect to book-entry interests in the ADSs held through Euroclear or Clearstream will
be credited, to the extent received by the Depositary, to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream participants
in accordance with the relevant system’s rules and procedures.

Depository Trust Company

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) is a limited-purpose trust company organised under the laws of the State
of New York, a “banking organisation” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
United States Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform
Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange
Act. DTC holds securities for DTC participants and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities
transactions between DTC participants through electronic computerised book-entry changes in DTC participants’
accounts. DTC participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations,
and certain other organisations. Indirect access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities
brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship witha DTC
participant, either directly or indirectly.

Holders of book-entry interests in the ADSs holding through DTC will receive, to the extent received by the
Depositary, all distributions of dividends or other payments with respect to book-entry interests in the ADSs from
the Depositary through DTC and DTC participants. Distributions in the United States will be subject to relevant
U.S. tax laws and regulations. See “—Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations”.

As DTC can act on behalf of DTC direct participants only, who in turn act on behalf of DTC indirect participants,
the ability of beneficial owners who are indirect participants to pledge book-entry interests in the ADSs to persons
or entities that do not participate in DTC, or otherwise take actions with respect to book-entry interests in the
ADSs, may be limited.

Euroclear and Clearstream maintain positions in DTC, through which trading of the ADS listed on the London
Stock Exchange will be effected.

Registration and Form

The manner in which an ADS holder owns the ADSs (e.g., in a brokerage account vs. as registered holder, or as
holder of certificated vs. uncertificated ADSs) may affect such holders rights and obligations, and the manner in
which, and extent to which, the Depositary’s services are made available to such holder.

As an owner of ADSs, you may hold your ADSs either by means of an American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”)
registered in your name, through a brokerage or safekeeping account, or through an account established by the
Depositary in your name reflecting the registration of uncertificated ADSs directly on the books of the Depositary
(commonly referred to as the “direct registration system” or “DRS”). The direct registration system reflects the
uncertificated (book-entry) registration of ownership of ADSs by the Depositary. Under the direct registration
system, ownership of ADSs is evidenced by periodic statements issued by the Depositary to the holders of the
ADSs. The direct registration system includes automated transfers between the Depositary and the central book-
entry clearing and settlement systems for equity securities. If you decide to hold your ADSs through your
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brokerage or safekeeping account, you must rely on the procedures of your broker or bank to assert your rights as
ADS owner. Banks and brokers typically hold securities such as the ADSs through clearing and settlement
systems. The procedures of such clearing and settlement systems may limit your ability to exercise your rights as
an owner of ADSs. Please consult with your broker or bank if you have any questions concerning these limitations
and procedures.

As necessary, the Depositary will adjust the amounts of ADSs on the relevant register to reflect the amounts of
ADSs held through Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC, respectively. The aggregate holdings of book-entry interests
in the ADSs in Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC will be reflected in the book-entry accounts of each such
institution. Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC, as the case may be, and every other intermediate holder in the chain
to the beneficial owner of book-entry interests in the ADSs, will be responsible for establishing and maintaining
accounts for their participants and customers having interests in the book-entry interests in the ADSs. The
Depositary will be responsible for ensuring that payments received by it from the Company for holders holding
through Euroclear and Clearstream are credited to Euroclear’s account in DTC as the case may be, and the
Depositary will also be responsible for ensuring that payments received by it from the Company for other holders
holding via direct participants in DTC are received by DTC.

The address for DTC is 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041, United States. The address for Euroclear
is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert 11, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium. The address for Clearstream is 42 Avenue J.F.
Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Luxembourg.

Clearing and Settlement Procedures
Initial Settlement

Purchasers electing to hold book-entry interests in the ADSs through Euroclear and Clearstream accounts will
follow the settlement procedures applicable to depositary receipts. DTC participants acting on behalf of purchasers
electing to hold book-entry interests in the ADSs through DTC will follow the delivery practices applicable to
depositary receipts.

Transfer Restrictions

For a description of the transfer restrictions relating to the ADRs, see “Transfer, Combination and Split Up of
ADRs” of the Description of Rights (page A5-40 to A5-41 of the Prospectus) and “Risk Factors—You may be
subject to limitations on transfer of your ADSs” on page 52 of the Prospectus.

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the ADSs held through Euroclear or Clearstream to purchasers
of book-entry interests in the ADSs through Euroclear or Clearstream will be conducted in accordance with the
normal rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream and will be settled using the normal
procedures applicable to depositary receipts.

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the ADSs held through DTC will occur in the ordinary way in
accordance with DTC rules and will be settled using the procedures applicable to depositary receipts if payment
is effected in U.S. Dollars, or free of payment, if payment is not effected in U.S. Dollars. Where payment is not
effected in U.S. Dollars, separate payment arrangements outside DTC are required to be made between the DTC
participants.

Trading between a DTC Seller and a Euroclear/Clearstream Purchaser

When book-entry interests in the ADSs are to be transferred from the account of a DTC participant to the
account of a Euroclear or Clearstream participant, the DTC participant must send to DTC a delivery free of
payment or a delivery versus payment instruction at least two business days prior to the settlement date. DTC
will in turn transmit such instruction to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, on the settlement date. In
the case of delivery free of payment, separate payment arrangements are required to be made between the DTC
participant and the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participant. On the settlement date, DTC will debit the
account of its DTC participant and will instruct the Depositary to instruct Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case
may be, to credit Euroclear or Clearstream’s account in DTC, to be credited in the name of the relevant
participant in Euroclear or Clearstream in its own systems.

Trading between Clearstream/Euroclear Seller and DTC Purchaser
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When book-entry interests in the ADSs are to be transferred from the account of a Euroclear or Clearstream
participant to the account of a DTC participant, the Euroclear or Clearstream participant must send to Euroclear
or Clearstream a delivery free of payment or a delivery versus payment instruction at least two business days prior
to the settlement date. In the case of delivery free of payment, separate payment arrangements are required to be
made between the DTC participant and the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participant, as the case may be. On
the settlement date, Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will debit the account of its participant and will
instruct the Depositary to instruct DTC to debit Euroclear or Clearstream’s account in DTC, to be credited in the
name of the relevant participant in DTC in its own system.

General

Although the foregoing sets out the procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC in order to facilitate the
transfers of interests in the ADSs among participants of Euroclear, Clearstream, and DTC, none of Euroclear,
Clearstream or DTC is under any obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such
procedures may be discontinued at any time.

Neither the Company, the Depositary nor their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance
by Euroclear, Clearstream or DTC or their respective participants of their respective obligations under the rules
and procedures governing their operations.

Information Relating to the Depositary

The ADSs have been issued pursuant to a Deposit Agreement (the “Deposit Agreement”) dated as of 16 June
2020, among Citibank, N.A. as depositary (the “Depositary”), the Company, and the Holders and Beneficial
Owners of ADSs issued thereunder, as supplemented and amended by that certain letter agreement, expected to
be dated on or about 1 November 2022, between the Depositary and the Company. The Depositary has appointed
Citibank, N.A.—Hong Kong as custodian to safe keep the securities on deposit. The Depositary’s office is located
at 388 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10013.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1. Incorporation

The Company was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 6 March 2014 as an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands with the name
Burning Rock Biotech Limited and with the registered number 285770.

Our registered office in the Cayman Islands is located at the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited at PO
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. Our principal executive offices are located
at No. 5, Xingdao Ring Road North, International Bio Island, Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China. Our
telephone number at this address is +86 020-3403 7871. Our LEI number is 5493006HO04GB8AQ2V43 and our
website is http://www.brbiotech.com. Information contained on our website, or the contents of any website
accessible from hyperlinks on our website are not incorporated into and do not form part of this Prospectus unless
that information is expressly incorporated herein.

The principal laws and legislation under which the Company operates and the Shares have been created are the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and regulations made thereunder.

2. Share Capital

The authorised share capital of the Company is US$50,000 divided into 250,000,000 shares comprising of (i)
230,000,000 Class A ordinary shares of a par value of US$ 0.0002 each and (ii) 20,000,000 Class B ordinary
shares of a par value of US$0.0002 each. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company had 105,725,451 ordinary
shares outstanding, comprising (i) 88,400,603 Class A ordinary shares, excluding 414,535 Class A ordinary shares
issued to our depositary bank for bulk issuance of ADSs reserved for future issuances upon the exercise or vesting
of awards granted under share incentive plans, and (ii) 17,324,848 Class B ordinary shares.

For further information on the Company’s share capital, please see “Item 10. Additional Information—B.
Memorandum and Articles of Association—Ordinary Shares” and “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and
Employees—E. Share Ownership” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-129 to A3-130 and pages A3-123 to A3-125,
respectively, of the Prospectus).

For a history of the Company’s share capital for the period covered by the Historical Financial Information, see
“Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ (Deficit)/Equity for the Years Ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and
2021” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-F-11 to A3-F-13 of the Prospectus).

3. Memorandum and Articles of Association

The objects for which the Company is established are unrestricted and the Company shall have full power and
authority to carry out any object not prohibited by the law of the Cayman Islands. The business of the Company
may be conducted as the Directors see fit.

For further information on the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, see “Item 10. Additional
Information—B. Memorandum and Articles of Association” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-129 to A3-136 of
the Prospectus).

4. Major Shareholders

For information on the Company’s major shareholders, including beneficial ownership of its ordinary shares by
(a) each of the Company’s directors and executive officers and (b) each person known to the Company to own
beneficially more than 5% of its ordinary shares, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—E.
Share Ownership” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-123 to A3-125 of the Prospectus).

For a discussion of the Company’s dual-class share structure and the ability of holders of our shares to influence
corporate matters, see “Risk Factors—Our dual-class share structure with different voting rights will limit your
ability to influence corporate matters and could discourage others from pursuing any change of control
transactions that holders of our Class A ordinary shares and the ADSs may view as beneficial” on page 53 of the
Prospectus.
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The Directors have no knowledge of any arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in
a change of control of the Company.

Other than as described in “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—E. Share Ownership” in the
2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-123 to A3-125 of the Prospectus), none of the Company’s major sharcholders have or
will have different voting rights attached to the shares they hold in the Company.

5. Share Incentive Awards

The information in the 2021 Form 20-F relating to the 2021 Long-term Equity Incentive Plan (page A3-119 of
the Prospectus), is supplemented by the following:

2022 Long-term Equity Incentive Plan

In July 2022, the Company’s board of directors approved the Company’s 2022 Long-term Incentive Plan, or the
2022 Plan, which was subsequently approved by the Company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting in
September 2022. The 2022 Plan replaces the Company’s 2021 Long-term Equity Incentive Plan and the share
incentive awards granted thereunder. The 2022 Plan will grant options to senior management and employees.
The maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2022 Plan is 11,775,525
Class A ordinary shares (the “Awards”), which represents approximately 9% of the Company’s current total
outstanding shares on a converted and fully diluted basis.

The following paragraphs describe the principal terms of the 2022 Plan:
Type of awards. The 2022 Plan permits the Awards of options.

Allocation and Plan administration. The Awards consist of three tranches of options (the “Pool I Awards”,
“Pool I Awards” and “Pool III Awards”). The Pool I Awards, which represent options to purchase 1.65% of the
total outstanding number of shares of the Company on an as converted and fully diluted basis, or 2,158,846
Class A ordinary shares, will be granted to officers and employees of the Company. Mr. Yusheng Han, the
Company’s chairman and CEO, will not be granted any awards of options under the Pool | Awards. The Pool 1l
Awards, which represent options to purchase 4.35% of the total outstanding number of shares of the Company
on an as converted and fully diluted basis, or 5,691,504 Class A ordinary shares, will to 62.07% (or option to
purchase 3,532,658 Class A ordinary shares) be granted to Mr. Yusheng Han, the Company’s chairman and
CEO, and the rest to other officers and employees. The Pool 111 Awards, which represent options to purchase
3% of the total outstanding number of shares of the Company on an as converted and fully diluted basis, or
3,925,175 Class A ordinary shares, will to 45% (or option to purchase 3,532,658 Class A ordinary shares) be
granted to Mr. Yusheng Han, the Company’s chairman and CEO, and the rest to other officers and employees.

Award agreement. Awards granted under the 2022 Plan are evidenced by an award agreement that sets forth
terms, conditions and limitations for each award, which may include the term of the award, the provisions
applicable in the event of the grantee’s employment or service terminates, and the Company’s authority to
unilaterally or bilaterally amend, modify, suspend, cancel or rescind the award.

Eligibility. The Company may grant awards to senior management and employees of the Company under the
2022 Plan.

Vesting schedule.

Pool | Awards

The Pool | Awards will vest once (a) the valuation of the Company (based on the 60-day average closing share
price of its publicly traded shares) reaches US$2 billion by the fifth anniversary of the grant date (the “Pool I
valuation target”), and (b) the grantee remains employed by the Company at the time when the Pool | valuation
target is achieved, and the remaining 60% of the Pool I Awards will vest once (a) the Pool | valuation target has
been achieved, (b) the grantee remains employed by the Company at the time when the Pool | valuation target is
achieved, and (c) the grantee has been employed by the Company for five (5) years after the date of grant.

Pool Il Awards
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40% of the Pool 11 Awards will vest once (a) the valuation of the Company (based on the 60-day average
closing share price of its publicly traded shares) reaches US$4 billion by the seventh anniversary of the grant
date (the “Pool II valuation target”), and (b) the grantee remains employed by the Company at the time when the
Pool Il valuation target is achieved, and the remaining 60% of the Pool Il Awards will vest once (a) the Pool Il
valuation target has been achieved, (b) the grantee remains employed by the Company at the time when the Pool
Il valuation target is achieved, and (c) the grantee has been employed by the Company for five (5) years after
the date of grant.

Pool 111 Awards

40% of the Pool 111 Awards will vest once (a) the valuation of the Company (based on the 60-day average
closing share price of its publicly traded shares) reaches US$10 billion by the seventh anniversary of the grant
date (the “Pool III valuation target”), and (b) the grantee remains employed by the Company at the time when
the Pool Il valuation target is achieved, and, the remaining 60% of the Pool 111 Awards will vest once (a) the
Pool 111 valuation target has been achieved, (b) the grantee remains employed by the Company at the time when
the Pool 111 valuation target is achieved, and (c) the grantee has been employed by the Company for five (5)
years after the date of grant.

Exercise of options. The grantee can exercise the vested portion of options granted under the 2022 Plan at any
time but no more than ten years after the grant date. The exercise price of the Awards shall be US$3.33 per
share, which is equivalent to the Company’s 60-day average closing share price immediately prior to September
8, 2022, the date of shareholder approval.

Transfer Restrictions. Awards may not be transferred in any manner by the participant other than in accordance
with the exceptions provided in the 2022 Plan or the relevant award agreement or otherwise determined by the
Compensation Committee, such as transfers by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

Termination and Amendment. Our board of directors has the authority to amend or terminate the 2022 Plan, but
no amendments, alternation or discontinuation made by the board of director, (a) without the approval (but only
to extent such approval is required by the principal national securities exchange on which the shares are listed or
admitted to trading, and subject to certain other exceptions) of the shareholders of our company, if such action
would increase the total number of shares reserved for the purposes of our 2022 Plan or change the maximum
number of shares for which awards may be granted to any participant under the 2022 Plan, (b) such action may
diminish any of the rights of the participant under any award pursuant to the 2022 Plan unless agreed by the
participant. In addition, the Allocated Awards can only be amended at a shareholders’ general meeting, at which
meeting our C-level officers and/or entities they beneficially own shall abstain from voting.

As of September 30, 2022, there were 9,184,923 ordinary shares underlying outstanding options granted to the
Company’s executive officers and employees under the 2022 Plan.

For information regarding the Company’s other share incentive awards, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior
Management and Employees—B. Compensation—Share Incentive Awards” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-
120 to A3-121 of the Prospectus).

6. Pensions

For information regarding the total amounts set aside or accrued by the Group to provide for pension, retirement
or similar benefits, see “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Employee defined contribution plan” in
the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-F-37 of the Prospectus) .

7. Group Structure

For information regarding the Group’s structure, see “ltem 4. Information on the Company—C. Organizational
Structure” in the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-92 of the Prospectus).

8. Dividend Policy
For information regarding the Company’s dividend policy, see “Item 8. Financial Information—A. Consolidated

Statements and Other Financial Information—Dividend Policy” of the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-128 of the
Prospectus).
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For information regarding the amount of dividend per share declared by the Company for the years ending 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021, see “Consolidated Financial Statements—Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements—Share options” of the 2021 Form 20-F (page A3-F-52 of the Prospectus).

9. Material Contracts

For information regarding contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) that have
been entered into by the Company or another member of the Group: (a) within the two years immediately
preceding the date of this Prospectus which are, or may be, material to the Company or any member of the Group;
or (b) at any time and contain provisions under which the Company or any member of the Group has an obligation
or entitlement which is, or may be, material to the Company or any member of the Group as at the date of this
Prospectus, see “ltem 4. Information On The Company—B. Business Overview” and “—C. Organizational
Structure” in the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-57 to A3-91 and pages A3-92 to A3-95, respectively, of the
Prospectus) and below.

Letter Agreement

On or about 1 November 2022, the Company expects to enter into a letter agreement (“the “Letter Agreement”)
to supplement and amend the Deposit Agreement, dated as of 16 June 2020 (the “Deposit Agreement”) which
governs the terms of the Company’s ADSs for purposes of the Admission.

10. UK Taxation

The following is a summary of certain aspects of the UK tax treatment of an investment in the ADSs. It is for
general information only and is not an exhaustive analysis of all UK tax consequences of acquiring, holding or
disposing of the ADSs. It does not constitute legal or tax advice.

The comments set out below are based on current UK tax law as applied in England and Wales and HM
Revenue & Customs published practice (which may not be binding on HM Revenue & Customs) as at the date
of this Prospectus, both of which are subject to change, possibly with retrospective effect.

The following comments are intended as a general guide and, except where expressly stated otherwise, apply
only to holders of the ADSs who: (i) are: () resident and, in the case of an individual, domiciled, for tax
purposes in the UK and to whom “split year” treatment does not apply; or (y) hold ADSs through a permanent
establishment or branch within the UK; (ii) do not have a permanent establishment or fixed base outside the UK
with which the holding of the ADSs (and dividends paid in respect of the ADSS) is connected; (iii) hold ADSs
as an investment (other than under an Individual Savings Account (including Lifetime ISAs) or a Self-
investment Personal Pension); and (iv) are, or are treated as, the absolute beneficial owners thereof. For the
avoidance of doubt, the following comments do not apply to holders of the ADSs who are temporarily non-
resident in the UK.

Certain categories of holders of ADSs, including those carrying on certain financial activities, those subject to
specific tax regimes or benefiting from certain reliefs or exemptions, those connected with the Company or
Group and those for whom the ADSs are employment related securities, may be subject to special rules and this
summary does not apply to such holders. This summary also does not apply to any holder of ADSs who, alone
or with certain associated persons, is (or has been) interested or treated as interested in more than 5% of the
ordinary share capital of the Company.

Each investor’s specific circumstances will impact on their UK taxation position, and all investors are
recommended to obtain their own bespoke taxation advice. Holders of ADSs and prospective holders of ADSs
who are in any doubt about their tax position, or who are resident or otherwise subject to taxation in a
jurisdiction outside the UK, should consult their own professional advisers immediately.

This summary assumes that: (a) the ADSs and the underlying Shares are not registered in a register kept in the
UK by or on behalf of the Company; (b) the ADSs and the underlying Shares are not paired with shares issued by
a company incorporated in the UK; (c) the underlying Shares will not be held by, and the ADSs will not be issued
by, a depositary (or nominee or agent for a depositary) incorporated in the UK or acting from an office within the
UK; (d) dividends paid in respect of the underlying Shares will be treated as income distributions for UK tax
purposes; and (e) the holders of ADSs are the absolute beneficial owners of the underlying Shares and of any
dividends paid in respect thereof for UK tax purposes.
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Taxation of the Company

The board of directors intend to conduct the affairs of the Company so that the Company does not become resident
in the UK for taxation purposes or otherwise subject to UK corporation tax. The summary below is written on the
basis that the Company is and remains resident for tax purposes solely in the Cayman Islands.

Taxation of Dividends

The Company will not be required to withhold amounts on account of UK tax at source when paying a dividend.
Except where expressly stated otherwise, the following paragraphs proceed on the basis that no withholding tax
is levied in the Cayman Islands or any other jurisdiction on dividend payments in respect of the ADSs.

Holders of ADSs subject to UK Income Tax

Dividends received by a holder of ADSs subject to UK income tax will generally be subject to tax as dividend
income.

For UK resident individual holders, the first £2,000 (the “Dividend Allowance”) of the gross amount of any UK
and non-UK source dividend income and certain other distributions in respect of shares (including any dividends
received in respect of the underlying Shares) (“Dividend Income”) received by such an individual in a tax year
will be taxed at a nil rate (and so no income tax will be payable in respect of such amounts).

Where the total Dividend Income of such an individual exceeds the Dividend Allowance (such excess being
referred to as the “Taxable Excess”), then the Taxable Excess will be subject to tax depending on the tax rate band
or bands it falls within. The relevant tax rate band is determined by reference to the total income of a UK resident
individual holder of ADSs charged to income tax (including the Dividend Income charged at a nil rate by virtue
of the Dividend Allowance) less relevant reliefs and allowances (including the personal allowance of such
individual). The Taxable Excess is treated as the top slice of that total income. So, on that basis:

e To the extent that the Taxable Excess falls below the basic rate limit, a UK resident individual holder of
ADSs will be subject to tax on it at the dividend basic rate of 8.75%.

e To the extent that the Taxable Excess falls above the basic rate limit but below the higher rate limit, a
UK resident individual holder of ADSs will be subject to tax on it at the dividend upper rate of 33.75%.

e To the extent that the Taxable Excess falls above the higher rate limit, a UK resident individual holder
of ADSs will be subject to tax on it at the dividend additional rate of 39.35%.

Individual holders of ADSs should note that, following the UK Government announcements on 23 September
2022 and 3 October 2022, from 6 April 2023, it is anticipated that the dividend basic rate referred to above will
fall to 7.5%, the dividend upper rate referred to above will fall to 32.5%, and the dividend additional rate referred
to above will fall to 38.1%.

The taxation of dividends received by trusts depends on the type of trust. Trustees should seek their own
bespoke taxation advice.

Corporate Holders of ADSs

Holders of ADSs who are within the charge to corporation tax in respect of ADSs will be subject to corporation
tax on any dividends paid by the Company unless (subject to special rules for such holders of ADSs that are
small companies) the dividends fall within an exempt class and certain other conditions are met. The position of
each holder of ADSs will depend on its own individual circumstances, although it would normally be expected
that the dividends paid by the Company would fall within an exempt class.

If the conditions to fall within an exempt class are not met (or cease to be satisfied), or a holder of ADSs elects
for an otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable, the holder of ADSs will be subject to UK corporation tax on
dividends received from the Company at the rate of corporation tax applicable to that holder (the main rate is
currently 19%, but scheduled to rise to 25% with effect from April 2023).

Credit for PRC Tax
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If PRC tax is withheld from dividends paid by the Company, credit may be given against UK tax on the same
income subject to general rules regarding the calculation and availability of such credit, including a requirement
to take all reasonable steps to minimise the amounts of PRC tax on such dividends, including claiming any
available allowances and reliefs. Where a dividend paid by the Company is treated as exempt from UK corporation
tax, a UK resident company will not be entitled to claim relief by way of credit in the UK in respect of any PRC
tax paid by such holder, either directly or by deduction, in respect of that dividend.

Taxation of Capital Gains

Holders of ADSs who are resident in the UK may, depending on their circumstances (including the availability of
exemptions or reliefs), be liable to UK taxation on chargeable gains in respect of gains arising from a sale or other
disposal (or deemed disposal) of ADSs.

Holders of ADSs subject to UK Capital Gains Tax

For a holder of ADSs subject to UK capital gains tax, a disposal (or deemed disposal) of the ADSs may give rise
to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for the purposes of UK capital gains tax.

Upon the disposal or deemed disposal of the ADSs, and after all allowable deductions, a UK resident individual
holder’s taxable chargeable gains would, for the 2022/2023 tax year, generally be taxed at (i) 10% if the aggregate
of the taxable chargeable gains and other taxable income for the year of that UK resident individual holder does
not exceed the basic rate income tax limit; or (ii) 20%, where the aggregate of the taxable chargeable gains and
other taxable income for the year of the relevant holder does exceed the basic rate income tax limit. A UK resident
individual holder is entitled to realise an annual exempt amount of gains (£12,300 for the 2022/2023 tax year)
without being liable to UK capital gains tax.

Corporate Holders of ADSs

For a holder of ADSs that is within the charge to UK corporation tax, a disposal (or deemed disposal) of the ADSs
may give rise to a chargeable gain subject to UK corporation tax (currently at a main rate of 19%, but scheduled
to rise to 25% with effect from April 2023) or an allowable loss for the purposes of UK corporation tax.

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”)

The following comments are intended as a general guide to the current UK stamp duty and SDRT position, and
apply regardless of whether or not an investor is resident in the UK. Certain categories of person (including
specified market intermediaries) are entitled to exemption from stamp duty and SDRT on purchases of securities
in specified circumstances.

No UK stamp duty or SDRT will be payable on (i) the issue of the ADSs, (ii) the delivery of the ADSs into DTC,
Euroclear or Clearstream or (iii) any dealings in the ADSs once they are delivered into such clearance systems,
where such dealings are effected in book-entry form in accordance with the procedures of DTC, Euroclear or
Clearstream (as applicable) and not by written instrument of transfer.

No SDRT will be payable in respect of any agreement to transfer the ADSs or underlying shares, on the basis of
the assumptions set out above in this summary.

Assuming that any document effecting a transfer of the ADSs or the underlying Shares, or containing an agreement
to transfer an equitable interest in the ADSs or the underlying Shares is neither (i) executed in the UK, nor (ii)
relates to any property situate, or to any matter or thing done or to be done, in the UK (the term “matter or thing
done or to be done” is very wide and can cover the involvement of UK bank accounts in payment mechanics),
then no UK stamp duty should be required to be paid on such document.

Even if a document effecting a transfer of the ADSs or the underlying Shares, or containing an agreement to
transfer an equitable interest in the ADSs or the underlying Shares is (i) executed in the UK and/or (ii) relates to
any property situate, or to any matter or thing done or to be done, in the UK, in practice it should not be necessary
to pay any UK stamp duty on such document unless the document is required for any purpose in the UK. If it is
necessary to pay UK stamp duty, it may also be necessary to pay interest and penalties.

Inheritance Tax
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The ADSs should be assets situated outside the UK for the purposes of UK inheritance tax provided the Shares
(and any other property represented by the ADSs) are situated outside the UK, the ADSs are not registered in any
register kept in the UK and the Depositary (or any nominee or agent for the Depositary) remains a non-UK
incorporated company acting from an office outside the UK. The Shares are assets situated outside the United
Kingdom for these purposes on the basis that they are not registered in any register kept in the UK.

A gift of such assets by, or the death of, an individual holder of such assets who is domiciled or is deemed to be
domiciled in the UK may (subject to certain exemptions and reliefs) give rise to a liability to UK inheritance tax.
Generally, UK inheritance tax is not chargeable on gifts to individuals if the transfer is made more than seven
complete years prior to the death of the donor. For inheritance tax purposes, a transfer of assets at less than full
market value may be treated as a gift and particular rules apply to gifts where the donor reserves or retains some
benefit. Special rules apply to close companies and to trustees of certain settlements who hold ADSs that may
bring them within the charge to inheritance tax.

11. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations that are likely to be relevant to the
purchase, ownership and disposition of our Class A ordinary shares or ADSs by a U.S. Holder (as defined below).

This summary is based on provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and
regulations, rulings and judicial interpretations thereof, in force as of the date hereof. Those authorities may be
changed at any time, perhaps retroactively, so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different
from those summarized below.

This summary is not a comprehensive discussion of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a
particular investor’s decision to purchase, hold, or dispose of Class A ordinary shares or ADSs. In particular,
this summary is directed only to U.S. Holders that hold Class A ordinary shares or ADSs as capital assets and
does not address particular tax consequences that may be applicable to U.S. Holders who may be subject to
special tax rules, such as banks, brokers or dealers in securities or currencies, traders in securities electing to
mark to market, financial institutions, insurance companies, tax-exempt entities, regulated investment
companies, entities or arrangements that are treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes (or the
partners therein), holders that own or are treated as owning 10% or more of our stock by vote or value, persons
holding Class A ordinary shares or ADSs as part of a hedging or conversion transaction or a straddle, or persons
whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar. Moreover, this summary does not address state, local or foreign
taxes, the U.S. federal estate and gift taxes, or the Medicare contribution tax applicable to net investment income
of certain non-corporate U.S. Holders, or alternative minimum tax consequences of acquiring, holding or
disposing of Class A ordinary shares or ADSs.

For purposes of this summary, a “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of Class A ordinary shares or ADSs that is
a citizen or resident of the U.S. or a U.S. domestic corporation or that otherwise is subject to U.S. federal
income taxation on a net income basis in respect of such Class A ordinary shares or ADSs.

You should consult your own tax advisors about the consequences of the acquisition, ownership and
disposition of the Class A ordinary shares or ADSs, including the relevance to your particular situation of
the considerations discussed below and any consequences arising under foreign, state, local or other tax
laws.

ADSs

In general, if you are a U.S. Holder of ADSs, you will be treated, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as the
beneficial owner of the underlying Class A ordinary shares that are represented by those ADSs. References to
“shares” below apply to both Class A ordinary shares and ADSs, unless the context indicates otherwise.

Deposits and withdrawals of Class A ordinary shares by U.S. Holders in exchange for ADSs will not result in
the realization of gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Taxation of Dividends

As discussed in “Dividend Policy,” we do not have any present plan to pay any cash dividends on our shares in
the foreseeable future. Subject to the discussion below under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules,” the
gross amount of any distribution of cash or property with respect to our shares (including amounts, if any,
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withheld in respect of PRC taxes) that is paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as
determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) will generally be includible in your taxable income as
ordinary dividend income on the day on which you receive the dividend, in the case of Class A ordinary shares,
or the date the depositary receives the dividends, in the case of ADSs, and will not be eligible for the dividends-
received deduction allowed to U.S. corporations under the Code.

We do not expect to maintain calculations of our earnings and profits in accordance with U.S. federal income
tax principles. U.S. Holders therefore should expect that distributions generally will be treated as dividends for
U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Subject to certain exceptions for short-term positions, the U.S. dollar amount of dividends received by a non-
corporate U.S. Holder with respect to the shares will be subject to taxation at a preferential rate if the dividends
are “qualified dividends.” Dividends paid on shares will be treated as qualified dividends if:

+  the shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S. or we are eligible for
the benefits of a comprehensive tax treaty with the U.S. that the U.S. Treasury determines is
satisfactory for purposes of this provision and that includes an exchange of information program;
and

* we were not, in the year prior to the year in which the dividend was paid, and are not, in the year
in which the dividend is paid, a passive foreign investment company (a “PFIC”).

In addition to being listed on the London Stock Exchange, the ADSs are also currently listed on the NASDAQ
Global Market. The ADSs will qualify as readily tradable on an established securities market in the United
States so long as they are so listed. Based on our financial statements, the manner in which we conduct our
business, the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares or ADSs, the value and nature of our assets, and the
sources and nature of our income, we do not believe we were a PFIC for our prior taxable year. Because the
value of our assets generally is determined by reference to the price of our stock, the recent decline in the price
of our stock has significantly increased the risk that we might be treated as a PFIC for our current taxable year.
The final determination of whether we may be classified a PFIC for the current taxable year, however, will not
be able to be made until after the end of the year and will depend on all of the relevant facts and circumstances
available at that time, including the composition and value of our assets (as implied by our stock price)
throughout the remainder of the year. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the availability of
the reduced dividend tax rate in light of their own particular circumstances.

Because the Class A ordinary shares are not themselves listed on a U.S. exchange, dividends received with
respect to shares that are not represented by ADSs may not be eligible for qualified dividend treatment. U.S.
Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential availability of the reduced dividend tax
rate in respect of shares.

In the event that we are deemed to be a PRC resident enterprise under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (see
“E. Taxation—PRC Taxation”), a U.S. Holder may be subject to PRC withholding taxes on dividends paid on
our shares. In that case, we may, however, be eligible for the benefits of the Agreement Between the
Government of the United States of America and the Government of the People’s Republic of China for the
Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Tax Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income (the
“Treaty”). If we are eligible for such benefits, dividends we pay on shares should be eligible for the reduced
rates of taxation described above (assuming we are not a PFIC in the year the dividend is paid or the prior year
and the U.S. Holder satisfies certain holding period requirements for the shares).

Subject to generally applicable limitations and conditions, PRC dividend withholding tax paid at the appropriate
rate applicable to the U.S. Holder may be eligible for a credit against such U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax
liability. These generally applicable limitations and conditions include new requirements recently adopted by
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and any PRC tax will need to satisfy these requirements in order to
be eligible to be a creditable tax for a U.S. Holder. In the case of a U.S. Holder that is eligible for, and properly
elects, the benefits of the Treaty, the PRC tax on dividends will be treated as meeting the new requirements and
therefore as a creditable tax. In the case of all other U.S. Holders, the application of these requirements to the
PRC tax on dividends is uncertain and we have not determined whether these requirements have been met. If the
PRC dividend tax is not a creditable tax for a U.S. Holder or the U.S. Holder does not elect to claim a foreign
tax credit for any foreign income taxes paid or accrued in the same taxable year, the U.S. Holder may be able to
deduct the PRC tax in computing such U.S. Holder’s taxable income for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Dividend distributions will constitute income from sources without the United States and, for U.S. Holders that
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elect to claim foreign tax credits, generally will constitute “passive category income” for foreign tax credit
purposes.

The availability and calculation of foreign tax credits and deductions for foreign taxes depend on a U.S.
Holder’s particular circumstances and involve the application of complex rules to those circumstances. U.S.
Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of these rules to their particular
situations.

U.S. Holders that receive distributions of additional shares or rights to subscribe for shares as part of a pro rata
distribution to all our shareholders generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax in respect of the
distributions, unless the U.S. Holder has the right to receive cash or property, in which case the U.S. Holder will
be treated as if it received cash equal to the fair market value of the distribution.

Taxation of Dispositions of Shares

Subject to the discussion below under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules,” upon a sale, exchange or
other taxable disposition of the shares, U.S. Holders will realize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax
purposes in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized on the disposition and the U.S.
Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the shares, both as determined in U.S. dollars. Such gain or loss will be capital
gain or loss, and will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if the shares have been held for more than one
year. Long-term capital gain realized by a non-corporate U.S. Holder is subject to taxation at a preferential rate.
The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Capital gain or loss recognized by a U.S. Holder on the sale or other disposition of the shares generally will be
U.S. source gain or loss for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes (except to the extent that the U.S. Holder establishes
the right to treat gain as foreign source income under the Treaty). Under the new foreign tax credit requirements
recently adopted by the IRS, any PRC tax imposed on the sale or other disposition of the shares generally will
not be treated as a creditable tax for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes except in the case of a U.S. Holder that is
eligible for, and properly elects to claim, the benefits of the Treaty. If the PRC tax is not a creditable tax or
claimed as a credit by the U.S. holder pursuant to the Treaty, the tax would reduce the amount realized on the
sale or other disposition of the shares even if the U.S. Holder has elected to claim a foreign tax credit for other
taxes in the same year. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the
foreign tax credit rules to a sale or other disposition of the shares and any PRC tax imposed on such sale or
disposition.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

Special U.S. tax rules apply to companies that are considered to be PFICs. We will be classified as a PFIC in a
particular taxable year if, either

» 75 percent or more of our gross income for the taxable year is passive income; or

« the average percentage of the value of our assets (generally based on a quarterly average) that is
attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income is at least
50 percent (the “asset test”).

For this purpose, passive income generally includes dividends, interest, gains from certain commodities
transactions, rents, royalties and the excess of gains over losses from the disposition of assets that produce
passive income. Goodwill is treated as an active asset under the PFIC rules to the extent attributable to activities
that produce active income. Cash generally is a passive asset for these purposes. If we own at least 25% (by
value) of the stock of another corporation, for purposes of determining whether we are a PFIC, we will be
treated as owning our proportionate share of the other corporation’s assets and receiving our proportionate share
of the other corporation’s income. Although the law in this regard is not entirely clear, we treat our VIE as being
owned by us for U.S. federal income tax purposes because we control its management decisions and are entitled
to substantially all of the economic benefits associated with it.

Based on our financial statements, the manner in which we conduct our business, the trading price of our Class
A ordinary shares or ADSs, the value and nature of our assets, the sources and nature of our income, we do not
believe we were a PFIC for our prior taxable year. Because the value of our assets generally is determined by
reference to the price of our stock, the recent decline in the price of our stock has significantly increased the risk
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that we might be treated as a PFIC for our current taxable year. The final determination of whether we may be
classified a PFIC for the current taxable year, however, will not be able to be made until after the end of the year
and will depend on all of the relevant facts and circumstances available at that time, some of which may be
beyond our control, such as the trading price of our shares and the valuation of our assets, including goodwill
and other intangible assets. Additionally, the determination of whether we are a PFIC also may be affected by
how, and how quickly, we use our cash and other liquid assets. If we are classified as a PFIC for any taxable
year in which a U.S. Holder holds our stock, we will generally continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to
such U.S. Holder for all succeeding years during which such holder owns our shares, even if we cease to meet
the threshold requirements for PFIC status (unless the U.S. Holder makes a deemed sale election with respect to
our shares once we are no longer a PFIC). U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors about the
application of the PFIC rules to us.

If we are classified as a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder holds shares and such

U.S. Holder does not make the election described below, such U.S. Holder will be subject to a special tax at
ordinary income tax rates on “excess distributions” (generally, any distributions that a U.S. Holder receives in a
taxable year that are greater than 125 percent of the average annual distributions that such U.S. Holder has
received in the preceding three taxable years, or its holding period, if shorter), as well as any gain that such U.S.
Holder recognizes on the sale or other disposition of its shares. Under these rules (a) the excess distribution or
gain will be allocated ratably over the U.S. Holder’s holding period for the shares, (b) the amount allocated to
the current taxable year and any taxable year prior to the first taxable year in which we are a PFIC will be taxed
as ordinary income, and (c) the amount allocated to each of the other taxable years will be subject to tax at the
highest rate of tax in effect for the applicable class of taxpayer for that year, and an interest charge for the
deemed deferral benefit will be imposed with respect to the resulting tax attributable to each such other taxable
year. Additionally, dividends paid by us will not be eligible for the special reduced rate of taxes described above
under “—Taxation of Dividends.”

If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder holds our shares and we have any direct, and
in certain circumstances, indirect subsidiaries that are PFICs (each a “Subsidiary PFIC”), the U.S. Holder will
be treated as owning its pro rata share of the stock of each such Subsidiary PFIC for purposes of the application
of these rules, and the U.S. Holder generally would be subject to similar rules with respect to distributions to us
by, and dispositions by us of the stock of, any of our direct or indirect subsidiaries that are PFICs. U.S. Holders
are urged to consult their own tax advisors about the application of the PFIC rules to their ownership of our
ordinary shares.

A U.S. Holder may be able to avoid the interest charge described above by electing to mark its shares to market,
provided the shares are considered “marketable.” The shares will be marketable if they are regularly traded on
certain U.S. stock exchanges, including the NASDAQ Global Market, or on a non-U.S. stock exchange if (i) the
non-U.S. stock exchange is regulated or supervised by a governmental authority in the country in which the
exchange is located, (ii) the non-U.S. stock exchange has trading volume, listing, financial disclosure,
surveillance and other requirements designed to prevent fraudulent and manipulative acts and practices, remove
impediments to, and perfect the mechanism of, a free and open, fair and orderly, market and to protect investors;
(iii) the laws of the country in which the exchange is located and the rules of the exchange ensure that these
requirements are actually enforced, and (iv) the rules of the exchange ensure active trading during any calendar
year during which they are traded, other than in de minimis quantities, on at least 15 days during each calendar
quarter. It should be noted that only the ADSs, and not the Class A ordinary shares, have been approved for
listing on the NASDAQ Global Market and the London Exchange. Consequently, a mark-to-market election is
not expected to be available for a U.S. Holder that holds Class A ordinary shares that are not represented by
ADSs. Investors should consult their own tax advisor regarding the continuing availability of the mark-to-
market election for ADSs listed on the London Stock Exchange if the ADSs are no longer regularly traded on
the NASDAQ Global Market.

If the U.S. Holder makes a mark-to-market election with respect to its ADSs, the holder will be required in any
year in which we are a PFIC to include as ordinary income the excess of the fair market value of its ADSs

at year-end over the holder’s basis in those ADSs. If at the end of the U.S. Holder’s taxable year for a year in
which we were a PFIC, the holder’s basis in the ADSs exceeds their fair market value, the holder will be entitled
to deduct the excess as an ordinary loss, but only to the extent of the holder’s net mark-to-market gains from
previous years. The holder’s adjusted tax basis in the ADSs will be adjusted to reflect any income or loss
recognized under these rules. In addition, any gain the U.S. Holder recognizes upon the sale or other disposition
of its ADSs in a year in which we were a PFIC will be taxed as ordinary income in the year of sale and any loss
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will be treated as an ordinary loss to the extent of the U.S. Holder’s net mark-to-market gains from previous
years. Once made, the election cannot be revoked without the consent of the IRS unless the shares cease to be
marketable.

However, a U.S. Holder will not be able to make a mark-to-market election with respect to the stock of any
Subsidiary PFIC. Therefore, the U.S. Holder would continue to be subject to the excess distribution rules with
respect to any of our subsidiaries that are PFICs, any distributions received by us from a subsidiary that is a
PFIC and any gain recognized by us upon a sale of equity interests in a subsidiary that is a PFIC, even if the
U.S. Holder has made a mark-to-market election with respect to our ADSs. The interaction of the mark-to-
market rules and the rules governing lower-tier PFICs is complex and uncertain, and investors should therefore
consult their own tax advisor regarding the availability of the mark-to-market election as well as the application
of the PFIC rules to their ownership of our shares.

In some cases, a shareholder of a PFIC may be subject to alternative treatment by making a valid qualified
electing fund election, or QEF election. If a QEF election is made, such U.S. Holder generally will be required
to include in income on a current basis its pro rata share of the PFIC’s ordinary income and net capital gains,
regardless of whether or not such earnings and gains are actually distributed to such U.S. Holder. To make a
QEF election, the PFIC must provide shareholders with certain information compiled according to U.S. federal
income tax principles. We do not intend, however, to prepare or provide the information that would enable U.S.
Holders to make QEF elections.

A U.S. Holder that owns an equity interest in a PFIC generally must annually file IRS Form 8621, and may be
required to file other IRS forms. A failure to file one or more of these forms as required may toll the running of
the statute of limitations in respect of each of the holder’s taxable years for which such form is required to be
filed. As a result, the taxable years with respect to which the U.S. Holder fails to file the form may remain open
to assessment by the IRS indefinitely, until the form is filed.

You should consult your own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax considerations discussed above
and the desirability of making a mark-to-market election.

Foreign Financial Asset Reporting

Certain U.S. Holders that own specified foreign financial assets with an aggregate value in excess of
U.S.$50,000 on the last day of the taxable year or U.S. $75,000 (and in some circumstances, higher thresholds)
at any time during the taxable year are generally required to file an information statement along with their tax
returns, currently on IRS Form 8938, with respect to such assets. Specified foreign financial assets include any
financial accounts held at a non-U.S. financial institution, as well as securities issued by a non-U.S. issuer that
are not held in accounts maintained by financial institutions. The understatement of income attributable to
“specified foreign financial assets” in excess of U.S.$5,000 extends the statute of limitations with respect to the
tax return to six years after the return was filed. U.S. Holders who fail to report the required information could
be subject to substantial penalties. Prospective investors are encouraged to consult with their own tax advisors
regarding the possible application of these rules, including the application of the rules to their particular
circumstances.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Dividends paid on shares to a U.S. Holder and proceeds from the sale or other disposition of the shares by a U.S.
Holder generally may be subject to the information reporting requirements of the Code and may be subject to
backup withholding unless the U.S. Holder provides an accurate taxpayer identification number and makes any
other required certification or otherwise establishes an exemption. Backup withholding is not an additional tax.
The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as a refund or credit
against the U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the required information is furnished to the
IRS in a timely manner.

A holder that is not a U.S. Holder may be required to comply with certification and identification procedures in
order to establish its exemption from information reporting and backup withholding.

12. Litigation
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There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including such proceedings which are pending or
threatened of which the Company is aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus, which
may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the Company’s and/or the Group’s financial
position or profitability.

13. Related Party Transactions

Save as described in “Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions—B. Related Party
Transactions” of the 2021 Form 20-F (pages A3-126 to A3-127 of the Prospectus) there are no related party
transactions between the Company or members of the Group and related parties.

14. No Significant Change

There has been no significant change in the financial position or financial performance of the Group since 30 June
2022, the date to which the latest historical financial information of the Group was published.

15. Working Capital

In the opinion of the Company, taking into account the facilities available to the Group, the working capital
available to the Group is sufficient for its present requirements, that is for at least 12 months following the date
of this Prospectus.

16. Auditors

Our auditors are Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP, whose registered address is No 1 East Chang An Avenue, Dong
Cheng District, Beijing, 100738. Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP is registered to carry out audit work by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board.

17. Legal Advisers

Our English and U.S. legal advisers are Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, whose registered address is 2
London Wall Place, London EC2Y 5AU, United Kingdom.

18. Responsibility

The Directors of the Company, whose names appear in “Our Team—Our Directors and Senior Management”,
and the Company accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the
knowledge of the Directors and the Company, the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with
the facts and this Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect its import.

19. General

No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any
person, other than the Company and the Directors, as to the accuracy, completeness, verification or sufficiency of
the information contained herein, and nothing in this Prospectus may be relied upon as a promise or representation
in this respect, as to the past or future. No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any
representation not contained in or not consistent with this Prospectus and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Company or the Directors.
The delivery of this Prospectus shall not, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no
change in our business or affairs since the date of this Prospectus or that the information contained herein is correct
as of any time subsequent to its date.

This Prospectus speaks only as of the date hereof. The contents of this Prospectus are not to be construed as legal,
business or tax advice. This Prospectus is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and
should not be considered as a recommendation by us, our Directors, or any of our advisers or any of their respective
affiliates or representatives regarding the securities of the Company.

The distribution of this Prospectus in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Other than in the United

Kingdom, no action has been taken or will be taken to permit the possession or distribution of this Prospectus in
any jurisdiction where action for that purpose may be required or where doing so is restricted by law. In the United
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States, you may not distribute this Prospectus or make copies of it without the Company’s prior written consent
other than to people you have retained to advise you in connection with this Prospectus. Accordingly, neither this
Prospectus nor any advertisement nor any offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction,
other than in the United Kingdom, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable
laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes should inform themselves about and
observe any such restrictions. Any failure to comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation of the
securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

20. Presentation of Information
Financial information

The financial information in this Prospectus, and consolidated historical financial information included in
“Historical Financial Information”, has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the UK Prospectus
Regulation and in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The significant U.S. GAAP accounting policies applied in our
financial information are applied consistently in the financial information in this Prospectus.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial information for the Group, as of and for the six months ended 30
June 2022, included in “Historical Financial Information—Interim Financial Information” in this Prospectus, has
not been audited. The financial information for the Group as at and for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2020
and 2019, incorporated in this Prospectus, has been audited in accordance with auditing standards of the PCAOB.
There could be differences between the standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council in the United
Kingdom and those required by the auditing standards of the PCAOB.

The financial information contained in this Prospectus does not amount to statutory accounts within the meaning
of section 434(3) of the UK Companies Act 2006, as amended, modified or re-enacted from time to time (the
“Companies Act”).

Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Information

This Prospectus contains several key metrics that we use to track the financial and operating performance of our
business, including non-GAAP gross profit and non-GAAP gross margin.

These measures are derived from our internal financial and analytics systems, but have not been audited. Further,
as these measures are not determined in accordance with US. GAAP, and are thus susceptible to varying
calculations, they may not be comparable with other similarly titled measures of performance of other companies.
For more information on the definition and calculation of these metrics, see “Definitions and Glossary”. For a
reconciliation to our reported historical financial information prepared on a U.S. GAAP basis, where relevant, see
“Historical Financial Information—Interim Financial Information—Non-GAAP Measures”.

Rounding

Certain data in this Prospectus, including financial, statistical, and operating information, has been rounded. As a
result of the rounding, the totals of data presented in this Prospectus may vary slightly from the actual arithmetic
totals of such data. Percentages in tables have been rounded and accordingly may not add up to 100%.

Information regarding forward-looking statements

This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements which involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties,
many of which are beyond our control and all of which are based on the Directors’ current beliefs and expectations
about future events. Forward-looking statements are sometimes identified by the use of forward-looking
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terminology such as “believes”, “expects”, “may”, “will”, “could”, “should”, “shall”, “intends”, “estimates”,
“aims”, “plans”, “continues”, “assumes”, “positioned”, “anticipates” or “targets” or the negative thereof, other
variations thereon or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not
historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this Prospectus and include statements regarding
the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the Directors or the Group concerning, among other things, the
future results of operations, financial condition, prospects, growth and strategies of the Group and the industry in
which we operate. In particular, the statements under the headings “Risk Factors”, “About the Company” and
“Operating and Financial Review” regarding our strategy, targets and other future events or prospects are forward-

looking statements.
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These forward-looking statements and other statements contained in this Prospectus regarding matters that are not
historical facts involve predictions. No assurance can be given that such future results will be achieved; actual
events or results may differ materially as a result of risks and uncertainties we face. Such risks and uncertainties
could cause actual results to vary materially from the future results indicated, expressed or implied, in such
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus speak only as of the
date of this Prospectus. We, our Directors and advisers expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to update
the forward-looking statements contained in this document to reflect any change in their expectations or any
change in events, conditions, or circumstances on which such statements are based unless required to do so by
applicable law, the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Listing Rules, the Market Abuse Regulation or the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules of the FCA.

For further information on forward-looking statements, see “Forward-Looking Statements” in the 2021 Form 20-
F (page A3-iii of the Prospectus).

21. Enforcement of Judgements

As the Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and does not expect to operate within England and Wales,
the rights of ADS holders will be governed by Cayman Islands’ law and the Company’s Articles. The rights of
ADS holders under Cayman Islands’ law may differ from the rights of ADS holders of companies incorporated
in other jurisdictions, and in particular, England and Wales. The Directors of the Company are not residents of
the UK and substantially all of the Company’s assets are expected to be located outside of England and Wales.
As a result, it may be difficult for ADS holders to effect service of process on those persons in the UK, or to
enforce in the UK judgments obtained in UK courts against the Company or against the Directors or officers of
the Company. The current position with regard to enforcement of judgments in the Cayman Islands is set out
below, but this may be subject to change.

Although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in England, the courts
of the Cayman Islands will recognise a foreign judgment in person as the basis for a claim at common law in the
Cayman Islands provided such judgment: (i) is given by a competent foreign court with jurisdiction; (ii) imposes
a specific positive obligation on the judgment debtor (such as an obligation to pay a liquidated sum or perform a
specified obligation); (iii) is final and conclusive; (iv) is not in respect of fines, taxes or a penalty; (v) was not
obtained in a manner and is not of a kind the enforcement of which is contrary to the public policy of the Cayman
Islands; and (vi) there is no potential defence to enforcement.

22. Documents Available for Inspection

The Company’s Articles are available on the SEC website, at
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1792267/000119312520149218/d806768dex32.htm.  The  Letter
Agreement will be available on the SEC website on the date of Admission. This Prospectus will be published in
electronic form and be available on our website at https://ir.brbiotech.com.

The date of this Prospectus is 27 October 2022.
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

The following definitions apply throughout this Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise:

2020 Financial
Statements

2020 Form 20-F

2021 Form 20-F

Admission

ADSs

CAC
ClIo

Companies Act

Company
CSRC

Deposit Agreement

Directors

Disclosure Guidance
and Transparency
Rules

Draft Overseas
Listing Regulations

FCA
FSMA

Group

Refers to the audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
31 December 2020 contained on pages F-1 to F-62 of the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2020, filed with the SEC on 23 March
2021;

Refers to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31
December 2020, filed with the SEC on 23 March 2021;

Refers to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31
December 2021, filed with the SEC on 29 April 2022;

Refers to the admission of the ADSs to the standard listing segment of the Official
List of the FCA and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for
listed securities;

Refers to American depositary shares, each of which represents one Class A
ordinary share of the Company;

Refers to the Cyberspace Administration of China;
Refers to critical information infrastructure operator;

Refers to the UK Companies Act 2006, as amended, modified or re-enacted from
time to time;

Refers to Burning Rock Biotech Limited;

Refers to the China Securities Regulatory Commission;

Refers to the Deposit Agreement, dated as of 16 June 2020, among Citibank, N.A.,
the Company and all Holders and Beneficial Owners of American depositary shares
issued thereunder, as amended and supplemented by the Letter Agreement;

Refers to the directors of the Company;

Refers to the disclosure guidance and transparency rules of the FCA in relation to
the disclosure of information by an issuer whose financial instruments are admitted
to trading on a regulated market in the UK;

Refers to, collectively, the Provisions of the State Council on the Administration of
Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for
Comments), and Administrative Measures for the Filing of Overseas Securities
Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments) as published on
24 December 2021, by the CSRC;

Refers to the Financial Conduct Authority;

Refers to the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended;

Refers to the Company, together with its subsidiaries, the VIE and the VIE’s
subsidiaries;
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Letter Agreement

Listing Rules

MAR

Measures

NGS

NPO

PRC

Prospectus
Regulation Rules
Q1 2022 Financial

Information

Q2 2022 Financial
Information

Registration
Document

Relevant Jurisdiction

RMB

SEC

Shares

UK Prospectus
Regulation
U.S. GAAP
VIE

WFOE

Refers to the letter agreement, expected to be dated on or about 1 November 2022,
between Citibank, N.A. and the Company;

Refers to the FCA Handbook Listing Rules;
Refers to the UK Market Abuse Regulation (Regulation (EU) 596/2014, which is
part of UK law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as

amended);

Refers to the Measures for Cybersecurity Review, with effect from 15 February
2022;

Refers to next-generation sequencing, a DNA sequencing technology used to
determine the nucleotide sequence of an individual’s genome;

Refers to a network platform operator;

Refers to the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this
Prospectus only, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan;

Refers to the prospectus regulation rules of the FCA made pursuant to Section 73A
of FSMA, as amended;

Refers to the Form 6-K of the Company filed with the SEC on 31 May 2022,
which contains the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial information as of
and for the three months ended 31 March 2022;

Refers to the Form 6-K of the Company filed with the SEC on 31 August 2022,
which contains the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial information as of
and for the six months ended 30 June 2022;

Refers to the registration document dated 21 October 2022;

Refers to the Cayman Islands or the PRC (in each case, including any political
subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax);

Refers to the legal currency of PRC;

Securities and Exchange Commission;

Refers to the Company’s Class A and Class B ordinary shares, par value US$0.0002
per share;

Refers to Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of
the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as amended;

Refers to accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.;
Refers to a variable interest entity;

Refers to a wholly foreign owned entity.
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES

The Registration Document published on 21 October 2022 contained the information required to be included in a
registration document for equity securities by Annex 1 of the UK Prospectus Regulation. This Prospectus, which
otherwise contains information extracted without material amendment from the Registration Document (except
as set out below), also includes information required to be included in a Securities Note for Depository Receipts
Issued Over Shares, Summary and Prospectus relating to the Listing as prescribed by Annex 13 and Article 7 of
the UK Prospectus Regulation. The Prospectus updates and replaces in whole the Registration Document.

This Schedule of Changes sets out, refers to or highlights material updates to the Registration Document.
Purpose

The purpose of this Schedule of Changes is to:
¢ Highlight material changes made in the Prospectus, as compared to the Registration Document;
e Highlight the new disclosure made in the Prospectus to reflect information required to be included in a
Securities Note for Depository Receipts Issued Over Shares; and
e Highlight the new disclosure made in the Prospectus to reflect information required to be included in a
Summary.

Registration Document Changes
Securities Note Information

A new Appendix entitled “Description of Rights” has been added into the Prospectus. Please see page A5-1 of the
Prospectus.

A new section entitled “Risks Relating to The ADSs” has been added into the Prospectus. Please see page 47 of
the Prospectus.

A new section entitled “The Direct Listing, the Dual Listing and the America Depositary Shares” has been added
into the Prospectus, describing the means through which the ADSs will be listed and admitted to trading pursuant
to the Direct Listing. This section also includes the expected timetable of the Listing. Please see pages 57 to 58 of
the Prospectus.

A new section entitled “Our Capitalisation and Indebtedness” has been added into the Prospectus, describing the
Group’s capitalisation as at 31 August 2022 and unaudited indebtedness as of 31 August 2022. Please see page
65 of the Prospectus.

New paragraphs entitled “UK Taxation” and “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations” have been added
into the Prospectus to provide a general guide to certain UK and U.S. tax considerations relevant to the ownership
and disposition of the ADSs. Please see pages 74 to 82 of the Prospectus.

A new paragraph entitled “Working Capital” has been added into the Prospectus, confirming the adequacy of the
Company’s working capital. Please see page 82 of the Prospectus.

A new paragraph entitled “Miscellaneous” has been added into the Prospectus, describing the fees and expenses
the Company expects to bear in connection with the Direct Listing and Admission. Please see page 84 of the
Prospectus.

Summary Information

A new section entitled “Summary” has been added into the Prospectus, to reflect the addition of a Summary as
required by Article 7 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Please see pages 6 to 10 of the Prospectus.
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Exhibit 99.1
Burning Rock Reports Second Quarter 2022 Financial Results

GUANGZHOU, China, August 31, 2022—Burning Rock Biotech Limited (NASDAQ: BNR, the “Company” or “Burning Rock™), a company focused on the
application of next generation sequencing (NGS) technology in the field of precision oncology, today reported financial results for the three months
ended June 30, 2022.

Recent Business Updates
e Therapy Selection and Minimal Residual Disease (MRD)

In-hospital and MRD driving growth uplift, but patient volumes negatively impacted by Covid related restrictions.

. For the in-hospital channel, we experienced severe Covid related impact in Shanghai and to a lesser extent in Beijing. However, other regions
combined grew over 60% year-over-year in the second quarter of 2022 in terms of testing volume;
. For the central-lab channel, new product sales contributed 7% of the central laboratory segmental revenues in the second quarter of 2022.

e  Early Detection
. PROMISE study (2,035 participants) for 9-cancer test completed, reading out at European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Congress
2022 in Sepetember;

. PREVENT study, China’s first multi-cancer prospective interventional study, involving 12,500 participants, launched in the second quarter
0f2022.
*  Pharma Services
. Continued revenue growth, with 166.6% revenue growth year-on-year in the second quarter of 2022. Pharma service contract backlog
continues to build rapidly;
. The total value of new contracts we entered into amounted to RMB158 million from January to July 2022, representing approximately 49%

increase from the same period of 2021.

Second Quarter 2022 Financial Results

Revenues were RMB130.8 million (US$19.5 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 2.8% increase from RMB127.3 million for the
same period in 2021.

. Revenue generated from central laboratory business was RMB78.6 million (US$11.7 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022,
representing a 1.8% decrease from RMB80.0 million for the same period in 2021. Covid related negative impact was partially offset by growth
from newly launched products. Sequentially, central laboratory revenues increased by 5.9% compared to the first quarter of 2022, driven by
new product launches.

. Revenue generated from in-hospital business was RMB34.2 million (US$5.1 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a
15.6% decrease from RMB40.5 million for the same period in 2021, primarily attributable to severe declines in testing volume in Shanghai due
to Covid-19 lockdown, and to a lesser extent, declines in testing volume in Beijing; other regions outside of Shanghai and Beijing showed
strong growth.

. Revenue generated from pharma research and development services was RMB18.1 million (US$2.7 million) for the three months ended June
30, 2022, representing a 166.6% increase from RMB6.8 million for the same period in 2021, primarily attributable to the increased services
performed for our pharma customers as we executed our contracted pharma service projects.

Cost of revenues was RMB48.2 million (US$7.2 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 30.2% increase from RMB37.0 million for
the same period in 2021, primarily due to the increased depreciation in relation to our new laboratory and inventory write downs.

Gross profit was RMB82.6 million (US$12.3 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 8.5% decrease from RMB90.2 million for the
same period in 2021. Gross margin was 63.1% for the three months ended June 30, 2022, which decreased from 70.9% for the same period in 2021, primarily
due to increased depreciation in relation to our new laboratory and inventory write downs.
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Non-GAAP gross profit was RMB90.9 million (US$13.6 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 0.3% increase from RMB90.7
million for the same period in 2021. Non-GAAP gross margin was 69.5% for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to 71.2% for the same period
in 2021 primarily due to a 0.7% decrease of gross margin resulting from increase of RMBO0.9 million in inventory write down.

Operating expenses were RMB348.1 million (US$52.0 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 19.1% increase from RMB292.3
million for the same period in 2021.

. Research and development expenses were RMB92.1 million (US$13.8 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 14.8%
decrease from RMB108.1 million for the same period in 2021, primarily due to a decrease in research and development project cost and a
decrease in share-based compensation.

. Selling and marketing expenses were RMB105.6 million (US$15.8 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a 55.2%
increase from RMB68.1 million for the same period in 2021, primarily due to (i) an increase in staff cost resulted from increase in headcount;
(ii) an increase in marketing related expenditures, such as entertainment expense, conference fee and marketing expense and (iii) an increase
in amortized expense on modification for Employee Share Incentive Plan. Sequentially, headcount cost, excluding one-off items such as
organizational restructuring expenses, decreased in the second quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter.

. General and administrative expenses were RMB150.3 million (US$22.4 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, representing a
29.4% increase from RMB116.1 million for the same period in 2021, primarily due to (i) an increase in depreciation expenses for new office
space; (ii) an increase in amortized expense on modification for Employee Share Incentive Plan.

Net loss was RMB262.1 million (US$39.1 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to RMB203.7 million for the same period in 2021.

Net cash used in operating activities was RMB109.3 million (US$16.3 million) for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to RMB119.0 million for
the same period in 2021. The balance of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term investments was RMB1,153.1 million (US$172.1 million) as
of June 30, 2022.

2022 Financial Guidance

Second quarter business volumes have been significantly impacted by Covid related restrictions, with severe volume drops in Shanghai and Beijing;
however, pharma service revenues, new products and the in-hospital business outside of Shanghai and Beijing have shown strong growth momentum.
Burning Rock therefore retains its full year 2022 revenue guidance of approximately RMB620 million (US$92.6 million) for now, and would like to highlight
the risks of further Covid related impact in the second half of 2022 which is beyond the Company’s control and inherently difficult to forecast.

Share Repurchases

Further to the Company’s announcement on June 21, 2022 of a US$10 million share repurchase program, we are pleased to announce that the repurchase
program has been completed in full. The Company has repurchased a total of 3,023,138 Class A ordinary shares in the form of ADSs under the share
repurchase program. The repurchased shares will be retained as treasury shares and have not been taken out of the calculation of loss per share for the
second quarter 2022 financial results.

Conference Call Information

Burning Rock will host a conference call to discuss the second quarter 2022 financial results at 8:30 a.m. U.S. Eastern Time (8:30 p.m. Hong Kong time) on
August 31, 2022.

Please register in advance of the conference using the link provided below and dial in 15 minutes prior to the call, using participant dial-in numbers and
unique registrant ID which would be provided upon registering.
2



PRE-REGISTER LINK: https:/register.vevent.com/register/BI1{6043e15b804286b8c6f5db40d78456. Additionally, a live and archived webcast of the
conference call will also be available on the company’s investor relations website at http:/ir.brbiotech.com or through link https://edge.media-

server.com/mmc/p/57gam4sS.

A replay of the webcast will be available for 12 months via the same link above.

About Burning Rock

Burning Rock Biotech Limited (NASDAQ: BNR), whose mission is to guard life via science, focuses on the application of next generation sequencing
(NGS) technology in the field of precision oncology. Its business consists of i) NGS-based therapy selection testing for late-stage cancer patients, and ii)
cancer early detection, which has moved beyond proof-of-concept R&D into the clinical validation stage.

For more information about Burning Rock, please visit: ir.brbiotech.com.

Safe Harbor Statement

This press release contains forward-looking statements. These statements constitute “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and as defined in the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking
statements can be identified by terminology such as “will,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “i plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “target,”

” < 2 <. ”

intends,
“confident” and similar statements. Burning Rock may also make written or oral forward-looking statements in its periodic reports to the SEC, in its annual
report to shareholders, in press releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by its officers, directors or employees to third parties.
Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about Burning Rock’s beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Such
statements are based upon management’s current expectations and current market and operating conditions, and relate to events that involve known or
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond Burning Rock’s control. Forward-
looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any such
statements. All information provided in this press release is as of the date of this press release, and Burning Rock does not undertake any obligation to
update any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required under applicable law.

Non-GAAP Measures

In evaluating the business, the company considers and uses non-GAAP measures, such as non-GAAP gross profit and non-GAAP gross margin, as
supplemental measures to review and assess operating performance. The presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The company defines non-GAAP gross profit as gross profit excluding depreciation and
amortization. The company defines non-GAAP gross margin as gross margin excluding depreciation and amortization.

The company presents these non-GAAP financial measures because they are used by management to evaluate operating performance and formulate

business plans. The company believe non-GAAP gross profit and non-GAAP gross margin excluding non-cash impact of depreciation and amortization
reflect the company’s ongoing business operations in a manner that allows more meaningful period-to-period comparisons.

Contact: IR@brbiotech.com



Selected Operating Data
For the three months ended
March June September December  March June

31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
Central Laboratory Channel:
Number of patients tested 7,716 8,155 7,808 8,235 7,743 8,060
Number of ordering physicians(l) 1,082 1,013 920 917 994 767
Number of ordering hospitals(2) 303 300 287 306 318 264

(1) Represents physicians who on average order at least one test from us every month during a relevant period in the central laboratory channel.
(2 Represents hospitals whose residing physicians who on average order at least one test from us every month during a relevant period in the central
laboratory channel.

As of
March June September December March June
31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
In-hospital Channel:
Pipeline partner hospitals(l) 22 22 24 23 24 25
Contracted partner hospitals) 32 34 34 41 41 43
Total number of partner hospitals 54 56 58 64 65 68

(1) Refers to hospitals that are in the process of establishing in-hospital laboratories, laboratory equipment procurement or installation, staff training or
pilot testing using the Company’s products.
(@ Refers to hospitals that have entered into contracts to purchase the Company’s products for use on a recurring basis in their respective in-hospital
laboratories the Company helped them establish. Kit revenue is generated from contracted hospitals.
4
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Revenues

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total revenues

Gross profit

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total gross profit

Share-based compensation expenses

Cost of revenues

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses

General and administrative expenses
Total share-based compensation expenses

Selected Financial Data

For the three months ended

March September December March
31, June 30, 30, 31, 31, June 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
(RMB in thousands)
74,561 79,999 78,817 85,976 74211 78,597
28,994 40,502 43,714 51,906 48,957 34,177
3,068 6,778 4,084 9,463 12,356 18,072
106,623 127,279 126,615 147,345 135,524 130,846
For the three months ended
March June September December March June
31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
(RMB in thousands)
55,212 58,681 58,387 65,985 50,574 57,575
20,070 29,426 31,111 34,194 33,396 20,012
1,658 2,124 2,098 5,200 3,610 5,015
76,940 90,231 91,596 105,379 87,580 82,602
For the three months ended
March June September December March June
31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
(RMB in thousands)
339 406 267 492 365 441
22,404 20,825 (9,559) (4,033) 12,299 11,923
2,633 2,809 2,044 2,126 1,774 2,158
59,382 59,369 60,803 62,126 65,715 62,615
84,758 83,409 53,555 60,711 80,153 77,137



Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Unaudited Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except for number of shares and per share data)
For the three months ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30, June 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB USS$

Revenues 106,623 127,279 126,615 147,345 135,524 130,846 19,534
Cost of revenues (29,683) (37,048) (35,019) (41,966) (47,944) (48,244) (7,203)
Gross profit 76,940 90,231 91,596 105,379 87,580 82,602 12,331
Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses (77414) (108,071) (69,649) (112,724) (119,496) 92,112) (13,752)
Selling and marketing expenses (55,130) (68,058) (76,687) (103,221) (89,211) (105,634) (15,771)
General and administrative expenses (116,259) (116,130) (116,304) (141,563) (141,733) (150,316) (22,442)
Total operating expenses (248,803)  (292,259) (262,640) (357,508)  (350,440) (348,062) (51,965)
Loss from operations (171,863) (202,028) (171,044) (252,129) (262,860) (265,460) (39,634)
Interest income 787 681 958 1,031 1,832 2,685 401
Interest expenses (510) (565) 367) 94) 119 (29) 4)
Other income (expense), net 118 433 20 (372) 298 127 19
Foreign exchange gain (loss), net 57 (560) 380 (731) (777) 624 93
Loss before income tax (171,411)  (202,039) (170,053) (252,295)  (261,388) (262,053) (39,125)
Income tax (expenses) benefits — (1,626) (424) 1,151 — (84) (13)
Net loss (171,411)  (203,665) (170,477) (251,144)  (261,388) (262,137) (39,138)
Net loss attributable to Burning Rock

Biotech Limited’s shareholders (171,411) (203,665) (170,477) (251,144) (261,388) (262,137) (39,138)
Net loss attributable to ordinary

shareholders (171,411)  (203,665) (170,477) (251,144)  (261,388) (262,137) (39,138)
Loss per share for class A and class B

ordinary shares:
Class A ordinary shares - basic and diluted (1.65) (1.96) (1.64) (2.40) (2.50) (2.50) 0.37)
Class B ordinary shares - basic and diluted (1.65) (1.96) (1.64) (2.40) (2.50) (2.50) (0.37)
Weighted average shares outstanding used

in loss per share computation:
Class A ordinary shares - basic and diluted 86,721,263 86,764,260 86,908,975 87,128,297 87,179,752 87,532,539 87,532,539
Class B ordinary shares - basic and diluted 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of

tax of nil:
Foreign currency translation adjustments 14,080 (34,980) 6,146 (24,726) (3,065) 29,715 4436
Total comprehensive loss (157,331)  (238,645) (164,331) (275,870)  (264,453) (232,422) (34,702)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to

Burning Rock Biotech Limited’s

shareholders (157,331)  (238,645) (164,331) (275,870)  (264,453) (232,422) (34,702)
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Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Unaudited Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except for number of shares and per share data)

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development expenses

Selling and marketing expenses

General and administrative expenses

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income

Interest expenses

Other income, net

Foreign exchange loss, net

Loss before income tax

Income tax expenses

Net loss

Net loss attributable to Burning Rock Biotech Limited’s shareholders

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders

Loss per share for class A and class B ordinary shares:

Class A ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Class B ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding used in loss per share computation:

Class A ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Class B ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of nil:

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss attributable to Burning Rock Biotech Limited’s shareholders
7

For the six months ended

June 30, June 30, June 30,
2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB USS$
233,902 266,370 39,768

(66,731) (96,188) (14,361)
167,171 170,182 25,407
(185,485) (211,608) (31,592)
(123,188) (194,845) (29,090)
(232,389) (292,049) (43,602)
(541,062)  (698,502) (104,284)
(373,891) (528,320) (78,877)
1,468 4,517 674
(1,075) 90 13
551 425 63
(503) (153) 23)
(373,450)  (523,441) (78,150)
(1,626) (84) (13)
(375,076) (523,525) (78,163)
(375,076)  (523,525) (78,163)
(375,076)  (523,525) (78,163)
(3.60) (5.00) (0.75)
(3.60) (5.00) (0.75)
86,742,880 87,357,120 87,357,120
17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848
(20,900) 26,650 3,979
(395,976)  (496,875) (74,184)
(395,976) (496,875) (74,184)



ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Contract assets, net
Inventories, net
Prepayments and other current assets, net
Total current assets
Non-current assets:

Equity method investment
Convertible note receivable
Property and equipment, net
Operating right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net

Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands)

As of
December

31, June 30, June 30,

2021 2022 2022

RMB RMB US$
1,431,317 1,148,597 171,481
7,795 4453 665
63,757 — —
92,197 100,960 15,073
42,391 44,593 6,657
123,210 129,637 19,355
60,279 34,845 5,205
1,820,946 1,463,085 218,436
910 733 109
— 5,000 746
325,438 301,249 44975
81,007 66,655 9,951
5,150 3,354 500
45,136 21,198 3,165
457,641 398,189 59,446
2,278,587 1,861,274 277,882




Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Deferred revenue

Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities
Customer deposits

Short-term borrowing

Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities:

Non-current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity:

Class A ordinary shares

Class B ordinary shares

Additional paid-in capital

Contra equity-prepayment for equity forward
Accumulated deficits

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Burning Rock Biotech Limited

(in thousands)

As of
December 31, June 30, June 30,
2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB USS$

63,080 56,495 8,434
142,871 163,093 24,349
127,892 98,435 14,696
972 1,052 157

2,370 2,370 354
34,999 38,005 5,674
372,184 359,450 53,664
49,316 32,349 4,830
11,776 37,242 5,560
61,092 69,591 10,390
433,276 429,041 64,054
116 116 18

21 21 3
4,280,956 4,431,603 661,621
— (66,850)  (9.980)
(2,228,713)  (2,752,238) (410,898)
(207,069)  (180419)  (26,936)
1,845,311 1,432,233 213,828
2,278,587 1,861,274 277,882




Burning Rock Biotech Limited

Unaudited Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash (used in) generated from investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of period

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash generated from investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of period

(in thousands)

Al-10

For the three months ended

June 30, June 30, June 30,
2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB USS$
(118998)  (109,274) (16,318)

(67,577) 30,729 4,590

(8,961) (69,559) (10,384)

(34,085) 26,279 3,924

(229,621)  (121,825) (18,188)

2,112,886 1,274,875 190,334

1,883,265 1,153,050 172,146
For the six months ended

June 30, June 30, June 30,
2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB US$
(232,143)  (253,634) (37.871)
220,752 17,718 2,649

(13,123) (73,493) (10,971)
(17.427) 23347 3,485
41,941)  (286,062) (42,708)
1,925,206 1,439,112 214,854
1,883,265 1,153,050 172,146



Burning Rock Biotech Limited

Reconciliations of GAAP and Non-GAAP Results
For the three months ended

Gross profit:

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total gross profit

Add: depreciation and amortization:
Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total depreciation and amortization included in cost of revenues
Non-GAAP gross profit:

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total non-GAAP gross profit

Non-GAAP gross margin:

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total non-GAAP gross margin

March June September December March June
31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
(RMB in thousands)
55,212 58,681 58,387 65,985 50,574 57,575
20,070 29,426 31,111 34,194 33,396 20,012
1,658 2,124 2,098 5,200 3,610 5,015
76,940 90,231 91,596 105,379 87,580 82,602
117 284 1,254 995 2,553 2,545
9 113 109 130 93 1,428
10 40 19 856 2,493 4327
206 437 1,382 1,981 5,139 8,300
55,329 58,965 59,641 66,980 53,127 60,120
20,149 29,539 31,220 34,324 33,489 21,440
1,668 2,164 2,117 6,056 6,103 9,342
77,146 90,668 92,978 107,360 92,719 90,902
742% 73.7% 75.7% 77.9% 71.6% 76.5%
69.5% 72.9% 71.4% 66.1% 68.4% 62.7%
54.4% 31.9% 51.8% 64.0% 49.4% 51.7%
72.4% 71.2% 73.4% 72.9% 68.4% 69.5%
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Exhibit 99.1
Burning Rock Reports First Quarter 2022 Financial Results

GUANGZHOU, China, May 31, 2022 —Burning Rock Biotech Limited (NASDAQ: BNR, the “Company” or “Burning Rock™), a company focused on the
application of next generation sequencing (NGS) technology in the field of precision oncology, today reported financial results for the three months
ended March 31, 2022.

Recent Business Updates
¢ Therapy Selection and Minimal Residual Disease (MRD)
. Continued growth through (i) market share gain through continued focus on the in-hospital segment and (ii) new product launch. Achieved
42% overall testing volume growth year-on-year during the first quarter of 2022, driven by the 83% testing volume growth of in-hospital
segment year-on-year during the same period, while the testing volume of central laboratory segment grew 0.3% year-on-year. New
products’ sales contributed 7% of the central laboratory segmental revenues for March 2022;
*  Burning Rock Liquid Biopsy Conference was successfully held in April 2022. The 2-day online session was chaired by Professor Jia
Fan, Jinming Yu and Xu Zhang, with participation from over 140 oncologists, during which the Consensus on NGS Clinical Report
Interpretation was released;
*  MRD data was released at American Association for Cancer Research (AACR) Annual Meeting 2022 for non-small cell lung cancer
(NSCLC) and colorectal cancer (CRC);
*  MRD product was commercially launched in March 2022.
*  Early Detection
* Datarelease at AACR on analytical validation;
*  Commercialization in progress, with a few hospitals having completed product on-boarding and generating revenues.
*  Pharma Services
+  Continued revenue growth, with 302.7% revenue growth year-on-year during the first quarter of 2022. Pharma service contract
backlog continues to build rapidly. The total value of new contracts we entered into during the first quarter of 2022 amounted to
RMBS59 million, representing approximately 125% increase from the first quarter of 2021.

First Quarter 2022 Financial Results

Revenues were RMB135.5 million (US$21.4 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a 27.1% increase from RMB106.6 million for
the same period in 2021.
. Revenue generated from central laboratory business was RMB74.2 million (US$11.7 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022,
representing a 0.5% decrease from RMB74.6 million for the same period in 2021.
. Revenue generated from in-hospital business was RMB49.0 million (US$7.7 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing
a 68.9% increase from RMB29.0 million for the same period in 2021, driven by in-hospital testing volume growth.
. Revenue generated from pharma research and development services was RMB12.4 million (US$1.9 million) for the three months ended
March 31, 2022, representing a 302.7% increase from RMB3.1 million for the same period in 2021, primarily attributable to increased testing
performed for our pharma customers.

Cost of revenues was RMB47.9 million (US$7.6 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a 61.5% increase from RMB29.7 million
for the same period in 2021, primarily due to the Company’s continued business growth, increased depreciation in relation to our new laboratory and
inventory write downs.

Gross profit was RMB87.6 million (US$13.8 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a 13.8% increase from RMB76.9 million for

the same period in 2021. Gross margin was 64.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2022, which decreased from 72.2% for the same period in 2021
primarily due to the increased depreciation in relation to our new laboratory and inventory write downs.
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Non-GAAP gross profit, which excludes depreciation and amortization, was RMB92.7 million (US$14.6 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022,
representing a 20.2% increase from RMB77.1 million for the same period in 2021. Non-GAAP gross margin was 68.4% for the three months ended March
31, 2022, compared to 72.4% for the same period in 2021 primarily due to an increase of RMB4.8 million in inventory write downs (which resulted in a 3.5
percentage-point decrease of gross margin).

Operating expenses were RMB350.4 million (US$55.3 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a 40.9% increase from RMB248.8
million for the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by headcount growth to support our business expansion.

. Research and development expenses were RMB119.5 million (US$18.9 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a
54.4% increase from RMB77.4 million for the same period in 2021, primarily due to (i) an increase in research and development staff cost
which resulted from an increase in headcount and (ii) and increase in costs for certain research and development for early detection.

. Selling and marketing expenses were RMB89.2 million (US$14.1 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a 61.8%
increase from RMBS55.1 million for the same period in 2021, primarily due to an increase in staff cost resulted from increase in headcount to
strengthen our commercial presence in the therapy selection business and build up our early detection commercialization team.

. General and administrative expenses were RMB141.7 million (US$22.4 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, representing a
21.9% increase from RMB116.3 million for the same period in 2021, primarily due to an increase in general and administrative personnel’s
staff cost resulted from an increase in headcount.

Net loss was RMB261.4 million (US$41.2 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to RMB171.4 million for the same period in 2021.

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term investments were RMB1,502.9 million and RMB1,338.4 million (US$211.1 million) as of December
31,2021 and March 31, 2022, respectively.

2022 Financial Guidance

Given the strong first quarter business performance and assuming that the impact of COVID-19 dissipates over time in China, Burning Rock reiterates its
full year 2022 revenue guidance of approximately RMB620 million (US$97.8 million), implying a 22% growth over full year 2021.

Conference Call Information

Burning Rock will host a conference call to discuss the first quarter 2022 financial results at 8:30 a.m. U.S. Eastern Time (8:30 p.m. Hong Kong time) on
May 31, 2022.

Details of the conference call are as follows:

International: +65 67135640
U.S. +1 3322089718
UK. +442036928124
Hong Kong: +852 30186768
China Mobile: 4008209615
China Landline: 8008207535
Conference ID: 8942518

A replay of the conference call will be available for one week (dial-in number: +61 2 8199 0299; same conference ID as shown above).

About Burning Rock

Burning Rock Biotech Limited (NASDAQ: BNR), whose mission is to guard life via science, focuses on the application of next generation sequencing
(NGS) technology in the field of precision oncology. Its business consists of i) NGS-based therapy selection testing for late-stage cancer patients, and ii)
cancer early detection, which has moved beyond proof-of-concept R&D into the clinical validation stage.
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For more information about Burning Rock, please visit: ir.brbiotech.com.

Safe Harbor Statement

This press release contains forward-looking statements. These statements constitute “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and as defined in the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking
statements can be identified by terminology such as “will,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “target,”
“confident” and similar statements. Burning Rock may also make written or oral forward-looking statements in its periodic reports to the SEC, in its annual
report to shareholders, in press releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by its officers, directors or employees to third parties.
Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about Burning Rock’s beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Such
statements are based upon management’s current expectations and current market and operating conditions, and relate to events that involve known or
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond Burning Rock’s control. Forward-
looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any such
statements. All information provided in this press release is as of the date of this press release, and Burning Rock does not undertake any obligation to
update any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required under applicable law.

” 2 G 2 <.

Non-GAAP Measures

In evaluating the business, the company considers and uses non-GAAP measures, such as non-GAAP gross profit and non-GAAP gross margin, as
supplemental measures to review and assess operating performance. The presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The company defines non-GAAP gross profit as gross profit excluding depreciation and
amortization. The company defines non-GAAP gross margin as gross margin excluding depreciation and amortization.

The company presents these non-GAAP financial measures because they are used by management to evaluate operating performance and formulate
business plans. The company believe non-GAAP gross profit and non-GAAP gross margin excluding non-cash impact of depreciation and amortization

reflect the company’s ongoing business operations in a manner that allows more meaningful period-to-period comparisons.

Contact: IR@brbiotech.com
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Selected Operating Data
For the three months ended

March June September December March
31, 30, 30, 31, 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022
Central Laboratory Channel:
Number of patients tested 7,716 8,155 7,808 8,235 7,743
Number of ordering physicians(1) 1,082 1,013 920 917 994
Number of ordering hospitals(2) 303 300 287 306 318

(1) Represents physicians who on average order at least one test from us every month during a relevant period in the central laboratory channel.
(2)  Represents hospitals whose residing physicians who on average order at least one test from us every month during a relevant period in the central
laboratory channel.

As of
March June September December March
31, 30, 30, 31, 31,

2021 2021 2021 2021 2022
In-hospital Channel:
Pipeline partner hospitals(1) 22 22 24 23 24
Contracted partner hospitals(2) 32 34 34 41 41
Total number of partner hospitals 54 56 58 64 65

(1) Refers to hospitals that are in the process of establishing in-hospital laboratories, laboratory equipment procurement or installation, staff training or
pilot testing using the Company’s products.

(2)  Refers to hospitals that have entered into contracts to purchase the Company’s products for use on a recurring basis in their respective in-hospital
laboratories the Company helped them establish. Kit revenue is generated from contracted hospitals.
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Revenues

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total revenues

Gross profit

Central laboratory channel

In-hospital channel

Pharma research and development channel
Total gross profit

Share-based compensation expenses

Cost of revenues

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses

General and administrative expenses
Total share-based compensation expenses

Selected Financial Data

For the three months ended

March September December March
31, June 30, 30, 31, 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022
(RMB in thousands)
74,561 79,999 78,817 85,976 74211
28,994 40,502 43,714 51,906 48,957
3,068 6,778 4,084 9,463 12,356
106,623 127,279 126,615 147,345 135,524
For the three months ended
March June September December March
31, 30, 30, 31, 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022
(RMB in thousands)
55,212 58,681 58,387 65,985 50,574
20,070 29,426 31,111 34,194 33,396
1,658 2,124 2,098 5,200 3,610
76,940 90,231 91,596 105,379 87,580
For the three months ended
March June September December March
31, 30, 30, 31, 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022
(RMB in thousands)
339 406 267 492 365
22,404 20,825 (9,559) (4,033) 12,299
2,633 2,809 2,044 2,126 1,774
59,382 59,369 60,803 62,126 65,715
84,758 83,409 53,555 60,711 80,153
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Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Unaudited Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except for number of shares and per share data)

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income

Interest expenses

Other income (expense), net
Foreign exchange gain (loss), net
Loss before income tax

Income tax (benefits) expenses

Net loss

Net loss attributable to Burning Rock Biotech Limited’s
shareholders

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders

Loss per share for class A and class B ordinary shares:

Class A ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Class B ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding used in loss per share
computation:

Class A ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Class B ordinary shares - basic and diluted

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of nil:

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss attributable to Burning Rock
Biotech Limited’s shareholders

For the three months ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31, March 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB USS$
106,623 127,279 126,615 147,345 135,524 21,379
(29,683) (37,048) (35,019) (41,966) (47,944) (7,563)

76,940 90,231 91,596 105,379 87,580 13,816
(77414)  (108,071) (69,649) (112,724)  (119496) (18,850)
(55,130) (68,058) (76,687) (103.221) (89211) (14,073)
(116259)  (116,130) (116,304) (141,563)  (141,733) (22,358)
(248,803)  (292,259) (262,640) (357,508) (350,440) (55,281)
(171,863)  (202,028) (171,044) (252,129)  (262,860) (41,465)
787 681 958 1,031 1,832 289

(510) (565) (367) 94) 119 19

118 433 20 372) 298 47
57 (560) 380 (731) (777) (123)
(171,411) (202,039) (170,053) (252,295) (261,388) (41,233)
— (1,626) (424) 1,151 — —
(171,411)  (203,665) (170,477) (251,144) (261,388) (41,233)
(171411)  (203,665) (170,477) (51,144)  (261,388) (41233)
(171,411) (203,665) (170,477) (251,144) (261,388) (41,233)
(1.65) (1.96) (1.64) (2.40) (2.50) (0.39)
(1.65) (1.96) (1.64) (2.40) (2.50) 0.39)
86,721,263 86,764,260 86,908,975 87,128,297 87,179,752 87,179,752
17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848 17,324,848
14,080 (34,980) 6,146 (24,726) (3,065) (483)
(157,331)  (238,645) (164,331) (275,870)  (264,453) (41,716)
(157,331)  (238,645) (164,331) (275,870)  (264,453) (41,716)

A2-6



ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Contract assets, net
Inventories, net
Prepayments and other current assets, net
Total current assets
Non-current assets:

Equity method investment
Property and equipment, net
Operating right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net

Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands)
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As of
December March

31, March 31, 31,

2021 2022 2022

RMB RMB US$
1,431,317 1,265,792 199,674
7,795 9,083 1,433
63,757 63,482 10,014
92,197 103,616 16,345
42,391 43,923 6,928
123,210 130,175 20,535
60,279 69,331 10,937
1,820,946 1,685,402 265,866
910 773 122
325,438 322,171 50,821
81,007 72,501 11,437
5,150 4,246 669
45,136 22,703 3,581
457,641 422,394 66,630
2,278,587 2,107,796 332,496




Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Deferred revenue

Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities
Customer deposits

Short-term borrowing

Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities:

Non-current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity:

Class A ordinary shares

Class B ordinary shares

Treasury stock

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficits

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Burning Rock Biotech Limited

(in thousands)
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As of
December 31, March 31, March 31,
2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB USS$

63,080 97,892 15,442
142,871 159,148 25,105
127,892 104,092 16,420

972 972 153
2,370 2,370 374
34,999 35,298 5,568

372,184 399,772 63,062

49,316 39,811 6,280
11,776 13,636 2,151
61,092 53,447 8,431
433,276 453,219 71,493

116 116 19
21 21 3
— (3.258) (514)

4280956 4357933 687447
(2.228,713) (2,490,101)  (392,804)
(207,069)  (210,134)  (33,148)
1,845311 1,654,577 261,003
2,278,587 2,107,796 332,496




Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Unaudited Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

For the three months ended

March 31, March 31, March 31,
2021 2022 2022
RMB RMB USS$
Net cash used in operating activities (113,145)  (144,361) (22,772)
Net cash generated from (used in) investing activities 288,329 (13,011) (2,050)
Net cash used in financing activities (4,162) (3,934) (621)
Effect of exchange rate on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 16,658 (2,931) (464)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 187,680 (164,237) (25,907)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of period 1,925,206 1,439,112 227,014
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of period 2,112,886 1,274,875 201,107
Burning Rock Biotech Limited
Reconciliations of GAAP and Non-GAAP Results
For the three months ended
March September December March
31, June 30, 30, 31, 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2022
(RMB in thousands)
Gross profit 76,940 90,231 91,596 105,379 87,580
Add: depreciation and amortization 206 437 1,382 1,981 5,139
Non-GAAP gross profit 77,146 90,668 92,978 107,360 92,719
Total revenues 106,623 127,279 126,615 147,345 135,524
Gross margin 72.2% 70.9% 72.3% 71.5% 64.6%
Non-GAAP gross margin 72.4% 71.2% 73.4% 72.9% 68.4%
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CONVENTIONS THAT APPLY TO THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 20-F

Unless otherwise indicated and except where the context otherwise requires, references in this annual report on Form 20-F to:

“ADSs” refer to American depositary shares, each of which represents one Class A ordinary share;

3 2«
>

“Burning Rock,” “we,” “us,” “our company” and “our” refer to Burning Rock Biotech Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company, and
its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities;

“China” or “the PRC” refers to the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report only, Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan;

“liquid biopsy” refers to a test done on a blood sample that enables the access to the molecular information, by looking for cancer cells
from a tumor that are circulating in the blood or for pieces of DNA from tumor cells that are in the blood, throughout all stages of cancer;

“NGS?” refers to next-generation sequencing, a DNA sequencing technology used to determine the nucleotide sequence of an individual’s
genome;

“RMB” or “Renminbi” refers to the legal currency of China;

“sensitivity” refers to the percentage of people who test positive for a specific disease or condition among people who actually have the
disease or condition;

“shares” or “ordinary shares” refer to our Class A and Class B ordinary shares, par value US$0.0002 per share;

“specificity” refers to the percentage of people who test negative for a specific disease or condition among people who do not have the
disease or condition;

“U.S. GAAP” refers to accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.; and
“US$,” “U.S. dollars,” “$,” and “dollars” refer to the legal currency of the U.S.

Our reporting currency is the Renminbi. This annual report also contains translations of certain foreign currency amounts into U.S. dollars for the
convenience of the reader. Unless otherwise stated, all translations from Renminbi to U.S. dollars were made at a rate of RMB6.3726 to US$1.00, the
exchange rate set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System on December 31, 2021. We make no
representation that any Renminbi or U.S. dollar amounts referred to in this annual report could have been or could be converted into U.S. dollars or
Renminbi, as the case may be, at any particular rate, or at all. On April 22, 2022, the exchange rate set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Federal
Reserve Board was RMB6.5010 to US$1.00.

All of our share related numbers contained in this annual report, including but not limited to the numbers of authorized, issued and outstanding
shares, have retroactively reflected the 2-for-1 reverse share split that we effected in January 2020.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 20-F contains statements of a forward-looking nature. All statements other than statements of current or historical
facts are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made under the “safe harbor” provision under Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially
different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

2 &« » « 2 & 2 s

You can identify these forward-looking statements by words or phrases such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “aim,” “estimate,” “intend,”
“plan,” “believe,” “likely to” or other similar expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and
projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and
financial needs. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

. our mission and strategies;
. trends and competition in China’s cancer genotyping industry;
. our expectations regarding demand for and market acceptance of our cancer therapy selection products and services and our ability to

expand our customer base;

. our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protections for our cancer therapy selection technologies and our continued research
and development to keep pace with technology developments;

. our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals from the NMPA, the NCCL and have our laboratory certified or accredited by
authorities including the CLIA and the CAP;

. our future business development, financial condition and results of operations;

. our ability to obtain financing cost-effectively;

. potential changes of government regulations, regardless of whether they are directly related to our industry;

. our ability to hire and maintain key personnel;

. our relationship with our major business partners and customers; and

. general economic and business conditions in China and elsewhere.

You should read these statements in conjunction with the risks disclosed in “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors” of this annual report and
other risks outlined in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. Moreover, we operate in an emerging and evolving
environment. New risks may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of
such risks on our business or the extent to which any risk, or combination of risks, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in
any forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements made in this annual report relate only to events or information as of the date on which
the statements are made in this annual report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances after the date on which the statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. You should read this annual
report and the documents that we have referred to in this annual report, completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be
materially different from what we expect.
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PART1

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
Risks Associated with Being Based in or Having the Majority of the Operations in China

As we mainly conduct our business in China, we may be subject to PRC laws relating to, among others, data security and restrictions over foreign
investments in scientific research and technical services and other industry sectors set out in the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the
Access of Foreign Investment (2021 Edition), or the Negative List (2021 Edition). Specifically, we may be subject to PRC laws relating to the
collection, use, sharing, retention security, and transfer of confidential and private information, such as personal information and other data. These PRC
laws apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information between us and our wholly foreign-owned enterprises in China, and
other parties with which we have commercial relations. These PRC laws and their interpretations and enforcement continue to develop and are subject to
change, and the PRC government may adopt other rules and restrictions in the future.

We are exposed to legal and operational risks associated with our operations in China. The PRC government has significant authority to exert
influence on the ability of a company with operations in China, including us, to conduct its business. Changes in China’s economic, political or social
conditions or government policies could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. We are subject to risks due to the
uncertainty of the interpretation and the application of the PRC laws and regulations, including but not limited to the risks of uncertainty about any
future actions of the PRC government on U.S. listed companies. We may also be subject to sanctions imposed by PRC regulatory agencies, including
CSRC, if we fail to comply with their rules and regulations. Any actions by the PRC government to exert more oversight and control over offerings that
are conducted overseas and/or foreign investment in companies having operations in China, including us, could significantly limit or completely hinder
our ability to offer or continue to offer securities to investors, and cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless. These
China-related risks could result in a material change in our operations and/or the value of our securities, or could significantly limit or completely hinder
our ability to offer securities to investors in the future and cause the value of such securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

The PRC government may exert, at any time, substantial intervention and influence over the manner of our operations. Recently, the PRC
government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to regulate business operations in China with little advance notice, including cracking
down on illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over China-based companies listed overseas, adopting new measures to extend
the scope of cybersecurity reviews and new laws and regulations related to data security, and expanding the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement. In
December 2021, the CAC promulgated the amended Measures of Cybersecurity Review which require cyberspace operators with personal information
of more than one million users to file for cybersecurity review with the CRO, in the event such operators plan for an overseas listing. The amended
Measures of Cybersecurity Review provide that, among others, an application for cybersecurity review must be made by an issuer that is a “network
platform operator” as defined therein before such issuer’s securities become listed in a foreign country, if the issuer possesses personal information of
more than one million users, and that the relevant governmental authorities in the PRC may initiate cybersecurity review if such governmental
authorities determine an operator’s cyber products or services or data processing activities affect or may affect China’s national security. The amended
Measures of Cybersecurity Review took effect on February 15, 2022.
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Under the current PRC cybersecurity laws in China, critical information infrastructure operators that intend to purchase internet products and
services that may affect national security must be subject to the cybersecurity review. On July 30, 2021, the State Council of the PRC promulgated the
Regulations on the Protection of the Security of Critical Information Infrastructure, which took effect on September 1, 2021. The regulations require,
among others, that certain competent authorities shall identify critical information infrastructures. If any critical information infrastructure is identified,
they shall promptly notify the relevant operators and the Ministry of Public Security.

Currently, the cybersecurity laws and regulations have not directly affected our business and operations, but in anticipation of the strengthened
implementation of cybersecurity laws and regulations and the expansion of our business, we face potential risks if we are deemed as a critical
information infrastructure operator under the Cybersecurity Law. In such case, we must fulfill certain obligations as required under the Cybersecurity
Law and other applicable laws, including, among others, storing personal information and important data collected and produced within the PRC
territory during our operations in China, which we are already doing in our business, and we may be subject to review when purchasing internet
products and services. As the amended Measures of Cybersecurity Review took effect in February 2022, we may be subject to review when conducting
data processing activities, and may face challenges in addressing its requirements and make necessary changes to our internal policies and practices in
data processing. As of the date of this annual report, we have not been involved in any investigations on cybersecurity review made by the CAC on such
basis, and we have not received any inquiry, notice, warning, or sanctions in such respect. Based on the foregoing, we and our PRC legal counsel, Tian
Yuan Law Firm, do not expect that, as of the date of this annual report, the current applicable PRC laws on cybersecurity would have a material adverse
impact on our business.

On September 1, 2021, the PRC Data Security Law became effective, which imposes data security and privacy obligations on entities and
individuals conducting data-related activities, and introduces a data classification and hierarchical protection system based on the importance of data in
economic and social development, as well as the degree of harm it will cause to national security, public interests, or legitimate rights and interests of
individuals or organizations when such data is tampered with, destroyed, leaked, or illegally acquired or used. As of the date of this annual report, we
have not been involved in any investigations on data security compliance made in connection with the PRC Data Security Law, and we have not
received any inquiry, notice, warning, or sanctions in such respect. Based on the foregoing, we do not expect that, as of the date of this annual report, the
PRC Data Security Law would have a material adverse impact on our business.

On July 6, 2021, the relevant PRC governmental authorities published the Opinions on Strictly Cracking Down Illegal Securities Activities in
Accordance with the Law. These opinions emphasized the need to strengthen the administration over illegal securities activities and the supervision on
overseas listings by China-based companies and proposed to take effective measures, such as promoting the construction of relevant regulatory systems
to deal with the risks and incidents faced by China-based overseas-listed companies. As these opinions were recently issued, official guidance and
related implementation rules have not been issued yet and the interpretation of these opinions remains unclear at this stage. As of the date of this annual
report, we have not received any inquiry, notice, warning, or sanctions from the CSRC or any other PRC government authorities. Based on the foregoing
and the currently effective PRC laws, we and our PRC legal counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, are of the view that, as of the date of this annual report, these
opinions do not have a material adverse impact on our business.
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On December 24, 2021, the CSRC published the Provisions of the State Council on the Administration of Overseas Securities Offering and
Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments), and Administrative Measures for the Filing of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by
Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments), or, collectively, the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations, which set out the new regulatory requirements and
filing procedures for Chinese companies seeking direct or indirect listing in overseas markets. The Draft Overseas Listing Regulations, among others,
stipulate that Chinese companies that seek to offer and list securities in overseas markets shall fulfill the filing procedures with and report relevant
information to the CSRC, and that an initial filing shall be submitted within three working days after the application for an initial public offering in an
overseas market is submitted, and a second filing shall be submitted within three working days after the listing is completed. Moreover, an overseas
offering and listing is prohibited under circumstances if (i) it is prohibited by PRC laws, (ii) it may constitute a threat to or endanger national security as
reviewed and determined by competent PRC authorities, (iii) it has material ownership disputes over equity, major assets, and core technology, (iv) in
the past three years, the Chinese operating entities and their controlling shareholders and actual controllers have committed relevant prescribed criminal
offenses or are currently under investigations for suspicion of criminal offenses or major violations, (v) the directors, supervisors, or senior executives
have been subject to administrative punishment for severe violations, or are currently under investigations for suspicion of criminal offenses or major
violations, or (vi) it has other circumstances as prescribed by the State Council. The Draft Overseas Listing Regulations, among others, stipulate that
when determining whether an offering and listing shall be deemed as “an indirect overseas offering and listing by a Chinese company”, the principle of
“substance over form” shall be followed, and if the issuer meets the following conditions, its offering and listing shall be determined as an “indirect
overseas offering and listing by a Chinese company” and is therefore subject to the filing requirement: (i) the revenues, profits, total assets or net assets
of the Chinese operating entities in the most recent financial year accounts for more than 50% of the corresponding data in the issuer’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the same period; and (ii) the majority of senior management in charge of business operation are Chinese citizens or
have domicile in PRC, and its principal place of business is located in PRC or main business activities are conducted in PRC. As advised by our PRC
legal counsel, the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations were released only for soliciting public comment at this stage and their provisions and anticipated
adoption or effective date are subject to changes, and thus their interpretation and implementation remain substantially uncertain. It is uncertain whether
the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations apply to the follow-on offerings or other offerings of the Chinese companies that have been listed overseas,
including us. We cannot predict the impact of the Draft Overseas Listing Regulations on us at this stage.

Since these statements and regulatory actions are new, it is highly uncertain how soon legislative or administrative regulation making bodies will
respond and what existing or new laws or regulations or detailed implementations and interpretations will be modified or promulgated, if any, and the
potential impact such modified or new laws and regulations will have on our daily business operation, our ability to accept foreign investments and
conduct follow-on offerings, and listing or continuing listing on a U.S. or other foreign exchanges. In addition, the PRC government has recently
published new policies that significantly affected certain industries such as the education and internet industries, and we cannot rule out the possibility
that it will in the future release regulations or policies regarding any other industry including the industry in which we operate, which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Associated with Our Corporate Structure

Burning Rock Biotech Limited, our ultimate Cayman Islands holding company, does not have any substantive operations other than directly
controlling Beijing Burning Rock Biotech Limited, our wholly foreign owned entity, or WFOE, and indirectly Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotechnology
Co., Ltd., the variable interest entity, or VIE, through certain contractual arrangements. These contractual arrangements were amended and restated in
October 2019. See “Item 4. Information on the Company—C. Organizational Structure—Contractual Arrangements.” What the ADSs investors
purchased are equity securities of our ultimate Cayman Islands holding company rather than equity securities of the VIEs. We conduct our business
operations through both our consolidated subsidiaries and the VIEs, which we effectively control through certain contractual arrangements. We, together
with the VIEs, are subject to PRC laws relating to, among others, restrictions over foreign investments in distribution of online information and other
value-added telecommunication services set out in the Negative List (2021 Edition) promulgated by the Ministry of Commerce, or MOFCOM, and the
National Development and Reform Commission, or NDRC. As a result, we have control over the VIEs through contractual arrangements. The VIE
structure is used to replicate foreign investment in China-based companies where the PRC law prohibits direct foreign investment in the operating
companies. Neither we nor our subsidiaries own any share in the VIEs. Instead, we control and receive the economic benefits of the VIEs’ business
operation through a series of contractual agreements with the VIEs. The contractual agreements with the VIEs are designed to provide the WFOE with
the power, rights, and obligations equivalent in all material respects to those it would possess as the principal equity holder of the VIEs, including
absolute control rights and the rights to the assets, property, and revenue of the VIEs. As a result of our direct ownership in the WFOE and the
contractual agreements with the VIEs, we are regarded as the primary beneficiary of the VIEs. Because of our corporate structure, we are subject to risks
due to uncertainty of the interpretation and the application of the PRC laws and regulations, including but not limited to limitation on foreign ownership
of internet technology companies, and regulatory review of oversea listing of PRC companies through a special purpose vehicle, and the validity and
enforcement of the contractual agreements. We are also subject to the risks of uncertainty about any future actions of the PRC government in this regard.
Our contractual agreements may not be effective in providing control over the VIEs. We may also subject to sanctions imposed by PRC regulatory
agencies including CSRC if we fail to comply with their rules and regulations.
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We and the VIEs face various legal and operational risks and uncertainties related to being based in and having significant operations in China.
The PRC government has significant authority to exert influence on the ability of a China-based company, such as us and the VIEs, to conduct its
business, accept foreign investments or list on U.S. or other foreign exchanges. For example, we and the VIEs face risks associated with regulatory
approvals of offshore offerings, oversight on cybersecurity and data privacy. Such risks could result in a material change in our operations and/or the
value of the ADSs or could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer ADSs and/or other securities to investors and cause the value of
such securities to significantly decline or be worthless. The PRC government also has significant discretion over the conduct of the business of us and
the VIEs and may intervene with or influence our operations as it deems appropriate to further regulatory, political and societal goals. Furthermore, the
PRC government has recently indicated an intent to exert more oversight and control over overseas securities offerings and foreign investment in
China-based companies like us. Any such action, once taken by the PRC government, could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer
securities to investors and cause the value of such securities to significantly decline or in extreme cases, become worthless.
As used in this annual report, “we,” “us,” “our company,” “our,” or “the Company” refers to Burning Rock Biotech Limited and its subsidiaries,
“the VIE” refers to our PRC variable interest entity, Burning Rock (Beijing) Biotechnology Co. Ltd. and “the VIEs” refers to the VIE and its
subsidiaries.

For more information on risks related to our corporate structure, see “—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure.” For more
information on the requisite permissions and approvals for our business and the consequences in relation to failure to obtain the same, see “—D. Risk
Factors—Risks Relating to Government Regulations.”

Permissions Required from the PRC Authorities

We conduct our business in China primarily through our subsidiaries in China and the VIEs. Our and the VIEs’ operations in China are governed
by PRC laws and regulations. Save as otherwise disclosed in “—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Government Regulations”, as of the date of this
annual report, our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs have obtained the requisite licenses and permits from the PRC government authorities that are material
for their business operations in China. If we or the VIEs fail to obtain or maintain such licenses or permits, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities
would have broad discretion in dealing with such violations or failures, including imposing fines, confiscating our incomes and products that are deemed
to have been obtained through illegal operations, and discontinuing or restricting our operations. As of the date of this annual report, neither we nor the
VIEs have been subject to any penalties from the relevant authorities for failure to obtain or maintain any required licenses or permits. Given the
uncertainties of interpretation and implementation of relevant laws and regulations and the enforcement practice by government authorities, we cannot
assure you that we are able to maintain our existing licenses and permits or obtain additional licenses, permits, filings or approvals for providing our
products and services in the future. See “—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—We are subject to extensive legal and
regulatory requirements in China for our cancer therapy selection products and services. Any lack of requisite certificates, licenses or permits applicable
to our business may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.”

Risks Associated with the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act

The U.S. Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCA Act, was enacted into law on December 18, 2020. Under the HFCA Act, if
the SEC determines that we have filed audit reports issued by a registered public accounting firm that has not been subject to inspection by the PCAOB
for three consecutive years (